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Hansen

With a keen eye for innovation, accuracy, and reliability, Hansen Transmissions is a preferred supplier to the 

world’s leading wind turbine producers and users of high performance industrial applications. Supported 

by the dedication and talent of its global workforce, its sense for perfection, and its flavour for innovation, 

Hansen harvests nature’s most powerful energy source and as such guides the world towards a greener 

tomorrow and a sustainable future for generations to come.
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Key Figures

Summary income statement in million euro 2009 2008 2007 2006

Revenue 609 421 336 285

Gross profit 144 103 86 78

EBITDA1 94 61 52 47

EBITDA margin 15.4% 14.5% 15.5% 16.5%

Profit of the financial year 45 31 24 20

Total shares (in thousands)2  670,104 543,500 488,304 488,304

Total shares at year-end (in thousands)  670,104 670,104 488,304 488,304

Earnings per share basic – in euro3 0.067 0.058 0.050 0.040

Summary balance sheet 2009 2008 2007 2006

Total non-current assets 542 354 200 153

Total current assets 552 585 250 149

Total assets 1,093 938 450 302

Total non-current liabilities 303 229 170 72

Total current liabilities 206 162 118 91

Total liabilities 509 391 288 163

Total shareholders equity 584 547 162 139

Summary cash flow statement 2009 2008 2007 2006

Net cash from operating activities -36.2 53.8 -13.2 31.8

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities -209.5 -162.7 -59.6 -11.9

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities 46.7 397.3 81.9 -4.9

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents -199.1 288.3 9 15.1

1	 EBITDA: earnings before interest, tax, depreciation & amor tization

2	 Total shares: weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for share split per 27 November 2007; 1,250 new shares for 1 existing share

3	 Earnings per share: Basic EPS: Prof it for the year divided by weighted average number of ordinary shares

Reconciliation of operating profit to EBITDA in million euro 2009 2008 2007 2006

Operating profit 63.9 42.3 39.9 35.3

Add back amortization and depreciation charges 29.8 18.8 12.9 11.8

EBITDA 93.7 61.1 51.9 47.1
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EBITDA

in million euro

47 52 61 94

2006 2007 2008 2009

Net Profit

in million euro

20 24 31 45

2006 2007 2008 2009

MW sold

3480 3796 4208 5956

2006 2007 2008 2009

Revenue

in million euro

285 336 421 609

2006 2007 2008 2009
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Hansen in Brief

Hansen Transmissions International NV is an established 

global wind turbine gearbox and industrial gearbox designer, 

manufacturer and supplier, with a leading position in the wind 

turbine gearbox market. The Company supplies gearboxes 

to four of the five largest manufacturers of gear-driven wind 

turbines globally and provides durable gear drives for a wide 

range of industrial applications throughout the world. 

Hansen is in the process of increasing its wind turbine 

gearbox manufacturing capabilities, from 3,800 MW 

per annum in the financial year 2007 to 14,300 MW, by 

financial year 2013. In addition to its principal manufacturing 

facilities in Belgium – comprising a wind turbine and 

industrial gearbox plant in Edegem (Antwerp) and a fully 

integrated state-of-the-ar t dedicated wind turbine gearbox 

manufacturing facility in Lommel (Limburg) – Hansen has a 

95,000m² production plant for wind turbine gearboxes in 

Coimbatore, India and star ted the construction, in September 

2008, of a production plant for wind turbine gearboxes for 

the Chinese market on a 250,000m² site in the Beichen 

Hi-tech Industrial park in Tianjin. 

Hansen has strong research and development operations to 

maintain its technological leadership and employs over 2,400 

people worldwide. 

Human Capital

Hansen Transmissions aims to be an employer of choice. Our 

core values are:

•	 Teamwork

Hansen’s employees believe that the value of a team 

outweighs the sum of its par ts or a team is greater than 

the individual contributions of its members. We work 

together with others to reach the team’s goals, sharing 

information and suppor ting our colleagues… at all levels.

•	 Goal orientation

We align our actions and decisions to achieve the desired 

results. We define clear objectives for ourselves.

Customer satisfaction is a priority: keeping our promises to 

customers is a key value for Hansen.

•	 Integrity

We maintain strong social and ethical standards at 

all times. We seek to create confidence in our own 

professionalism. Loyalty to our principles – ‘we do as 

we say’ – is uppermost in our relations with colleagues, 

customers, suppliers, neighbours and other stakeholders.

•	 Courage

We encourage people to have their own opinions. We are 

always open-minded and suppor t creative thinking when

taking decisions, looking for solutions, and searching for 

new customers and products.

•	 Well being

Dynamism, enjoyment, energy, health, security and 

respect for the environment are all key values at Hansen

Transmissions.

Hansen in Brief
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“With thirty years experience of producing gearboxes for 
wind turbines, and over eighty years experience of producing 
other industrial gearboxes, Hansen has an impressive history 

of innovation and investment in R&D and will continue to work 
to stay at the forefront of the industry.”

Tulsi R. Tanti, Chairman
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Chairman’s Message

Wind Industry has a bright future

Wind energy has had an excellent year in 2008; installing 

over 28 GW in just twelve months. This ranks wind energy 

among the largest new sources of energy installed last year. 

This success was no accident. The fundamental need of 

energy, ever increasing per capita energy demand, depleting 

fossil fuel sources, the need to secure energy sources 

against volatile supply & prices, and increasing global ef for ts 

on climate change are leading up to it. With more and 

more Governments, including the USA, suppor ting higher 

renewable targets by 2020 along the lines of Europe, medium 

and long-term fundamentals of the wind industry remain 

strong. 

The current global f inancial crisis has undoubtedly caused a 

temporary dent in credit lines, which led to delays in some 

renewable energy projects. This has had a ripple ef fect on 

the entire supply chain – from wind turbine manufacturers to 

component suppliers. This scenario, in my view is temporary 

and with the strong medium and long term push for wind and 

renewables, I have no doubt that the industry is rock solid 

with a very bright future. 

The component businesses are well positioned to benefit 

from the enduring growth in wind and industrial businesses. 

With steady growth, component suppliers can plan to add 

capacity, increase por t folio sizes, secure ef ficient and 

cost ef fective supplies, continue to focus on technological 

innovations and draw on scale and experience benefits. 

Of these components, the gearbox is at hear t of a wind 

turbine and it is one of the most complex components, 

adapted with precision to the needs of each customer. It is 

also a component with a long lifetime. This requirement for 

complex and precise equipment combined with the market 

trend towards multi-megawatt gearboxes, augurs well for 

established players with a demonstrated track record.

Hansen – A leader in Wind and Industrial Gearboxes

Hansen is amongst the top players in the gearbox sector 

and enjoys a leading position in the multi-megawatt space. 

With thir ty years experience of producing gearboxes for wind 

turbines, and over eighty years experience of producing other 

industrial gearboxes, Hansen has an impressive history of 

innovation and investment in R&D and will continue to work to 

stay at the forefront of the industry.

Hansen’s strong growth in the last f inancial year is the result 

of the successful expansion of our Lommel plant in Belgium, 

increasing capacity nearly threefold compared to capacity 

in 2006. We have developed new gearboxes for turbines up 

to 6 MW. In the industrial division Hansen has posted strong 

results with 15% growth, thanks to the focus on high-end 

applications and an international presence with sales and 

service.

The US and Europe remain impor tant markets for the wind 

division, while the Asian market will continue to grow. The 

capacity expansion projects in India and China will fur ther 
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enhance our position as the leading global player in the 

multi-megawatt segment, while ensuring benefits of low cost 

manufacturing and sourcing. This will fur ther benefit our 

customers’ business in terms of availability and proximity to 

their supply chain. Managing the investment projects in time, 

within budgets and successfully rolling out new gearboxes 

from these two facilities, is a testament of the collective ef for t 

and the broad based management strength of Hansen.

Hansen’s business model lends itself to creating a positive 

social and economic impact. Every gearbox that we produce 

helps to reduce emissions. Every gearbox that goes in a wind 

turbine indirectly helps in providing employment oppor tunities 

and contributes in the social development in areas where the 

turbines are installed. Fur ther, through its aggressive growth, 

Hansen has created over 1,200 new jobs over the last three 

years across 8 countries.

We can look forward to the coming years from a position 

of strength with strong corporate governance, enduring 

client relationships, a great management team and a 

committed workforce with high work ethics, complimented 

by our technology advantage, a growing cost advantage 

and globalization. I am positive that Hansen will continue 

to deliver strong financial results, while contributing to a 

socio-economic and ecologically sustainable development. 

We remain committed to all of our stakeholders to balance 

current macro-economic conditions with long term focus. 

We look forward to a promising future for all our stakeholders! 

 

Tulsi R. Tanti

Chairman

 
Interior view of Hansen’s dedicated wind turbine gearbox plant in Coimbatore – India. First gearbox delivered in September 2008.
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“We are becoming a truly global operator now,  
with a local competitive advantage in India and China  

as well as in Europe.”
Ivan Brems, Chief Executive Officer
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Another year of milestones

Hansen delivered a strong and resil ient per formance  

in the f inancial year 2009. Despite a rapidly changing 

macro-economic backdrop, the Company has achieved 

robust growth in turnover of 45% and delivered on its 

outlined objectives of fur ther development in a safe and 

sustainable way. 

2008 was another year of milestones for Hansen. In the 

year of our 85th anniversary we delivered the 20,000th wind 

turbine gearbox from our state-of-the-ar t plant in Lommel, 

Belgium. At this site, the factory expansion programme was 

completed at the star t of the financial year, which enabled 

us to almost tr iple the sales of wind turbine gearboxes, 

compared to 2006.

In India, where the construction of the wind turbine gearbox 

plant in Coimbatore made excellent progress, Hansen delivered 

the first gearbox in September 2008. The operations in India 

continue to advance well.

In China, 2008 saw the ground breaking ceremony for our new 

wind turbine gearbox production facility in Tianjin, and the first 

gearbox was delivered in March 2009. 

With 15% growth in turnover, the industrial gearbox activities 

achieved an excellent result, driven by the continued focus to 

provide high quality, high performance drive solutions to a wide 

range of industrial customers worldwide.

Corporate Responsibility

On a company-wide level, we have reinforced our 

commitment to Corporate Responsibility (CR) by introducing a 

CR policy which will be rolled out as from 2009. Hansen has 

long been characterized by the values and qualities that CR 

represents and we have now put in place the processes to 

begin repor ting annually on our CR progress.

Our commitment to sustainability is fur ther demonstrated 

by the awarding of international environmental and social 

management – ISO 14001 and SA8000 – cer tif ications to 

our Lommel plant in 2008. It is our objective to apply these 

standards to all our facilities over time.

Market conditions

Hansen has a realistic appreciation of the unprecedented 

macro-economic conditions created by the global f inancial 

crisis and the resulting impact on the wind industry. We 

react to the challenging sector dynamics, with an ef fective 

capacity expansion programme, focusing on aligned capacity 

expansion and costs, which will create value for Hansen and 

its stakeholders. 

We want to ensure that Hansen can compete and thrive 

through every par t of the economic cycle, something that the 

Company has managed ef fectively in its long history. Despite 

the inevitable challenges ahead, we are confident that the 

Company has the momentum and the flexibility required to 

Message of the CEO

Message of the CEO
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weather the storm and achieve successes on the shor t, 

medium and long term.

2009 – Driving sustainable growth in uncertain times

Hansen’s wind turbine gearboxes represent high quality 

products for the wind energy value chain. This gives us a 

strong position to continue setting challenging objectives and 

grow our market share. In addition, we are becoming a truly 

global operator now, with a local competitive advantage in 

India and China as well as in Europe. 

We believe the global market place is the future and Hansen 

has the geographic spread to take full advantage of this. 

The current crisis also represents an oppor tunity for Hansen 

– we are surrounded by a talented pool of people with the 

energy and drive to take the Company forward successfully. 

In a challenging environment, Hansen is able to per form 

with rigor and to capture new growth. It has always been 

our policy to work in tandem with our customers and in the 

current macro-economic situation, now more than ever, we 

will be there to help our customers to meet their needs and 

deal with the challenges ahead. 

We believe the new US Administration and its positive plans 

for renewable energy expansion will be a catalyst for our 

business and we continue to evaluate how to best capture 

the potential oppor tunities for Hansen.

Hansen’s strategy remains solid – to build on our success to 

date through the global expansion of our operations, while 

maintaining commitment to high quality products. Through our 

strategic commitment to innovation, R&D, reliability, people 

and customer satisfaction we will continue to thrive. We will 

maintain our focus on ef ficiency, productivity and margin 

enhancement and we firmly believe the long term sector 

dynamics are very favourable.

Our strategy and per formance have delivered sustained high 

earnings growth, as intended, and we have confidence in 

Hansen’s future. Amid the current economic situation, Hansen 

has the financial strength to realize a bright and positive 

future, bringing value to all our stakeholders. 

This is a reflection of the many individual contributions of the 

full Hansen team. Their skills and ambition are the foundation 

of Hansen’s strengths, and I would like to thank them for all 

they have achieved over the year.

 

 

 

 

 

Ivan Brems 

Chief Executive Officer

Hansen Transmissions International NV
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Wind Turbine Gearbox activities
Stronger Than Wind

Our mission

“We develop and manufacture products and services which 

provide optimum geared drive train solutions, reducing the 

kWh cost of renewable energy.” 

Our vision

“Stronger than wind. Reliable – available – smar t.” 

Product strategy

As one of the world leaders in the development and 

production of high precision and high per formance gearboxes 

for capturing wind energy, Hansen aims to establish mutually 

rewarding interactive par tnerships with clients and end users, 

embracing design, manufacturing and customer services. 

Financial year 2009 Milestones 

•	 Apr 2008 	 Awarded ISO 14001 Cer tif ication, 

international environment cer tif icate 

•	 Jun 2008 	 Inauguration of Belgian factory extension 

and delivery of 20.000th gearbox 

•	 Sep 2008	 Introduction of 13.2 MW dynamic test facility 

in Belgium 

•	 Sep 2008	 Delivery of f irst gearbox from new plant in India

•	 Mar 2009	 Delivery of first gearbox from new plant in China

Strong growth: platform for future global expansion

Hansen is one of the world’s leading manufacturers of 

gearboxes for modern gear-driven wind turbines. These 

highly critical components conver t the high torque and 

slow motion of the rotating blades to the lower torque and 

Business and Organization

Wind Turbine Gearboxes Sales

in million euro

163 221 267 339 515

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
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higher speed required to drive an electric generator. The 

design and manufacture of wind turbine gearboxes requires 

extensive know-how and highly specialized manufacturing 

capabilities. During the past year, the wind energy market 

has experienced significant growth in volume, capacity and 

geographic spread. Building on its strong market position and 

commitment to invest in capacity, Hansen was able to take 

advantage of the positive market conditions to grow its wind 

gearbox business by 52% in the financial year 2009.

In order to continue to provide high quality products for 

the international wind market, Hansen’s key focus is on 

manufacturing excellence, total reliability, technological 

innovation and global expansion.

This year’s significant milestones were the completion and 

inauguration of the extended factory in Lommel, Belgium, 

the commencement of one of the world’s largest (13.2 MW) 

dynamic test facilities, receiving full ISO 14001 accreditation, 

and the opening of a manufacturing facility in India and an 

assembly facility in China.

Manufacturing excellence:  

combining skill and precision

Producing multi-megawatt gearboxes ef ficiently in serial 

production, with a consistent high level of quality and 

reliability, requires excellence in manufacturing, logistics, 

assembly and testing. Wind turbines have become more 

power ful during the last decade, moving from kilowatt 

products, with a typical gearbox weight of 3-5 tonnes, to 

large multi-megawatt gearboxes weighing 15-50 tonnes 

and more. In order to serve the worldwide multi-megawatt 

market and deliver these products with high precision and 

consistent quality, Hansen continues to invest in research and 

development and geographical expansion, which are factors 

essential to the Company’s success.

Hansen invests in its core activities such as heat treatment, 

gear grinding and housing machining in order to ensure 

that all critical activities are per formed in-house, allowing 

Hansen to have full control over quality to meet its customers’ 

requirements.

It is Hansen’s ability to perform these essential manufacturing 

and support activities in-house, using dedicated and fully 

integrated production facilities, and building on more than 85 

years of experience including 30 years in wind energy. This 

enables the Company to supply the world’s leading turbine 

manufacturers. Hansen is proud to have four of the world’s top 

five companies in the gear-driven market segment as customers. 

In June 2008, a 180 million euro expansion project was 

completed at Hansen’s factory in Lommel, Belgium, which 

is fully dedicated to large wind turbine gearboxes. The 

expanded factory now has a manufacturing capacity of 6,000 

MW per annum, compared to a capacity of 2,200 MW in 

2006, the year the expansion project began.

In June 2008, Hansen’s Lommel factory was awarded the 

ISO 14001 cer tif ication, in recognition of the Company’s 

environmental management system. This system has been 

structured to achieve a reduction in energy consumption, and 

establishes a range of environmentally responsible processes 

for materials and waste.

Total reliability:  

maximum return on investment

Investment in wind power needs to go hand in hand with 

reliability in order to ensure the required return on investment. 

Hansen’s products offer this reliability based on a combination 

of low lifetime cost, high availability and minimum downtime. 

Hansen wind turbine gearboxes are optimized for low weight 

and compact size, without compromising performance, resulting 

in cost-effective designs with high reliability. Up-time and 

availability of spare parts is a crucial requirement to ensure total 

reliability. To increase the reliability of its products even further, 

Hansen’s wind turbine gearbox division is increasing its offering 

in the areas of spare parts, gearboxes and on-site support by 

the establishment of a dedicated aftermarket service unit.
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Technological innovation:  

delivering customer solutions

In the financial year 2009, Hansen has invested 13.3 million 

euro in research and development, with a continued focus on 

developing the cost competitive products the market requires.

The trend towards larger and more power ful turbines in 

recent years has led to the development of larger and 

more power ful wind turbine gearboxes with increased 

capacity. Working in close cooperation with its customers, 

of ten co-developing and co-designing, Hansen continues 

to develop larger and more integrated gearboxes with 

customized features. At the hear t of its newly established 

test centre is one of the world’s largest dynamic test r igs 

with a capacity of 13.2 MW, capable of carrying out Highly 

Accelerated Life Testing (HALT), on gearboxes for the largest 

turbines designed to date.

Hansen’s current wind turbine gearboxes are tailor-made for 

multi-megawatt wind turbines in a power range of between 

1.5 and 4.5 MW. Alongside its current of fering, Hansen is 

developing gearboxes with a capacity of up to 6 MW.

Global expansion:  

growing beyond the European marketplace

Wind turbine manufacturers are increasingly looking for 

component manufacturers that of fer a global service to keep 

pace with today’s demand, and to better serve the market 

around the globe. Hansen is currently implementing an 

investment plan up to 2013 to establish two new factories 

in India and in China. Both plants are modelled on the tr ied 

and tested production facility in Lommel, Belgium, where 

the Company opened its f irst dedicated and integrated 

wind gearbox factory in 2004. In September 2008, Hansen 

delivered its f irst gearbox out of the factory in India; in China 

the f irst gearbox was delivered in March 2009.

These new facilit ies will enable the Company to build on 

its strong track record and existing customer relationships, 

creating new business oppor tunities to deliver cost-ef fective, 

high quality and innovative products, for global customers as 

well as locally based wind energy businesses. 

The future:  

focus on further expansion and service

In this rapidly growing market segment, Hansen continues to 

focus on developing innovative and highly reliable products, 

applying the necessary skills, resources and technologies. 

Hansen will continue to develop multi-megawatt products for 

both on-shore and of f-shore applications, to fur ther increase 

the standards of reliability and to expand its of fering to meet 

top-of-the-range service expectations.

By placing a continued emphasis on reliability, the Company 

is taking signif icant actions to continue to improve its service 

of fering, including the availability of spare par ts, repair, 

upgrade and new gear units as well as on-site assistance.

With Hansen’s state-of-the-ar t production facil i t ies around 

the globe and its unrivalled testing capabili t ies, the 

Company will set out to satisfy customer’s requirements 

building on its solid track record in the multi-megawatt wind 

turbine gearbox segment.
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Industrial Gearbox activities			 
In Gear For Your Success!

Our mission

“Driven by gear technology, Hansen’s industr ial gearbox 

activity wil l fulf i l l the needs of its global customer base 

by of fer ing them reliable mechanical power transmission 

solutions for demanding industr ial applications.”

Our vision 

“Applying its innovative gear technology, Hansen’s industr ial 

gearbox division is commit ted to become the premier 

par tner of fer ing mechanical power transmission solutions 

for demanding industr ial applications. As such, the business 

unit industry demonstrates clear product leadership and 

technical exper tise.”

Product strategy

I t is Hansen’s aim to fur ther expand and grow its 

industr ial gearbox division by making it operationally 

more independent including among others, its service 

depar tment, production facil i t ies and research & 

development.

Hansen’s product strategy for industr ial gearboxes is based 

on deliver ing functionally developed products for specif ically 

selected demanding applications and consists of excell ing 

in captur ing, recognizing and valuating new product ideas. 

While specializing in selected applications, Hansen aims at 

serving carefully chosen market segments with adequate 

product por t folio coverage. 

Hansen’s constant str iving to of fer sustainable value-added 

suppor t which customers and end users expect from a 

preferred supplier is also suppor ted by var ious internal “lean” 

projects that make the organization even more customer 

or iented. Expanding and integrating its worldwide of fer ing of 

services is therefore also crucial and ongoing.

A major trump card held by the industr ial gearbox division 

is the supply of complete dr ive packages. A global player 

with a one-stop-shop at titude and capable of of fer ing 

Turnover Industrial Gearbox Activity 

in million euro

48 64 69 82 94

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
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innovative high tech as well as complete dr ive solutions is 

what Hansen’s customers are looking for. The Company 

therefore established par tnerships with preferred suppliers 

for couplings, brakes and motors.

Product update 

Hansen has star ted the introduction of the Hansen M-Series 

of functional monobloc gearboxes. This introduction takes 

place following a phased plan that allows Hansen to br ing 

these gearboxes to market per application. Recently, the 

M-Series range for wet cooling tower dr ives has been 

successfully launched.

The Hansen M-Series for the OEM market is a new product 

range, based on the proven technology of Hansen’s 

P4 product l ine. The M-Series however incorporates 

pre-engineered options for the specif ic needs of the 

var ious applications, which improves engineering and 

order processing times considerably with higher levels 

of standardization. This results in shor ter delivery times 

compared to those for engineered solutions of the Hansen 

P4 range. 

Cater ing for specif ic application needs, the M-Series is 

predominantly suitable for the OEM market and provides 

functional application solutions at a competitive pr ice for 

demanding applications. 

The extension of the portfolio with Hansen M-Series monobloc 

gearboxes, being complementary to the Hansen P4 range, 

allows for identifying and developing more solutions and thus 

serving more market segments. 

Communication and close cooperation with its customers are 

key in developing practical quality solutions. Hansen’s goal 

is to fulfill the needs of its customer’s applications and the 

demands per market segment. Taking the demands of both 

market and application at heart allows Hansen to convert 

needs and requirements into reliable solutions. 

We care

Hansen recognizes the absolute necessity of offering excellent 

services globally. The service offered comprises the availability 

and swift supply of spare parts and/or direct support for repair 

work on site or in Hansen’s workshops. Next to its current 

offerings, Hansen Services for industrial gearboxes is also 

gearing up to offer preventive and predictive maintenance. 

Preventive maintenance with inspections on a fixed term basis 

and exchange of components, predictive maintenance with 

continuous sensor monitoring of oil temperature, vibration 

level, etc. Predictive maintenance enables the Company to 

give a trustworthy estimate of when to remove a gearbox from 

operation for minor repair before a problem is likely to occur, 

avoiding costly breakdowns and ensuring higher performance 

of the installation.

Wet Cooling towers	 17%	 |||||||||||||||||

Air Cooled Condensers	 15%	 |||||||||||||||

Mixers/Agitators	 11%	 |||||||||||

Conveyors	 10%	 ||||||||||

Hoists	 7%	 |||||||

Pumps	 7%	 |||||||

Aerators	 5%	 |||||

Mills	 5%	 |||||

Desolventors/Toasters	 3%	 |||

Pulpers	 3%	 |||

Winches	 2%	 ||

Miscellaneous	 15%	 |||||||||||||||

Business and Organization

Applications served worldwide (% of FY 2009 turnover of industrial gearboxes)
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Industrial Gearbox activity

Regional market updates

Europe

Hansen posted good results in the EU market during the 

last f inancial year based on increasing global demand of 

energy, especially for cooling towers and material handling. 

Because of high raw material prices during the year 2008, 

also the mineral and mining sector was strong. This resulted 

in extended business with customers present in material 

handling, mill, pump and mixing applications. In the second 

half of 2008, business was impacted by the weak overall 

economy. With the recent launch of the M-Series range of 

monobloc gearboxes and fur ther expansion of the activities of 

the services depar tment, Hansen of fers the ideal solutions fit 

for the customers’ needs. 

South Africa

Hansen South Africa won a number of large projects in the 

material handling (mining) and air cooled condenser business 

in the financial year 2009. Activity in the waste water treatment 

industry also increased as infrastructure is being geared up 

for the 2010 Soccer World Cup. Two air cooled condenser 

orders, 384 and 48 gearboxes respectively, led to the 

establishment of a Hansen M4 ACC gearbox assembly facility 

in South Africa with the first units shipped in February 2009.

US

In the North American market, the last 12 months’ activity 

was focused on energy, mining and processing applications. 

Commodity prices hit all time highs and export demand 

was very strong. Hansen’s Uniminer Gearbox sales for the 

underground conveyor drives profited from this trend. Also the 

Hansen P4 gearboxes for material handling in e.g. processing 

plants and several upgrades to conventional power plants 

have seen good levels. In the mineral processing industry, 

mixing solutions provided new business for Hansen. Also 

seed oil extraction business was strong and Hansen posted 

a banner year with one of the major customers. The focus on 

spares, repairs & service within the aftermarket business brings 

additional benefits to Hansen’s customers and positions the 

Company for profitable growth. 

Australia

The Australian industrial gearbox activity saw fur ther 

expansion in drive assemblies mainly for mining conveyor 

applications. During the year, Hansen completed deliveries 

of drive assemblies for gold mining with drives up to 2.8 MW 

and for a harbour terminal where drives were delivered 

ranging from 400 to 900 kW. Hansen Australia delivered 

also eight 1.3 MW drive assemblies and liquid star ters for 

the first phase of a significant mining project. Towards the 

end of the financial year Hansen Australia star ted supplying 

drive assemblies for another harbour terminal; 19 of which 

were supplied before April 2009 with a fur ther 20 drives 

during the next financial year. In addition, Hansen Australia 

completed engineering for the supply of seventeen 1.1 MW 

drive assemblies for an infrastructure group with deliveries 

commencing mid 2009. 

China

The Chinese, Tianjin-based assembly centre was able to 

increase order intake and sales in the financial year 2009. 

This good result is the culmination of close co-operation with 

key customer groups and key focus industries. In par ticular 

the energy industry requirement for dry cooling tower drives 

provided solid growth. Among the key milestones is the 

development of the local supply chain, components for the 

cooling tower industry now being expor ted. Global players 

in this industry continue to suppor t Hansen whilst inroads 

have also been made in the end user market. The chemical 

mixing and extraction industry have also contributed to the 

successful year for Hansen in China, having secured orders 

with key customers. As China continues to grow, in terms of 

sustainable GDP, Hansen China is well positioned to prosper 

from its unique position of high quality gear technology 
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with localized operations, sourcing, sales and service to 

of fer customers top quality products and services to its 

sophisticated customers at market related prices. 

Services

Hansen Services within the industr ial gearbox activity 

has generated a strong growth during the last 12 months. 

Besides taking on larger and more complex repairs, Hansen 

Services continues to establish a worldwide network of 

Authorized Service Par tners.  

Besides the new par tnerships in Europe with Sweden, 

Norway, France, Switzer land & Italy, Hansen has expanded 

its service network in South-America with Chile and 

Argentina, Nor th-Afr ica with Morocco and in the Gulf 

Cooperation Countr ies. Each of these well trained par tners 

has strong local roots in their region, technical exper tise to 

execute the required service interventions and a proven high 

quality service record. For the more complex repairs they 

can rely on the technical exper tise, the dedicated resources 

and more than 85 years of experience of Hansen. Thanks to 

this growing network Hansen Services can and will continue 

to guarantee its customers and end-users a per fect and fast 

spare par ts and repair service wherever they are located.

Business and Organization
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Wind turbine gearboxes

Industrial gearboxes

Legend

Hansen Transmissions Industry 
United States | Verona, Virginia
People: 35

Hansen Transmissions Industry 
Brazil | São Paulo
People: 8

Hansen Transmissions Industry 
United Kingdom | Huddersfield
People: 40

Global reach, local support
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Hansen Transmissions Industry 
Australia | Melbourne
People: 22

Hansen Transmissions Industry 
Belgium | Edegem
People: 604 

Hansen Transmissions Industry 
China | Tianjin - Teda
People: 40

Hansen Transmissions Wind Energy 
China | Tianjin - Beichen
People: 98

Hansen Transmissions Wind Energy  
India | Coimbatore
People: 400

Hansen Transmissions Wind Energy 
Belgium | Lommel
People: 1172

Hansen Transmissions Industry 
South Africa | Boksburg
People: 58
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Letter from the CEO, Ivan Brems 

As a world leader in the design and manufacture of 

wind turbine gearboxes, Hansen is already driving the 

environmental agenda, suppor ting the world’s action on 

climate change. Wind energy is undoubtedly one of the 

fastest growing renewable technologies and Hansen is at the 

forefront of this industry. But green energy aside, Hansen is 

a business which has long been characterized by the values 

and qualities of a responsible company. 

Corporate Responsibility (CR) is no longer a specialist 

subject relevant only to par ticular groups; it is par t of a more 

general global concern and is impor tant to our stakeholders 

– employees, customers, suppliers, investors, end-users, 

authorities and communities. 

To demonstrate our commitment to sustainability, in March 

2009 we introduced a CR policy and strategy, to begin 

integrating CR into our mainstream repor ting. 

While the past year has presented many business challenges, 

we remain committed to our vision of CR. Our strategy is not 

just about growth, and remaining at the forefront of gearbox 

technologies, it is also about doing business ethically and in 

ways which benefit people, communities and the environment.

Employees

People are Hansen’s most valuable asset – our 

success depends on the people we can recruit, and 

the ef fectiveness of our training. Our CR policy fur ther 

underlines our commitment to our employees. Within 

our business culture, there is a CR spir it underpinned 

by a strong set of core values, including integrity, goal 

or ientation, teamwork, courage and well-being. In a 

constantly growing business, we face many challenges, and 

our success to date is testament to this team spir it.

In 2008, Hansen’s Lommel factory in Belgium attained the 

SA8000 standard – a global social accountability standard for 

auditing and certifying labour practices. We seek continuous 

improvements in all aspects of our social policy and ultimately, 

we aim to apply SA8000 standards in all our factories. 

Communities

Hansen has been operating from its site in Edegem, Belgium 

for more than 70 years. During this time, the area has grown 

from a vir tual greenfield site to a predominantly residential 

area. This transformation has inevitably raised community 

relations challenges, one of which – involving noise 

thresholds – we have outlined in our case studies. It serves 

as an example of Hansen’s continuing commitment to the 

communities in which we operate.

As we become more global, our community policies will be 

more impor tant than ever and we aim to be best in class 

when it comes to these crucial stakeholder relationships. 

Hansen began operations in India in 2008 and in China in 

2009, both countries that face social and environmental 

challenges. We have a responsibility to understand these 

CR challenges and, through stakeholder engagement, f ind 

appropriate solutions. Work has begun to integrate CR into 

the fabric of our Indian and Chinese operations and we will 

repor t fur ther on our progress next year.

One of our objectives for the medium term is to introduce a 

more formal stakeholder engagement policy, and we will track 

this objective, and its results, in our annual CR repor ts. 

Environment

Respect for the environment is central to Hansen’s core 

businesses. As a leader in the renewable energy industry we 

are strongly committed both to developing new technologies 

for renewable energy and to building an environmentally 

sound business which aims for sustainable development.

In 2008, we introduced the use of 100% renewable electricity 

for all our Belgian operations. And, since 2005, Hansen has 

par ticipated in the Flemish Government’s ‘Auditcovenant’, an 

Corporate Responsibility
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initiative to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in line with the 

Kyoto Protocol. 

In early 2008, Hansen was proud to be awarded the 

ISO 14001 standard which cer tif ies the environmental 

management system (EMS) at Lommel, our state-of-

the-ar t integrated wind gearbox plant in Belgium. This 

was an impor tant milestone for Hansen and it remains a 

key environmental objective for the Company to apply the 

ISO 14001 standard across all our plants.

We can see a myriad of benefits from addressing our 

environmental needs and issues through the ISO 14001 

standard. In addition to the implementation of a new EMS, it 

demonstrates our environmental commitment to stakeholders, 

reduces our environmental liability and promotes a strong and 

responsible corporate reputation. 

For Hansen, CR must be embedded in our corporate values 

and working lives. This is the star ting point for enabling those 

close to us to understand our relations with nature and within 

society. 

I am sure Hansen will be confronted with many challenges in 

our ever-changing world, but I am also sure that we will be 

able to pursue our strategy in a responsible and sustainable 

manner. Businesses face a huge under taking in seeking 

to align economic needs with social and environmental 

responsibilities over the next few years. Hansen remains 

committed to this ideal and will play its par t in bringing the 

benefits of wind technology to many more millions of people, 

in a way which harmonises our corporate development with 

sustainability.  

 

 

 

 

Ivan Brems

Chief Executive Officer

Chairman, Corporate Responsibility Committee

Hansen Transmissions International

Corporate Responsibil ity
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Scope of Report 

This is Hansen’s f i rst CR repor t and we expect to repor t 

annual ly, expanding the content as CR develops and 

becomes global. Our object ive is to give our audiences 

an over v iew of our approach to CR and our cur rent 

status in the key mater ia l areas. We have been guided 

by the Global Repor t ing In i t iat ive (GRI), the wor ld’s most 

widely used susta inabi l i t y repor t ing f ramework, in our 

repor t ing and we aim to fo l low their cr i ter ia to a l low annual 

comparat ive analysis.

Our key operat ions are cur rent ly in Belgium where we 

have state-of-the-ar t faci l i t ies, pol ic ies and procedures 

at our Lommel plant. This plant is the benchmark for our 

new faci l i t ies in India and China and the same or s imi lar 

pol ic ies and procedures wi l l  be implemented there and 

at future plants, as and when they become operat ional. 

Whi le the boundar y of th is repor t is not str ict ly l imi ted to 

Belgium, i t should be assumed to be the base case for 

th is repor t wi th the object ive of expanding coverage to 

India and China in the nex t repor t.

Health and Safety 			 

2008 Highlight Receiving SA8000 for Lommel plant 

Strong history of Health and Safety Culture at 

Hansen

Hansen was founded in 1923 to supply the industr ia l 

gearbox market and, s ince 1979, has increasingly 

focused on producing gearboxes for the growing wind 

energy generat ion sector. As a large and wel l establ ished 

industr ia l manufactur ing company wi th over 2400 

employees, Hansen knows that an entrenched heal th 

and safet y (H&S) cul ture is essent ia l to the success of i ts 

business. 

Protect ion f rom harm is a fundamental pr incip le of the way 

Hansen operates and we seek to protect the safet y, heal th 

and wel l-being of each employee and subcontractor. 

We also recognize that the wel l-being of our employees 

impacts on their engagement and product iv i t y so 

prov iding employee suppor t is a core element of our 

approach.

SA8000 – our benchmark

SA8000, the global social accountabil i t y standard for 

decent work ing condit ions, developed and overseen by 

Social Accountabil i t y International, is a benchmark for 

Hansen. We are ver y proud to have received the SA8000 

standard for our Lommel plant in 2008, which has enabled 

us to streamline our processes and to improve our safety 

insurance system. 

The way we work

Through training, H&S and r isk analysis, Hansen str ives 

to provide a safe environment for i ts employees and to 

educate them on how danger can be pro-actively avoided.

Hansen’s safety repor t ing is led by a Safety Commit tee, in 

conjunction with the Head of H&S. They are responsible for 

determining the strategic direction for H&S and ensur ing 

robust r isk management systems are in place to mit igate 

exist ing and emerging r isks. 

A repor t on H&S, safety training and industr ia l accidents 

statist ics is produced annually, including a review of 

the past year and a proposed action plan for the year 

ahead. Once approved, the repor t is sent to the Belgian 

author i t ies. 

Leaders in technical safety

Hansen’s 85 years of exper ience has given us the 

background and knowledge to build the optimum factor y 

for technical safety. A key safety factor is that our new 

machines are al l designed to protect employees from 

exposed moving par ts, making them both less hazardous 

and more ergonomically ef f icient. We have fur ther improved 

safety on the factor y f loor by instal l ing an underground 

transpor tat ion system for removing al l metal waste. This 

greatly reduces internal traf f ic, the possibi l i t y of accidents, 

and maintains a cleaner, more ef f icient environment for al l 

employees.

H&S training receives the highest pr ior i t y at Hansen. 

Ever y employee receives ex tensive safety training before 

beginning work, which is regular ly repeated to ensure 

complete famil iar i t y with the latest safety directives. 
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Training needs are inventor ied via accident analysis, the 

Safety Commit tee, and for al l new machines or products. 

Emergency training and planning takes high pr ior i t y, to 

help l imit the consequences of any accident or incident. 

Health

Hansen is for tunate that there are no major health 

hazards associated with i ts industr ia l processes or use 

of mater ia ls. However, one of our core values is the 

well-being of our employees and this is ref lected in our 

policies and actions.

Working with contractors 

Hansen encourages i ts contractors and suppliers to 

implement the pr inciples descr ibed in the SA8000 

standard, with the ult imate objective of creating a supply 

chain that complies with this standard. As a f i rst step, 

Hansen has requested that i ts main suppliers to Lommel 

subscr ibe to the SA8000 pr inciples.

Audits and inspections

Regular internal and ex ternal audits are carr ied out to 

ensure compliance with SA8000 and well-being laws. 

Safety data

Hansen has ver y high standards for safety processes 

and training procedures, and accident rates at the plant 

in Edegem remain below the sector average. However, 

the speed of expansion at our Lommel plant over last two 

years – we have almost tr ipled our output in this t ime – 

means that we have exper ienced an unacceptable level 

of accidents in this per iod. Our objective is to improve 

our accident f requency rate at Lommel in 2009 to below 

the sector average (gear and dr ives manufactur ing), 

by increasing safety awareness, work ing with 

subcontractors to ensure they operate within our safety 

guidel ines, and by ini t iat ing a safety management group. 

Accident Frequency rate: F(r)

Frequency rate = number of accidents x 1 mil l ion divided by the number of exposure

hours annually 

Accident Severity rate: S(r)

Severity rate = number of calendar days lost x1000 divided by the number of exposure 

hours annually 
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Hansen’s dedicated wind turbine gearbox plant in Tianjin – China. First gearbox delivered in March 2009.
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Environment 

2008 Highlights 

•	 Receiving ISO 14001 for Lommel plant

•	 Reducing Electricity and Gas consumption  

by 8 MWh/ per production unit 

•	 100% electricity from renewable energy in Belgium

As a key player in the renewable energy industry Hansen 

is strongly committed not only to developing renewable 

technologies, but also to creating an environmentally sound 

and sustainable business.

In early 2008, Hansen was awarded the ISO 14001 standard 

which cer tif ies our environmental management system (EMS) 

at the plant in Lommel. This was an impor tant milestone for us 

and it is our medium-term objective to apply the ISO 14001 

standard across all our plants. 

Lommel, our fully integrated Belgian plant which completed 

its final expansion phase in 2008, currently produces the 

majority of our wind energy output. As our benchmark 

operation, it provided the design blueprint for our new 

plants in India and China. We endeavour to use the best 

possible environmental technologies and aim for continuous 

improvement in our design and processes. 

ISO 14001 is designed to manage a company’s impact on 

the environment through an EMS. Its pro-active approach 

means that environmental issues are dealt with before they 

become a problem and it is a valuable tool for businesses to 

simultaneously improve their environmental per formance and 

enhance their business ef ficiency.

Environmental Performance Indicators 2008 (calendar year)

EPIs are established for every environmental theme included in the environmental program and reported monthly. The following table summarizes the objectives and results for 2008.

Targets Results

Energy •	 Electricity consumption (MWh) /  

production unit (MW gearbox) < 8

•	 Gas consumption (MWh) /  

production unit (MW gearbox) < 8	

•	 Electricity consumption (MWh) /  

production unit (MW gearbox) = 7,85

•	 Gas consumption (MWh) /  

production unit (MW gearbox) = 6,05

Chemical products •	 Track 100% of stored chemical products 

and maximum storage quantities

•	 All chemical products are now centrally registered

Waste •	 Collect absorption material separately

•	 Use of alternative absorption material 

•	 Absorption material now collected separately

•	 Researching alternative absorption material

Air •	 10% reduction of VOC-emission (Volatile 

Organic Compounds) / production unit 

(MW gearbox) by changing to products 

containing less or no solvent

•	 Moved to solvent-free degreaser – giving 

significant reduction in VOC compared to the use 

of thinner

•	 Testing alternative paint containing less solvent

Hansen/Wind/LuchtfotoLommel (to go with § 
about the ISO 14001 certificate in Lommel – 
Environment section)

28 April 2008 – ISO 14001: 2004 Certificate

Ivan Brems (CEO), Stefan Lammens (CTO) and Lloyd’s 

Registrer Quality Marketing & Training manager, Daniel Fr ickel
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Environmental Management 

Hansen’s EMS is managed by environmental working groups, 

based on the company’s key environmental themes identif ied 

through the ISO 14001 audit process – energy, chemical 

products, air, waste, water and alternative transpor tation for 

employees.

Hansen encourages involvement in environmental 

management by all its employees and intends to regularly 

communicate the evolution of its Environmental Per formance 

Indicators (EPIs) to employees and other stakeholders.

Energy

Hansen is committed to the use of 100% renewable energy 

(electricity) for both its Lommel and Edegem sites and,  

since 2008, has had a guaranteed renewable supply.  

Hansen also voluntarily participates in the ‘Auditcovenant’ which 

is part of an initiative by the Flemish Government to reduce 

greenhouse gas emissions, resulting from the Kyoto Protocol. 

Hansen is committed to fur ther reduction of energy and CO² 

emissions over the next year which are outlined in a 2009 

‘Energyplan’, and approved by the Flemish government. The 

‘Energyplan’ will be updated in 2009 to become a four-year 

plan, through until 2013. 

For the EMS at Lommel, we have met our initial objective, set 

in 2007, to reduce electricity and gas consumption in MWh 

per production unit (MW gearbox) to fewer than eight. 

Chemical products

Hansen aims to use environmentally sound products whenever 

possible. Our key objective is to track 100% of our environmen-

tally permitted chemical products, and provide a safe infra-

structure for storing products with an environmental impact. 

Waste

Hansen’s goal is to keep waste of all kinds to a minimum 

and to re-use or recycle materials where possible. 

Environmental Performance Indicators 2009 (calendar year)

Objective

Energy •	 Reduce electricity consumption by 5% (MWh)/production unit (MW)

•	 Reduce gas consumption by 5% (MWh)/production unit (MW)

Chemical products •	 Coordinate a global tracking system for chemical products

•	 Increase awareness of chemical product storage

Waste •	 Optimization of waste collection through

–	 Reducing packaging-waste, water usage and waste water

–	 Use of alternative absorption material

–	 Increase awareness of waste collection

Air •	 10% reduction in VOC (Volatile Organic Compounds) emissions / production unit (MW) 

by changing to low solvent alternative products

Water •	 Map out water consumption and waste water streams

•	 Investigate possibilities for waste water reduction

Alternative Transportation plan •	 Investigate Alternative Transportation plan for personnel transportation to reduce emissions

Corporate Responsibil ity

 Hansen/Industry/
application shots/
app025 or app027 
(to go with § 
environmental man-
agement)
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In 2007, Hansen’s Lommel plant set up a Global Waste 

Management System called IAB, which identi f ies methods 

for the collection, handling, administrat ion, registrat ion, 

optimization and disposal of waste. Waste mater ia ls are 

stored in dedicated storage areas which include secondary 

containment to protect the environment from spil lage and 

seepage. In 2008, two new eco-parks were constructed 

on-site for sol id waste and wood storage.

Air Emissions

Hansen’s air emissions are low compared with other 

industr ia l faci l i t ies. However, al l emission points were 

identi f ied and evaluated for the ISO 14001 cer t i f ication and 

a monitor ing control program for air emissions is now in 

place both for ISO 14001 and environmental legislat ion. 

Water

Hansen recognizes that water consumption is an  

impor tant issue and has introduced water to its key 

environmental themes for Lommel’s EMS. Both the Lommel 

and Edegem plants monitor water usage and waste water.  

At Lommel, a project is underway to map water consumption 

and waste water streams for each plant process. 

A specialist working group, including exper ts in waste water 

and chemicals, wil l carr y out research and put in place a 

programme to reduce water consumption in 2009.

Alternative Transportation Plan 

Hansen would l ike to reduce carbon emissions through 

the development of an Alternative Transpor tat ion plan for 

i ts Lommel plant employees – bicycles and carpooling 

are two ini t iat ives already underway. Currently, the project 

commit tee is work ing with the City of Lommel to explore 

a public transpor tat ion system which would dovetai l with 

Hansen’s shif t system. 

Environmental audits

Hansen’s internal audits take place annually, under the 

guidance of an ex ternal consultant.  

Two ex ternal environmental audits took place in 2008; 

Lloyds – for ISO 14001 and Agor ia – for the legal 

compliance audit.

Human Resources Commitment to CR

2008 Highlights

•	 Receiving SA8000 for Lommel plant

•	 Introducing CR Policy

Sustainability and a strong social vision have been crucial 

elements of Hansen’s human resources (HR) strategy for 

many years. Now, with the introduction of a corporate 

responsibility (CR) policy, HR will more formally integrate CR 

into its strategy and also play a critical role in ensuring that 

CR is adopted company-wide. 

Hansen firmly believes that a good CR policy can improve 

employee engagement and increase our brand recognition 

as an employer. Our new HR vision and mission statements 

refer to suppor ting and developing Hansen’s most valuable 

resource – its people – in a way which is socially and 

environmentally responsible. 

As an international company, Hansen believes it is impor tant 

to give equal respect to all the people and cultures we work 

with. We are involving our Indian and Chinese colleagues 

in the implementation of our CR strategy and it is our aim 

to provide the same workforce environment and social 

consciousness internationally as we do in Belgium, through 

an intercultural management programme. 

Human Resources will have a key role in managing the CR 

strategy, through its implementation and related training, 

monitoring its adoption proactively, and documenting its 

success throughout the company. 

SA8000 – a validation of Hansen’s 

people management

In December 2008, SA8000 cer tif ication was awarded to our 

Lommel plant in Belgium. Hansen’s medium-term objective is 

to attain SA8000 cer tif icates for all our plants, in Belgium and 

internationally.

SA8000, the global social accountability standard for auditing 

and cer tifying labour practices, is Hansen’s benchmark 

(as outlined in the Health and Safety section). It sets out 

provisions for issues such as trade union rights, working 

hours, health and safety at work, and fair pay.
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We now have confirmation that we meet international 

standards in many impor tant HR areas and we will use this 

strong base to help measure our goals and set our objectives 

for the future. The key benefits of the SA8000 cer tif ication for 

Hansen include:

•	 Providing a benchmark for the company values we apply in 

our daily operations.

•	 Suppor ting our international growth by reinforcing a Hansen 

culture which can be applied worldwide, providing an 

objective measure between the plants.

•	 Motivating our employees to seek continuous improvement 

in all actions and attitudes, towards all of our stakeholders.

The SA8000 of fers a framework to fur ther enhance Hansen’s 

social policy in cooperation with personnel and stakeholders, 

based on a management system of planning, execution and 

systematic follow-up, monitoring and improvement – the 

so-called ‘plan-do-check-act’ cycle.

Objectives for 2009/10:  

•	 Preparation for SA8000 in Edegem (Belgium),  

India and China. 

•	 Ef fective company-wide integration of Corporate 

Responsibility Policy.

HR figures for 2008 (calendar year) Belgium India

Coimbatore

China

Tianjin

Rest of 

World

Economic Performance Edegem Lommel

% Senior management hired from local community 83,33% 100% 100% 90%

Social Performance

Workforce by employment type & region in Full Time Equivalent

(a) Blue collars 1,076 174 36 83

(b) White collars 652 194 63 126

(c) Total 1,728 368 99 209

% Employees covered by collective bargaining contracts Almost 100%1 0% 0%

Hours of registered training

(a) Blue collars 22,608 NA NA 

(b) White collars 15,394 NA NA 

(c) Total 38,002 NA NA 

Sum of organization cost of registered training (in €) 490,286 NA2 NA2

 

1	 Except Executive Commit tee and Directors

2	 In FY 2009, during the project phase, 81 Indian employees and 40 Chinese employees have followed intensive technical and behavioral training in Belgium. The registered training 

concerns local organized training in operational phase; and wil l be repor ted on for India and China in Hansen’s next CR repor t.

Corporate Responsibil ity

Hansen’s gearbox plant in Edegem – Belgium. 
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CR Case studies 

Community involvement –  

Construction of noise protection wall at Edegem

Hansen’s industr ia l gearbox plant at Edegem in Belgium 

was or iginal ly developed in the 1930s and the site has 

signif icantly expanded over the years. The plant is located 

in a mixed residential-industr ia l area and i t is completely 

surrounded by residential proper t ies. 

2008 saw the f inal izat ion of a long-term neighborhood 

project to reorganize the Edegem site and local public 

roadwork, including the instal lat ion of a unique sound-

proof ing wall to comply with noise restr ict ions. The project, 

which began in 2002, was under taken in close cooperation 

with the local community, the Municipal i t y of Edegem and 

Hansen. I t was framed in a re-zoning plan submit ted in 

2005 and ful ly approved by the Flemish author i t ies in 2006.

The noise-reduction wall was a crucial element of the plan 

for the well-being of Hansen’s neighbours. An ex tensive 

environmental noise sur vey conf irmed that i f the proposed 

measures were implemented, al l noise threshold l imits 

would be respected. 

Research was under taken by Hansen and ex ternal 

environmental noise exper ts to f ind a suitable construction 

for the wall. Tests on the unique “Cocowall“ composit ion 

proved ver y ef fective. Made from recycled plastic tubes 

covered with natural coconut f ibres in a sandwich-

construction reinforced with steel plate, the “Cocowall” is 

entirely recyclable. The dense coconut f ibres provide noise 

absorption and the steel plates provide noise insulat ion 

making an ef f icient combination – the wall absorbs an 

average of 75% of the ambient noise, depending on the 

frequency. I t is 395m long and 4m high.

HR – Re-training during a period of rapid expansion

Hansen has grown rapidly in the last two years, almost 

tr ipl ing capacity in Lommel, while star t ing work on new 

plants in India and China. A major HR challenge in this 

scenar io was to suppor t growth through competent 

personnel. Blue collar operators are cr i t ical to our 

work force so i t was vi tal to recruit and train them to a 

high level, in l ine with the pace of the capacity increase, 

to avoid a shor tage of qual i f ied operators across al l our 

factor y locations. 

An innovative solution of “employment rehabil i tat ion” was 

set up to retrain people to become highly sk i l led operators. 

The retraining program, under taken in association with 

local technical col leges, took an average of nine months 

and resulted in increasing the sk i l l level of the Hansen 

work force and providing a posit ive impact on output and 

quali t y, as well as giv ing those with fewer quali f ications an 

oppor tunity to work in a highly technical environment. 

The programme was essential to the success of the 

Lommel expansion plan and the star t-up of our Indian 

plant. In 2009-2010, a comparable system is being set up 

for the new plant in T ianj in, China.

Sponsored Charitable Event –  

Green motorbike journey to Mongolia

On 29 June 2008, Mat t Hunt f rom Lommel, home to 

Hansen’s main wind turbine dr ive factor y, took par t in the 

Mongolian char i t y ral ly. His epic journey involved r iding 

a recycled ‘green-fuel led’ motorbike from Lommel to 

Mongolia. 

Hansen agreed to sponsor Mat t ’s project based on his 

environmental and char i table objectives; he used green fuel 

and special technology to reduce CO² emissions as well 

as auctioning his equipment for the Children’s Foundation 

in Mongolia. Hansen believes that ever y ef for t towards a 

cleaner wor ld for future generations should be suppor ted 

and saw, in this unique venture, an oppor tunity to suppor t 

both environmental causes and community involvement. 

As a “One-Man Team-Hansen”, Mat t covered around 

10,000km including f ive mountain ranges and two deser ts, 

r iding from Lommel v ia England, France, Germany, Austr ia, 

Hungary, Romania, Bulgar ia, Turkey, I ran, Turkmenistan, 

Uzbekistan, Kyrgyzstan, Kazakhstan, Russia and, f inal ly, to 

Ulan Bator, the capital of Mongolia. Mat t also at tended the 

foundation ceremony at Hansen’s Tianj in factor y in China, 

where he presented a gi f t for the Chinese plant – a ´green 

cheque´ which was used to purchase 88 trees for the 

factor y si te – 88 signif y ing double luck in China.
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Board of Directors

Biographies 

The Board of Directors currently consists of the following persons:

Ivan Brems, Chief Executive Officer

Ivan Brems holds a Masters (Ing) in 

Electronic Engineering, and joined the 

Group in 1984. He became a member of 

the Board of Directors and Chief Executive 

Officer in 2006. Previously he was Sales 

Director and Vice President of Corporate 

Marketing and Business Development, a 

post he held for five years. He has over 30 

years of experience in sales, marketing and 

international management with the Company. 

From left to right:  

Ivan Brems, Marc Desaedeleer, Torben Bjerre-Madsen, Tulsi R. Tanti, Jann Brown, Alex De Ryck, Dr. Winfried Walzer

Marc Desaedeleer, non-executive Director

Marc Desaedeleer joined the Group in 2006 and currently holds the post of Chief Investment 

Officer of CVCI (CitiGroup Venture Capital International). Prior to this role, Marc Desaedeleer was 

head of CVCI Central Eastern Europe, Middle East, Africa as well as India. Before that, he was 

a senior manager of Citibank’s Corporate Banking business in over 20 countries with particular 

focus on Central Europe and Russia. In prior positions within CitiGroup, Marc Desaedeleer 

was Business Manager for Citibank’s Corporate and Investment Banking business in France, 

managed several international businesses within Citibank’s Investment Banking group including 

ADRs, and was responsible for Citibank’s strategy in Global Equities. He holds an MBA degree 

from Carnegie Mellon University (U.S) and Masters in Science degrees from the University of 

Louvain (Belgium). Marc is chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
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Dr. Winfried Walzer, permanent representative of  

Dr.-Ing. Winfried Walzer GmbH, non-executive Director

Dr. Winfried Walzer joined the Group in 2007 as a non-executive Director. 

Dr. Walzer is today Chief Executive Officer of Dr.-Ing. Winfried Walzer GmbH, 

a company providing management and consulting services, and has 

previously held the positions of Managing Director of Liebherr Werk Biberach 

GmbH, Chief Executive Officer of Flender AG, and Chairman of the Boards 

of Winergy AG and Schenck Process SA. Alongside his current position at 

the Company, he also acts as Chairman of the Board of SchenkProcess 

Holding GmbH, Darmstadt, Germany and as a Member of the Board of Koenig 

Verbindungstechnik AG, Zurich-Dietikon, Switzerland.

Alex De Ryck, Chief Financial Officer

Alex De Ryck joined the Group in 2004 as Chief 

Financial Officer. He became a member of the Board 

of Directors in 2004. The position of Chief Financial 

Officer was taken up by ADR Consulting BVBA 

(represented by Alex De Ryck as permanent repre-

sentative) starting with the financial year 2008/9. 

Prior to joining the Group, he held a number of high 

profile positions, including Chief Executive Officer of 

Esselte Belgium and Eldon Belgium, Chief Financial 

Officer of the Dymo Group and the Eldon Enclosures 

Group and finance manager at Honeywell Europe.

Tulsi R. Tanti, Chairman

Tulsi R. Tanti joined the Group in 2006.  

Mr. Tanti founded Suzlon Energy in 1995 and has 

been acting as Chairman and Managing Director of 

Suzlon Energy since then. He is also the chairman of 

the Supervisory Board of REpower Systems AG.  

Mr. Tanti chairs the Nomination Committee.

Torben Bjerre-Madsen, permanent representative  

of Bjerres Bureau Aps., non-executive Director

Torben Bjerre-Madsen joined the Group in 2005 as a non-executive member 

of the Board of Directors. Prior to joining the Group, he held positions as the 

Chief Executive Officer of Neg Micon A/S, Deputy Chief Executive Officer of 

Vestas Wind Systems A/S, and Chief Financial Officer of Crisplant Industries 

A/S. Alongside his current position at the Company, he acts as a non-executive 

Director of a number of international companies, among them VKR Holding 

A/S and Superfos Industries A/S, and also of a number of companies in the 

renewable energy sector including Avanti Wind Systems A/S and Xergi A/S. 

He is also Chairman of SolarCap A/S and DanCopter A/S. Torben chairs the 

Audit Committee. 

Jann Brown, non-executive Director  

and senior independent Director

Jann Brown joined the group at the 2008 annual shareholders’ meeting as 

(senior) non-executive independent Director of the Company. She currently 

holds the position of Finance Director of Cairn Energy PLC, having been 

appointed to this role in 2006. She is also a non-executive Director of Cairn 

India Limited. Jann holds an MA from Edinburgh University and a diploma in 

accounting from Heriot Watt University. She joined Cairn in 1998 after a career 

in the accountancy profession, mainly with KPMG. She is a member of the 

Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland and the Chartered Institute of 

Taxation. In her role as an executive Director of Cairn, a FTSE 100 Company, 

Jann has particular responsibility for employee matters and chairs the Risk 

Management Committee.
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Board of Directors’ Report

The Board of Directors has the pleasure in submitting the 

combined repor t on the statutory and consolidated results 

of Hansen Transmissions International NV (the “Company”) 

and the statutory and consolidated annual accounts for the 

financial year ending 31 March 2009. The annual shareholders’ 

meeting is scheduled to be held on 25 June 2009. 

The materials relating to this annual shareholders’ meeting 

have been sent to the shareholders and contain the notice 

convening the meeting together with a description of the 

business to be conducted.

1. Overview of Results
•	 Revenue growth of +45%; 

•	 EBITDA1 margin of 15.4%;

•	 Net profit growth of +44%;

•	 Whilst contracted 2009 order book remains unchanged, 

Hansen is working with long term customers to manage 

their requirements in line with current operating and credit 

environment;

•	 Capacity expansion plan to 14,300 MW in financial year 

2013 on-track and fully-financed;

•	 Ongoing developments in India and China position the 

Company well for the future;

•	 Continuing to actively pursue cost measures to adapt to the 

current environment and suppor t EBITDA margins and cash 

flow.

1	 EBITDA = earnings before interest, tax, depreciation & amor tisation 

Revenue growth was 45% in the financial year 2009, compared 

to the prior financial year 2008. Revenue growth in the last 

quarter of the financial year 2009 was 7%, against the same 

quarter last financial year. This resulted from Hansen working 

together with its customers to manage their requirements.

Net profit in the last quar ter of f inancial year 2009 was 

impacted by a higher tax charge compared to the previous 

year. In the four th quar ter of f inancial year 2008, Hansen 

booked EUR 20 million tax deductible IPO-costs under 

Belgian Accounting rules. 

The following table provides a breakdown of the revenue per 

gearbox type for the financial years ended 31 March 2008 

and 2009:

in kEUR 2008 2009 Growth

Revenue from the sale of 
Wind turbine gearboxes 339,345 514,892 52%

Revenue from the sale of 
Industrial gearboxes 82,137 94,283 15%

421,482 609,175 45%

In the financial year 2009, Hansen incurred one-time costs 

of EUR 5.7 million relating to expansion projects compared to 

EUR 3.5 million in the financial year 2008. These costs are 

included in EBITDA and EBIT.

The total investment in proper ty, plant and equipment for the 

financial year 2009 was EUR 221.6 million, mainly related to 

the new plants in India and China.

2. Going Concern

After making due enquiries, the Board of Directors has the 

reasonable expectation that the Company and its subsidiaries 

have adequate resources to continue their operational 

existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they 

continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 

accounts.

Combined Statutory and Consolidated Report 2009 of the 
Board of Directors of Hansen Transmissions International NV
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3. Hansen

POSITION 

Wind Turbine Gearboxes

Market update

In 2008, new installations of wind energy worldwide reached 

approximately 28.000 MW, representing a 42% increase 

in cumulative installations over 2007. Current forecasts by 

BTM (Source: BTM Consult Aps “International Wind Energy 

Development – World Market Update 2008” - March 2009) 

indicate an average annual growth rate of approximately 18% 

until 2013, with an annual additional capacity installed in 2013 

of approximately 60.000 MW. 

Hansen’s Position

Hansen is one of the world leaders in multi-MW wind turbine 

gearboxes. The Company has a dedicated and fully integrated 

production plant in Lommel, Belgium, which is designed 

to manufacture large pieces in serial production with a 

consistently high level of quality and reliability.

Through its expansion projects in India and China, Hansen is 

closely following the investment initiatives of its customers. 

In addition to providing proximity to the world’s fastest 

growing markets, this also gives Hansen access to low cost 

production countries.

Industrial Gearboxes

In the traditional heavy industrial markets, such as mining, 

power generation and water treatment, orders remained strong 

in the first half of last financial year. The outlook for industrial 

gearboxes weakened in the second half of the financial year 

2009 as a result of the global impact of the financial crisis on 

capital goods investments. Over the year, this activity has seen 

a solid revenue growth of 15% to EUR 94 million

Hansen’s industrial gearboxes business is increasingly 

focusing on the development of close customer relationships, 

complementing its high quality product range with excellent 

service.

ORGANIZATION

Management Committee

In August 2008, Hansen expanded its Management Committee 

with Cliff Dawson joining as Chief Operating Officer. Cliff joined 

Hansen from the automotive industry where he had a successful 

career in operations management with Ford, Visteon and most 

recently with Automotive Components Holdings Ltd. where he 

was Vice President of the Glass Operation.

Management Functions

A new management function has been created with Dr Jan 

Declercq joining in September 2008 as Director Business 

Development, Sales & Marketing for the Wind Gearbox Activities. 

Jan joined Hansen after an extensive career at transformer 

manufacturer Pauwels Trafo Belgium where he held the roles of 

Technology Development Manager and Business Manager.

Employees

In order to suppor t Hansen’s expansion, the Group added 

562 people (net) in the financial year 2009, increasing the 

headcount by 30% from 1,894 at the end of March 2008 to 

2,456 employees at the end of March 2009. 

In Belgium, the number of employees increased from 1,527 

people at the end of f inancial year 2008 to 1,776 at 31 March 

2009 (net 249 additional employees or +16%). Today the 

Group has of fices in Belgium, France, Sweden, Germany, 

the Netherlands, the United Kingdom, India, China, Australia, 

South Africa, the USA, Italy and Brazil. 

Manufacturing units

In the last three years, Hansen has invested in three 

dedicated wind turbine gearbox plants in Belgium, India and 

China resulting in an increase of its manufacturing capacity to 

7,300 MW over the financial year 2009.

Belgium – Lommel 

In April 2008, the Company completed the expansion of 

its Lommel plant in Belgium, which commenced in October 

Board of Directors’ Report
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2006 from 2,200 MW to 6,000 MW manufactur ing capacity 

per year from April 2008 onwards. Combined with capacity 

in the Edegem plant in Belgium, this creates today a total 

manufactur ing capacity in Belgium of 7,100 MW.

India – Coimbatore 

The f irst wind turbine gearbox was delivered from the Indian 

factory in September 2008. In August of 2007 Hansen 

began the construction of a fully integrated manufactur ing 

plant for wind turbine gearboxes in Coimbatore. This 

project consists of a new factory with a product range of 

gearboxes up to 3 MW. The annual manufactur ing capacity 

is anticipated to reach 1,200 MW in f inancial year 2010 and 

2,000 MW in f inancial year 2011. The Company has already 

invested EUR 162 mill ion in this plant and has hired 400 

employees in India. 

China – Tianjin 

The f i rst wind turbine gearbox was delivered from the 

Chinese factor y in March 2009. In September 2008, 

Hansen began the construction of a ful ly integrated 

manufactur ing plant in the Beichen Hi-tech Industr ia l Park 

in Tianj in. The Company has so far invested EUR 51 mil l ion 

and the annual manufactur ing capacity is anticipated to 

reach 1,600 MW in f inancial year 2010 and 2,000 MW in 

f inancial year 2011. In i ts f i rst phase, the Tianj in factor y 

wil l per form assembly and testing activ i t ies with impor ted 

components. 

US

The Company sees a strong base for medium- to long term 

growth in Nor th America with the stated plans from the new 

US Government for renewable energy expansion, as well 

as several European wind turbine manufacturers set ting up 

local factor ies. This presents an at tractive oppor tunity for 

Hansen to widen its geographic footpr int and to continue 

meeting the needs of its customers.

Hansen will star t in the f inancial year 2010 with a service 

centre for wind turbine gearboxes in the USA. 

In parallel, the Company will continue to evaluate production 

oppor tunities in Nor th America.

Manufacturing capacity expansion plan

As a result of the volatility in the market, Hansen has 

evaluated the optimal phasing of additional manufacturing 

capacity for the financial years 2010 to 2013. Based on the 

Company’s order book, the ongoing discussions with existing 

and potential new customers and the market expectations, 

Hansen has reviewed its expansion plan for manufacturing 

capacity for wind turbine gearboxes. 

Today, Hansen announces its reviewed expansion plan, in 

which several elements have been aligned to the expected 

market demand. Key elements of this phasing are: 

1.	Capacity in financial year 2013 of 14,300 MW is confirmed; 

2.	Delayed ramp-up of the production capacity in India and 

China for the financial years 2011 and 2012; 

3.	Total capital expenditure of EUR 730 million for the period 

2007-2013 is identical to the previous plan.

The company fur ther continues to review the optimization 

of its investments in view to improve the capex cost per 

MW-capacity.

Aftermarket Service Business

Over the last 30 years Hansen has supplied over 20,000 

gearboxes for wind turbine applications. The size of this 

installed base creates a new and attractive potential to 

generate revenues and margins by of fering repair, upgrades, 

inspection and preventive maintenance services. Hansen has 

established a dedicated service unit for its wind business that 

is working together with its customers to develop competitive 

business models based upon a well-balanced allocation of 

production resources between new products and af termarket 

services.

OPERATIONS

Increased Capacity 

The Company increased its sales in wind turbine gearboxes 

from 4,208 MW in the financial year 2008 to 5,956 MW in the 

financial year 2009. The average price per MW increased in 

the financial year 2009 to KEUR 86.4 per MW, from KEUR 

81.0 in the previous year, mainly driven by the change in sales 

mix to higher value products and af ter market activities. 
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Hansen’s raw materials costs remained stable as a 

percentage of revenue at 53.0%.

Hansen’s direct labour costs as a percentage of revenue 

decreased to 5.7% for the financial year 2009, compared to 

6.1% in the financial year 2008. This decrease was due to 

increased efficiency in the use of labour at the Lommel plant in 

Belgium as the Company increased production at this facility.

Variable works overheads, af ter the deduction of change in 

overheads in inventory, increased from 6.4% on revenue in 

financial year 2008 to 7.0% in the financial year 2009. This 

increase is the combined result of the positive ef fect of an 

improved absorption rate in the Lommel plant in Belgium, 

following the capacity addition at the Lommel plant, and the 

lower star t-up ef ficiency in India and China.

Fixed works overheads as a percentage of sales increased to 

10.7% on revenue compared to 10.1% in the previous financial 

year. The increase in fixed works overheads is entirely due to 

the increase in depreciations.

Finance and administrative costs

Finance and administrative costs increased from 4.9% in financial 

year 2008 to 6.1% in the financial year 2009. This resulted from 

costs linked to additional requirements as a public company and 

the general costs at the Indian and Chinese facilities.

Cost Control Plan

The financial crisis has impacted Hansen’s customers 

tr iggering requests to reschedule orders with Hansen. The 

Company has reviewed each case and has accommodated 

requests where appropriate, in view of strengthening its long 

term customer relationships. 

The Company believes that in the shor t term economic 

conditions will remain volatile and challenging.

In order to maintain flexibility, align its cost structure to this 

environment and suppor t its EBITDA margins and cash flow, 

Hansen has actively pursued cost containment measures, 

including:

•	 Supply chain optimization;

•	 Temporary unemployment for blue collar employees (under 

Belgian legislation);

•	 Savings programmes on general expenses; and

•	 Inventory reduction. 

In addition, the Company intends to align its white collar 

workforce to the economic environment, resulting in a 

potential white collar headcount reduction in Belgium of 

approximately 15%. 

The Company will continue to explore and exploit 

oppor tunities to maintain an appropriate cost base.

Board of Directors’ Report

Operating Margins

The following table provides a condensed breakdown of Hansen’s cost of sales:  

 

For the year ended 
31 March 2009

% of 
revenue

For the year ended 
31 March 2008

% of 
revenue

KEUR KEUR

Sales of goods 609,175   421,482  

Cost of sales      

Materials 322,980 53.0% 223,265 53.0%

Direct labour 34,776 5.7% 25,545 6.1%

Variable works overheads (including change in inventory)� 42,401 7.0% 27,043 6.4%

Fixed works overheads 65,119 10.7% 42,747 10.1%

465,275 318,600

Gross profit 143,900 23.6% 102,882 24.4%
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Activities In The Field Of Research  

And Development 

In the financial year 2009, Hansen invested EUR 13.3 million 

in Research & Development, representing 2.2% of revenue 

and an increase of +33% compared to EUR 9.9 million in the 

financial year 2008. These costs are charged directly to the 

income statement. The Group’s intention is to maintain the 

level of Research & Development investments at between 

2.0% and 2.5% of revenue in the coming years. 

Innovation within the Group is not only limited to Research & 

Development, but is equally impor tant in the manufacturing 

processes and methodologies of the Company. These 

expenses are contained in fixed works overheads and 

variable works overheads.

BALANCE SHEET

On 31 March 2009, the Company had a net financial 

debt position of EUR 124 million, calculated as cash and 

cash-equivalents minus long-term and shor t-term financial 

debts. 

Inventories have increased to EUR 209 million at 31 March 

2009, from EUR 136 million at 31 March 2008. This increase 

is driven by 1) the build up of security stock of critical 

components such as bearings, which were subject to an 

irregular supply in 2007 and in 2008, 2) the build up of 

components inventory for the new factories in India and 

China, 3) the rescheduling of orders in the last quar ter of 

f inancial year 2009. Accounts receivables have increased to 

EUR 182 million at 31 March 2009, from EUR 88 million at 31 

March 2008. This increase is caused by 1) overdue customer 

payments and 2) impor tant year-end delivery of products, 

both in industrial and wind turbine gearboxes.

SHARE CAPITAL – Issuance of Warrants

Of the warrants that were issued under the Hansen Warrants 

Plan 2007 and the Employee Warrants Grant 2008 on 26 

June 2008, a total of 2,072,300 warrants were ef fectively 

accepted in accordance with the respective plan rules. 

Subject to the conditions set out in the respective plans, the 

exercise of a warrant with grant date of 26 June 2008 will 

give the right to subscribe to one share of the Company at a 

subscription price of 295 GBX. The exercise period of these 

warrants star ts on 1 January 2012 and ends on 26 June 

2013. The number of outstanding warrants at 31 March 2009 

is 2,071,100 warrants. The exercise of all 2,071,100 warrants 

would thus result in a dilution of the existing shares in the 

Company of approximately 0.30%.

OUTLOOK 

The Company remains confident in the projected medium and 

long term growth prospects of the international wind power 

market. Hansen’s strong product of fering and the quality of 

its customer base ensure that the Company remains well 

positioned in this market.

The Company expects that the volume and pricing pressure 

resulting from the dif f iculties experienced in the credit 

markets will continue to cause volatility in 2009.

For the financial year 2010, Hansen expects its overall 

markets to show low to moderate growth, and the company 

targets its full year revenue growth accordingly. 

 
Hansen’s dedicated wind turbine gearbox plant in Lommel – Belgium.
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Significant events that Occurred after 
the Closing of the Financial Year

There are no specif ic events af ter the closing of the f inancial 

year which have to be disclosed in this Board of Director’s 

Repor t.

Principal Risks & Uncertainties

Hansen is facing a var iety of r isks and uncer tainties which 

result from its activit ies as a global wind turbine gearbox 

and industr ial gearbox designer, manufacturer and supplier. 

The principal r isks and uncer tainties as outlined below, 

may af fect the per formance of the Company. Within the 

framework of the Enterpr ise Risk Management, a regular and 

systematic identif ication and management of the pr incipal 

r isks is ensured. 

Strategic Risks

•	 Hansen’s success in the wind turbine market is dependent 

upon the acceptance of wind energy as a viable and 

reliable form of renewable energy. The perception of wind 

energy as an unreliable form of energy and an inappro-

priate large-scale substitute for fossil-fuel generated 

power, could af fect public suppor t and the demand for 

wind turbine gearboxes.

•	 The development of renewable energy sources is 

dependent on domestic and international governmental 

suppor t of such development, including the introduction 

and continued implementation of var ious polit ical incentive 

schemes by governments. Abandonment or reduction of 

the governmental suppor t for renewable energy sources in 

general or wind energy in par ticular could have a mater ial 

adverse ef fect on demand for Hansen’s wind energy 

products.

•	 Demand for wind turbine gearboxes is dependent on the 

abil i ty of wind farm operators to obtain suf f icient f inancial 

means, relevant permits and connections to energy gr ids. 

The current credit squeeze has cer tainly af fected the 

abil i ty of cer tain wind farm operators to star t or continue 

investments in wind farms and could have an impact on 

demand for Hansen’s wind energy products.

•	 Hansen’s success depends in par t on the continued price 

competitiveness of wind energy relative to non-renewable 

energy sources such as oil and coal. The current decrease 

in the cost of such fossil fuels could weaken suppor t 

for wind energy, resulting in a decrease in demand for 

Hansen’s wind energy products.

•	 Hansen’s success might be jeopardized by developments 

in the wind energy market such as the widespread adoption 

of ‘‘gearless’’ wind turbine technologies.

•	 Demand for Hansen’s industrial gearboxes is dependent on 

economic growth and stability.

Operational Risks

•	 The expansion of its manufacturing capabilities through 

the construction of two new facilities in India and China 

is fundamental in realizing Hansen’s strategy. Up till now 

Hansen has been successful in meeting the scheduled 

target days for star t-up of building and production at both 

Coimbatore and Tianjin, but cer tain risks could still cause a 

delay in the fur ther implementation of Hansen’s expansion 

plans, which could have a material ef fect upon its business, 

financial condition and/or results of operations.

•	 Hansen’s continued growth and expansion will place a 

significant strain on management, operations and financial 

resources. For now, Hansen has been able to manage 

and match the anticipated growth, including the continued 

expansion of its customer base and extension of its supply 

chain.

•	 Hansen depends on a limited number of customers in the 

wind turbine market. Hansen could lose a customer in the 

wind turbine market for a number of reasons, such as a 

customer’s decision to expand in to gearbox production 

or the perception of Hansen as par t of a direct competitor. 

The loss of any of these customers could result in lower 

than expected revenue.

•	 Hansen may be exposed to product failure, design 

failure, serial failure, and resulting reputational damage, 

product liability and/or warranty claims. Potential product 

liability r isks are inherent in the research, development, 

manufacture, marketing and sale of Hansen’s products, 
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and although Hansen has cer tain insurance policies in 

place and ensures that its products undergo r igorous 

testing procedures, Hansen remains exposed to the r isk of 

claims. Although Hansen has included in the contract with 

its major suppliers the necessary provisions regarding 

product l iabil i ty and warranties, it may be unable to obtain 

full compensation from its suppliers in the event of the 

supply of defective raw mater ials or intermediate compo-

nents used in its wind turbine and industr ial gearboxes.

•	 Hansen is reliant upon cer tain third par ties for the supply 

of raw mater ials and intermediate components, for which 

there is signif icant international demand. Hansen’s 

expansion of its production capacity into India and China 

will continue to increase its demand for raw mater ials 

and components in these locations. Lack of or delay in 

the supply of these raw mater ials or components could 

mater ially reduce Hansen’s production levels and/or result 

in Hansen being unable to satisfy contracted orders from 

its customers.

•	 Hansen’s abil i ty to manufacture and sell i ts products at a 

competitive and profitable pr ice is af fected by the pr ice 

f luctuations of raw mater ials and intermediate components 

which it uses in the production of gearboxes. Hansen may 

be unable, either to pass on increased costs immedi-

ately and fully to its customers, or contrary to obtain the 

immediate and full pr ice reductions from its suppliers.

•	 A breakdown in or interruption of Hansen’s manufactur ing 

processes, due to whatever cause, could af fect Hansen’s 

production capacities. The process of manufactur ing 

gearboxes requires a substantial amount of consistent 

electr ic power at the manufactur ing facil i t ies. Any 

disruption to the power supply could cause disruption 

to Hansen’s manufactur ing processes and damage the 

machinery and products in the manufactur ing process.

•	 Hansen’s business remains dependent upon the contr i-

butions of Directors, management, engineers and other 

employees and on its abil i ty to at tract and retain key 

personnel at every site with the necessary skil ls and 

experience. Hansen could, even in the current economic 

environment, sti l l be unable to at tract and retain the r ight 

people and such failure could have an impact on its 

abil i ty to design and produce wind turbine and industr ial 

gearboxes.

•	 Although Hansen currently has good relationships with its 

personnel and their representatives, the current economic 

downturn and continuous search to match employee costs 

and revenue could put strain on labour relations.
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•	 Some end-user organizations outside the European 

Union or governmental init iatives designated to suppor t 

renewable energy sources may prefer or require to 

purchase locally manufactured intermediate components, 

which may place Hansen at a competitive disadvantage 

relative to competitors that have domestic manufactur ing 

facil i t ies.

Compliance Risks

•	 Hansen may incur l iabil i t ies under var ious environmental 

and health and safety laws and regulations in the jur is-

dictions where it has operations beyond the cover of 

its insurance policy and may face substantial ongoing 

compliance costs or operating restr ictions.

•	 Hansen’s success depends in par t on its abil i ty to protect 

current and future technologies, processes and products, 

and to defend its intellectual proper ty r ights. Hansen’s 

failure to protect these r ights could result in competitors 

manufactur ing similar products, which could adversely 

af fect Hansen’s abil i ty to exclusively market its own 

products in the relevant geographical markets.

•	 Hansen’s expansion into China and India wil l expose it to 

r isks associated with dif ferent legal and taxation regimes, 

foreign exchange controls and economic conditions. 

Hansen may be subject to more onerous product l iabil i ty 

and warranty requirements, or may be unable to protect its 

contractual and legal r ights in the same way as before.

Financial Risks

•	 Hansen may be adversely af fected by foreign exchange 

rate f luctuations resulting from the translation of revenues 

from foreign currencies into euro following its international 

expansion, which may lead to losses caused by f luctu-

ating exchange rates. Hansen’s operations may also in the 

future be subject to currency transactions r isks.

•	 Hansen’s f inancing costs may be af fected by interest rate 

volati l i ty. Increases in interest rates are likely to increase 

the interest cost associated with the Group’s debt, the 

main f inancing of the Group concerns f loating rate debt, 

and will increase the cost of future borrowings, which 

could af fect the Group’s earnings and f inancial position.

Information about Directors’ 
Conflicts of Interests

The conf l icts of interests procedure provided in ar t icle 

523 of the Belgian Companies Code was applied in the 

course of the 2009 f inancial year on several occasions. 

The fol lowing ex tracts from the Board of Directors’ minutes 

are published in accordance with ar t icle 523 of the Belgian 

Companies Code:

At i ts meeting of 16 May 2008, continued on 19 and 21 

May 2008, the Board of Directors launched the process 

for the al location of warrants under the Hansen Warrants 

Plan 2007 to cer tain members of the senior and ex tended 

management. Ivan Brems and Alex De Ryck announced 

a conf l ict of interest in respect of the approval of the 

implementation of the Hansen Warrants Plan 2007. The 

Board minutes descr ibe such conf l ict as fol lows:

“The conf l ict ing interest consists of the fact that Ivan 

Brems and Alex De Ryck may f inancial ly benef i t from the 

decision as benef iciar y of warrants under the Hansen 

Warrants Plan 2007. An al location of warrants to Ivan 

Brems and Alex De Ryck under the Hansen Warrants 

Plan 2007 wi l l not have any specif ic negative f inancial 

consequences for the Company, except for the fact that 

upon exercise of the warrants, the Company wi l l have to 

issue one new share per warrant (which wi l l result in a 

di lut ion of the exist ing shareholders). Since the warrants 

wi l l be granted to them under the same condit ions as are 

appl icable to warrants granted to the other benef iciar ies, 

Ivan Brems and Alex De Ryck are of the opinion that 

the approval of the implementation of the Hansen 

Warrants Plan 2007 (including the determination of f inal 

circle of benef iciar ies, al location budget and individual 

al location of warrants) is justi f ied. Ivan Brems and Alex 

De Ryck instruct the Company Secretar y to inform the 

statutor y auditor of their (potential) conf l ict of interest, in 

accordance with ar t icle 523 of the Belgian Companies 

Code.”

Other than decisions per taining only to the procedural and 

technical steps required in connection with the issuance of 

warrants, including under Ar ticles 583, 596 and 598 of the 

Belgian Companies Code, the relevant extract of such Board 

of Directors’ minutes contains the following resolutions: 
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“Af ter having acknowledged the above and af ter 

deliberation of the relevant agenda item (in which Ivan 

Brems and Alex De Ryck did not par ticipate), the Board of 

Directors unanimously (except for Ivan Brems and Alex De 

Ryck, which did not par ticipate in the vote): 

•	 ACKNOWLEDGED and APPROVED the recommendations 

made by the Remuneration Committee during its 

meetings held on 16, 19 and 21 May 2008 with respect 

to the Hansen Warrants Plan 2007 under which it is 

envisaged to grant “executive warrants” to eligible key 

employees and consultants, including the determination 

of the allocation budget (1,500,000 warrants) and the 

individual allocation among 18 executives as per the 

final allocation scheme which will remain attached to the 

minutes of the Remuneration Committee.

•	 RESOLVED that the amendments to the plan rules of 

the Hansen Warrants Plan 2007 (originally adopted 

by the shareholders’ meeting of 27 November 2007) 

be approved substantially in the form presented to 

the Board. Given the relatively minor nature of these 

amendments and given the fact that they are not 

contrary to shareholders’ interests, the amendments are 

considered to fall within the amendment power of the 

Board of Directors and not to require fur ther shareholder 

approval, provided that the Board ACKNOWLEDGED that 

resolution [9.7] below (which provides for the par ticulars 

of the first time implementation of the plan in 2008 in 

derogation of cer tain of the (amended) plan rules) must 

be submitted for approval by the Shareholders’ Meeting. 

The amended plan rules of the Hansen Warrants Plan 

2007 form an attachment to the aforementioned special 

repor t prepared in accordance with Ar ticle 583 of the 

Belgian Companies Code that will be submitted to the 

CBFA for review .

•	 For purposes of the grant in 2008, RESOLVED to 

determine the “Allocation Budget” under the Hansen 

Warrants Plan 2007 as follows: 1,500,000 warrants. 

•	 For purposes of the grant in 2008, RESOLVED to 

determine the “final circle of beneficiaries” and the 

“Individual allocation of warrants” under the Hansen 

Warrants Plan 2007 as set for th in the final allocation 

scheme approved by the Remuneration Committee.”

Fur ther to the decisions of 16-21 May 2008, the Board of 

Directors of 26 June 2008 considered resolutions per taining 

to the individual allocation of warrants to cer tain members 

of the senior and extended management under the Hansen 

Warrants Plan 2007, where Ivan Brems and Alex De Ryck 

announced the same conflict of interest (see the description 

of the conflict in the paragraphs regarding the meeting of 

16-21 May 2008 above). The relevant extract of the Board 

minutes provided as follows:

“Af ter having acknowledged the above and af ter 

deliberation of the relevant agenda item (in which Ivan 

Brems and Alex De Ryck did not par ticipate), the Board of 

Directors unanimously (except for Ivan Brems and Alex De 

Ryck, which did not par ticipate in the vote):

•	 ACKNOWLEDGED the recommendations made by the 

Remuneration Committee during its meeting held on 16 

May 2008 with respect to the Hansen Warrants Plan 

2007 under which it is envisaged to grant “executive 

warrants” to eligible key employees and consultants.

•	 ACKNOWLEDGED the approval by the 2008 annual 

shareholders’ meeting today of the amendment to the 

Hansen Warrant Plan 2007 and RESOLVED to approve 

the plan rules of the Hansen Warrant Plan 2007, 

substantially in the form as attached to these minutes 

(as revised on technical matters pursuant to comments 

received from the CBFA).

•	 RESOLVED that persons set for th in the list at tached 

hereto (the “Executive Offerees”) wil l be of fered warrants 

under the Hansen Warrants Plan 2007 on 26 June 2008. 

•	 RESOLVED that the “Individual allocation of warrants” 

under the Hansen Warrants Plan 2007 for each Executive 

Offeree is set for th in the list at tached hereto, for a total 

of 1,500,000 warrants.”

Fur ther to the decisions of 16-21 May and 26 June 2008, 

the Board of Directors of 26 June 2008 convened before 

notary for purposes of the issuance of the warrants in the 

framework of the authorized capital with cancellation of the 

preferential subscription r ight, where Ivan Brems and Alex 

De Ryck announced the same conflict of interest (see the 

description of the conflict in the paragraphs regarding the 
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meeting of 16-21 May 2008 above). The relevant ex tract 

of the Board minutes provided as fol lows:

“Thereupon, the present or represented Directors, 

other than those sub 1 and 2, unanimously take the 

fol lowing resolutions on agenda i tems 1 and 2:

FIRST RESOLUTION

The meeting takes note of the repor ts of the Board 

of Directors and of the auditor referred to in agenda 

i tem 1 in accordance respectively with ar t icle 583 and 

ar t icles 596 and 598 of the Belgian Companies Code 

regarding the issuance of warrants in the framework 

of the author ized capital as presented in agenda 

i tems 2 and 3 and regarding the cancel lat ion, in that 

respect, of the preferential subscr iption r ight of the 

exist ing shareholders. The president is released from 

reading the repor ts. Each member of the Board of 

Directors acknowledges having received a copy of the 

aforementioned repor ts and having read these repor ts. 

The meeting notes that no comments are made on 

the aforementioned repor ts and that no questions are 

raised, and approves the aforementioned repor ts of 

the Board of Directors in their enti rety. In addit ion, a 

copy of each of the aforementioned repor ts is handed 

over to the notar y, with a request to f i le these repor ts 

together with an excerpt from this deed with the 

clerk ’s of f ice of the commercial cour t. The conclusion 

of the aforementioned repor t of the auditor, “ERNST 

& YOUNG BEDRIJFSREVISOREN – REVISEURS 

D’ENTREPRISES”, represented by Mr Braes Rudi, 

auditor, with of f ices at 2140 Antwerp-Borgerhout, 

Joe Engl ishstraat 52, is as fol lows: 5. Conclusions. 

Fur ther to our review, we can conclude as fol lows: “ In 

accordance with ar t icle 598 of the Belgian Companies 

Code the exercise pr ice of the warrants is not lower 

than the average of the closing pr ices of the share of 

the Company on the London Stock Exchange dur ing 

a per iod of 30 calendar days pr ior to the date of 

issuance of the warrants. The f inancial and accounting 

data mentioned in the special repor t of the Board of 

Directors of 26 June 2008 are correct and suf f icient 

for purposes of providing the general meeting, which 

is to vote on the proposal to issue warrants, with 

information. 

SECOND RESOLUTION

Agenda item 2 is approved and the meeting resolves to 

issue, in the framework of the authorized capital, of up 

to 1,500,000 warrants, intended mainly for the personnel 

of the senior management level of the Company or 

i ts subsidiaries and other key persons (the “Executive 

Warrants”) under the terms and conditions set out in 

Annex 1 to the repor t of the Board of Directors mentioned 

in agenda item 1.1.a and which wil l be determined 

hereinaf ter.

The issuance of the Executive Warrants occurs in the 

framework of a warrants plan as included in the document 

referred to hereinaf ter as the “Hansen Warrants Plan 2007”.

Issuance conditions

The meeting approves the issuance conditions of the 

Executive Warrants and of the r ights of the Executive 

Warrant holders, including the terms of the of fering, 

acceptance and exercise of the Executive Warrants as 

included in the document “Hansen Warrants Plan 2007” 

dated 27 November 2007 and updated on 26 June 2008, 

which, af ter having been initial led and signed “ne varietur” 

by the members of the bureau and the undersigned notary, 

shall remain at tached to this deed in order to be registered 

together with this deed and to be an integral par t of this 

deed.

The meeting fur ther requests the notary to stipulate by 

deed that, in accordance with the terms of the “Hansen 

Warrants Plan 2007”:

•	 the Executive Warrants wil l be of fered for free to the 

beneficiar ies thereof;

•	 each Executive Warrant wil l entitle the holder thereof to 

subscribe to one share in the Company;

•	 the shares to be issued at the time of exercise of 

the Executive Warrants wil l have the same rights and 

benefits (including equal voting r ights, equal dividend 

r ights, equal r ights to a l iquidation bonus and equal 

r ights to reimbursement of capital) as the existing 

shares. Af ter the issuance of the new shares all then 

existing shares wil l represent an equal par t of the capital;

•	 for the issuance of these Executive Warrants no public offer 

has been made in the sense of the Law of 16 June 2006.
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Cancel lat ion of preferential subscr iption r ight

The meeting expl ici t ly resolves to cancel the preferential 

subscr iption r ight in favour of al l the persons mentioned 

in the agenda and in the repor t of the Board of Directors 

referred to in agenda i tem 1.1.b.

The meeting clar i f ies that the issuance of Executive 

Warrants is open to both employees of the Company 

or i ts subsidiar ies and other benef iciar ies mentioned 

hereinaf ter, i t being understood that the number of 

benef iciar ies who are not an employee of the Company 

or i ts subsidiar ies only represent a minor i ty of the total 

number of benef iciar ies and that, consequently, the 

number of Executive Warrants of fered to employees 

wi l l be greater than the number of Executive Warrants 

of fered to benef iciar ies who are not an employee of the 

Company or i ts subsidiar ies. (…) 

The Remuneration repor t as included in the annual repor t 

for the f iscal year ending 31 March 2008, which was 

approved by the Board of Directors on 16 May 2008 and 

which is avai lable on the Company’s website, provides an 

over view of the number of Executive Warrants that wi l l be 

of fered to the CEO and CFO.”

The Board of Directors of 22 July 2008 considered the 

resolution regarding executive remuneration and bonus 

scheme for the f inancial year 2009, where Ivan Brems and 

Alex De Ryck announced a conf l ict of interest. The relevant 

ex tract of the Board minutes provided as fol lows:

“The conf l ict ing interest consisted of the fact that the 

two executive Directors par t icipate in the executive 

remuneration and bonus scheme and wi l l therefore 

f inancial ly benef i t from the decisions taken. The 

scheme had been recommended by the Remuneration 

Commit tee, fol lowing review of the remuneration and 

bonus package for each member of senior management. 

The f inancial impact on the Company of the remuneration 

and bonus package of the executive Directors wi l l remain 

l imited to the f igures recommended by the Remuneration 

Commit tee. In view thereof, Ivan Brems and Alex De Ryck 

were of the opinion that the approval of the schemes 

was justi f ied. Ivan Brems and Alex De Ryck instructed 

the Company Secretar y to inform the statutor y auditor of 

the above, in accordance with ar t icle 523 of the Belgian 

Companies Code. Ivan Brems and Alex De Ryck did not 

par t icipate in the subsequent del iberations and decisions 

of the Board of Directors. 

Af ter having acknowledged the above and af ter 

del iberation of the relevant agenda i tem, the Board of 

Directors unanimously (except for Ivan Brems and Alex 

De Ryck, which did not par t icipate in the vote):

•	 ACKNOWLEDGED the recommendations made by the 

Remuneration Commit tee as a result of i ts meetings 

held on 26 June 2008 and 22 July 2008 with respect 

to the Executive Bonus and Executive Remuneration 

schemes for FY 2009 (the “Recommendations”) (cf. the 

minutes in appendix);

•	 RESOLVED to approve the Recommendations.”

The Board of Directors of 27 January 2009 considered the 

resolution regarding the execution of the First Amendment 

to the General Agreement between the Company and 

Suzlon and dated 31 August 2006 (relat ing to the supply 

of wind turbine gearboxes to Suzlon), where Tulsi R. Tanti 

announced a conf l ict of interest. The relevant ex tract of the 

Board minutes provided as fol lows:

“The conf l ict ing interest consisted of the fact that 

Tulsi R. Tanti is the Chairman and Managing Director 

of Suzlon and is a member of the promoter group of 

Suzlon (which is considered to act in concer t in relat ion 

to Suzlon in terms of the Indian Secur i ty Regulations 

(SEBI Regulations)), and that Tulsi R. Tanti may therefore 

f inancial ly benef i t from the First Amendment, which is 

an impor tant global procurement agreement for Suzlon. 

The Board ACKNOWLEDGED that the approval of the 

First Amendment was justi f ied, since (a) i t was an update 

of the regulation of the long term business relat ionship 

with Suzlon which by i tself was of strategic impor tance to 

the Company and (b) such update had posit ive f inancial 

ef fects for the Company. For a descr iption of the f inancial 

impact of the approval of the First Amendment, reference 

is made to the paragraphs here below. The Company 

Secretar y was instructed to inform the statutor y auditor 

of the above conf l ict ing interest si tuation, in accordance 

with ar t icle 523 of the Belgian Companies Code, Tulsi R. 
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Tanti did not par t icipate in the subsequent del iberations 

and decisions of the Board on this agenda i tem. 

Discussion 

The Board NOTED that i t was proposed that the 

Company and Suzlon Energy L imited (“Suzlon”) would 

enter into a 1st Amendment (the “First Amendment”) 

to the General Agreement between the Company and 

Suzlon dated 31 August 2006 relat ing to the supply of 

wind turbine gearboxes to Suzlon (the “GA”). At the Board 

meeting of 26 June 2008, i t had already been resolved 

that the special procedure provided for by ar t icle 524 of 

the Companies Code had to be appl ied in connection 

with the First Amendment. The Board had also appointed 

Bjerres Bureau Aps, Dr.- Ing. Winfr ied Walzer GmbH, 

and Marc Desaedeleer to the Commit tee of independent 

Directors referred to in ar t icle 524 of the Companies 

Code (the “Commit tee”), and Mat t ias Bruyneel, at torney 

at L inklaters LLP, as independent exper t with the 

mission of assist ing the Commit tee. Dr.- Ing. Winfr ied 

Walzer GmbH had carr ied out a number of ver i f ications 

on behalf of the Commit tee, which were to remain 

str ict ly conf idential g iven the business sensit ive nature 

of the data concerned. The mission of the Commit tee 

and of the independent exper t had been descr ibed in 

the “Repor t of the Commit tee establ ished pursuant to 

ar t icle 524 of the Belgian Companies Code on the First 

Amendment to the GA dated 28 October 2008” (the 

“Repor t ”). The Repor t wi l l remain at tached to the f inal 

minutes of this Meeting. 

The Board ACKNOWLEDGED that the advice of the 

Commit tee in relat ion to the First Amendment had been 

del ivered to the Board on 28 October 2008, as par t of 

the Repor t: 

“Having reviewed the First Amendment, the GA and 

the f inancial information provided by management in 

relat ion thereto, the Commit tee concluded that the 

decision to enter into the First Amendment did not 

entai l a disadvantage to the Company or the Company’s 

stakeholders and did not have a negative impact on 

the margin achieved by the Company. Accordingly, the 

Commit tee recommended to the Board of Directors to 

approve the First Amendment.”

Resolution

The Board then RESOLVED to approve and, insofar as 

applicable, ratify the execution of the First Amendment.“

Fur ther, the Board of Directors of 27 January 2009 

considered a resolution in relation to a Framework Supply 

Agreement (FSA) in negotiation between the Company and 

REpower Systems AG, where Tulsi R. Tanti announced a 

conflict of interest. The relevant extract of the Board minutes 

provided as follows:

“The conflicting interest consists of the fact that (a) Tulsi 

R. Tanti is the Chairman and Managing Director of Suzlon 

and is a member of the promoter group of Suzlon (which is 

considered to act in concer t in relation to Suzlon in terms 

of the Indian Security Regulations (SEBI Regulations)) and 

(b) Suzlon holds a controlling stake in REpower. In addition, 

Tulsi R. Tanti is the Chairman of the Supervisory Board of 

REpower. Tulsi R. Tanti may therefore financially benefit 

from the execution of the FSA with REpower. The Board 

ACKNOWLEDGED that the justif ication of the execution of 

the FSA with REpower would be examined in the framework 

of the procedure pursuant to ar ticle 524 of the Belgian 

Companies Code. In accordance with ar ticle 523 of the 

Belgian Companies Code, Tulsi R. Tanti will not par ticipate 

in the subsequent deliberations and decisions of the Board 

on this agenda item.

It was ACKNOWLEDGED that, since REpower is a 

subsidiary of Suzlon Energy Limited, in addition to ar ticle 

523 of the Belgian Companies Code, the provisions of 

ar ticle 524 of the Belgian Companies Code (on related 

par ty transactions) need to be followed. 

The Board RESOLVED to hereby constitute a special 

Committee consisting of three independent Directors in 

accordance with ar ticle 524 of the Belgian Companies 

Code, namely Bjerres Bureau Aps, Dr.-Ing. Winfried Walzer 

GmbH and Marc Desaedeleer (the “Committee”). All of 

the members are independent Directors in the sense of 

ar ticle 524, §4 of the Belgian Companies Code and are 

considered independent from the decision. The Company 

Secretary shall act as secretary to the Committee. The 

procedure to be followed will be similar as in the case of 

the 1st Amendment to the General Agreement with Suzlon.”
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Information about the Application of 
the Procedure provided for in Article 
524 of the Belgian Companies Code 
(Related Party Transactions) 

As referred to here above, the Board of Directors of 

27 January 2009 closed the special procedure provided 

for by ar ticle 524 of the Belgian Companies Code in the 

section in connection with the First Amendment to the 

General Agreement between the Company and Suzlon, 

dated 31 August 2006 (relating to the supply of wind turbine 

gearboxes to Suzlon). The conclusions of the Committee of 

independent Directors and an excerpt from the minutes of 

the Board of Directors in relation to this matter are set for th in 

the extract of the Board of Directors’ minutes of 27 January 

2009. The evaluation by the statutory auditor, which is to be 

published in accordance with the requirement of ar ticle 524 

of the Belgian Companies Code, was as follows: 

“Per formed procedures and f indings

Our procedures are the fol lowing within our engagement:

•	 Verifying if the f inancial information as l isted in the 

repor t of the Commit tee of independent Directors and 

the inter ference of the independent exper t d.d. 28 

October 2008 correspond to the underlying suppor ting 

documentation;

•	 Verifying if the f inancial information as l isted in the 

minutes of the Board of Directors d.d. 27 January 

2009 corresponds to the underlying suppor ting 

documentation;

•	 Verifying if the information as l isted in the repor t of the 

Commit tee of independent Directors and the information 

of the independent exper t correspond to the require-

ments per ar ticle 524 of the Belgian Companies Code.

On the basis of our procedures per formed we can 

conclude that no material f indings have to be repor ted.

Our procedures are per formed in accordance with the 

International Standard on Related Services applicable 

to agreed upon procedures engagements. The above 

procedures do not constitute either an audit or a review 

made in accordance with International Standards on 

Auditing and were per formed in accordance with the 

Standards from the “Instituut der bedri j fsrevisoren”. 

This implies that no assurance can be given concerning 

the rel iabil i ty of the related information, other than those 

aspects ver if ied by us and accordingly l isted by us within 

this repor t. Had we per formed additional procedures 

or had we per formed an audit or review in accordance 

with International Standards on Auditing or International 

Standards on Review Engagements, other matters might 

have come to our at tention that would have been of 

impor tance to you.

Our repor t is solely for the purpose as described in the 

scope of service as described above, and this repor t is 

not to be used for any other purpose. This repor t relates 

only to the information specif ied above and does not 

ex tend to any other information, taken as a whole. 

Antwerp, 9 March 2009

Ernst & Young Bedri jfsrevisoren BCVBA

Independent auditor

Represented by

Rudi Braes

Par tner”

Use of Financial Instruments 
by the Company & the Group

The principal f inancial instruments, other than derivatives, 

comprise bank loans and overdraf ts and loans given. The 

main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance 

for the Group’s operations. The Group has various financial 

assets such as trade receivables and cash and shor t-term 

deposits, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group is exposed to various financial r isks arising from 

its underlying operational and financing activities. These 

financial r isks comprise market r isks (interest r isk, currency 

risk and price risk), credit r isk and liquidity r isk. The Board of 

Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of 

these risks. Financial r isk management within the Group aims 

at reducing the impact of these market r isks through ongoing 

operational and financing activities.
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I t is Hansen’s policy and practice to use der ivatives 

exclusively as hedging instruments and not for trading or 

other speculative purposes. The Group does therefore not 

hold or issue any such instruments for such purposes. 

Fur ther detai ls on the f inancial r isk management objectives 

and policies of the Group are detai led in Note 22 of the 

Notes to the Financial Statements.

Information on Auditor’s Assignment 
and Related Fees

Audit Mandate

The remuneration of Ernst & Young Bedr i j fsrevisoren 

BCVBA for the exercise of the audit mandate and issuing 

statutor y audit opinions under Belgian GAAP and opinions 

on the consolidated f inancial statements prepared in 

accordance with IFRS amount to 950,000 euro annually. 

This amount is adaptable on the basis of the evolution of 

the index and in case of a fundamental modif ication of the 

structure of the Company or a modif ication of the scope of 

the audit.

Actual Fees FY 2009

The audit fee the Company paid to Ernst & Young Bedrijfs

revisoren BCVBA to issue opinions on the statutory and the 

consolidated financial statements – prepared in accordance 

with IFRS – of Hansen Transmissions International NV for 

the financial year ended 31 March 2009 and for the limited 

review repor ts on the interim repor ting for the periods ended 

30 June, 30 September and 31 December 2008 prepared in 

accordance with IAS 34 amounted to 1,256,000 euro.

The Company fur ther engaged other member firms of 

Ernst & Young and paid:

-	 for tax consultancy (advisory and compliance) 

394,000 euro;

-	 for non-audit other services 139,000 euro; and

-	 for other attestation assignments 11,000 euro.

Ernst & Young Bedrijfsrevisoren BCVBA, with registered 

office at 2140 Borgerhout, Joe Englishstraat 52, represented 

by Rudi Braes was appointed by the annual shareholders’ 

meeting in June 2008 as statutory auditor for a period of 

three years ending af ter the annual general shareholders’ 

meeting of 2011. 
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Information provided in accordance 
with article 34 of the Royal Decree 
of 14 November 2007

Capital structure, shares, depositary interests  

and warrants

Shares and depositary interests

As at 31 March 2009, the share capital of the Company 

amounts to 17,966,814.57 euro. It is represented by 

670,104,208 shares, fully paid-up, without nominal 

value, each representing an equal par t of the capital. All 

shares are in registered form and admitted to the Official 

List of the Financial Services Authority and to trading 

on the main market of the London Stock Exchange. In 

the section on “Shareholders and Director’s interests” 

included in this Repor t, it is explained that depositary 

interests have been issued in respect of the shares (each 

depositary interest representing one share).

Warrants

Of the warrants that were issued under the Hansen 

Warrants Plan 2007 and the Employee Warrants Grant 

2008 on 26 June 2008, a total of 2,072,300 warrants 

were effectively accepted in accordance with the 

respective plan rules. Subject to the conditions set out 

in the respective plans, the exercise of a warrant with 

grant date of 26 June 2008 will give the right to subscribe 

to one share of the Company at a subscription price of 

295 GBX. The exercise period of these warrants star ts 

on 1 January 2012 and ends on 26 June 2013. The 

number of outstanding warrants at 31 March 2009 is 

2,071,100 warrants.

Other convertible securities

As at 31 March 2009, the Company has not issued 

any conver tible securities, exchangeable securities or 

securities with warrants attached. 

Transfer restrictions

The shares of the Company are not subject to any legal 

or statutory transfer restrictions.

Holders with special rights

Pursuant to Ar t icle 16(4) of the Company’s ar t icles of 

association, two Directors (each a nominee Director) shal l 

be appointed by the general shareholders’ meeting from 

a l ist of at least two candidates for each Directorship 

posit ion proposed by Suzlon Energy for as long as Suzlon 

Energy or any of i ts af f i l iated companies controls, directly 

or indirectly, at least 26% of the voting r ights in the 

Company at the date of the relevant appointment decision. 

Suzlon Energy may choose to only f i l l  one nominee 

Director posit ion. As at 31 March 2009, Mr. Tulsi R. Tanti 

is the only nominee Director for Suzlon Energy.

In connection with the transfer by Suzlon Energy of 

67,010,421 depositar y interests in the Company to Ecof in, 

ef fective on 26 January 2009, the Company was informed 

that Suzlon Energy ( i) had permit ted Ecof in L imited to 

nominate the second nominee Director and, i f requested 

by Ecof in, procure that such second nominee Director be 

free (under the terms of the relat ionship agreement dated 

5 December 2007 entered into between the Company and 

Suzlon Energy (the “Relat ionship Agreement”)) to inform 

and consult with Ecof in about the Hansen Group in the 

framework of the exercise of his mandate as member of 

the Board of Directors; or ( i i ) i f requested by Ecof in at any 

t ime when Ecof in does not have i ts nominee appointed as 

second nominee Director, wil l make cer tain information 

avai lable to Ecof in. Subject to specif ic under tak ings to 

the Company set for th in the Ecof in under tak ing let ter 

dated 26 March 2009 (the “Ecof in Under tak ings”), the 

Company consented, in the case of the appointment by 

the Company of the Ecof in nominee Director, to such 

Director informing and consult ing with Ecof in as set 

out here above, and to Suzlon Energy providing cer tain 

information to Ecof in. Moreover, the Company consented, 

in the event that the Ecof in nominee Director would not be 

appointed by the Company, to Suzlon providing cer tain 

l imited information to Ecof in. 

Systems of control of employee share schemes  

where the control rights are not exercised directly  

by the employees

There are no such employee share schemes within 

Hansen.
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Restrictions on voting rights

Each capital share carries one vote. There are no legal 

or statutory voting restrictions. Voting rights are however 

suspended in cer tain circumstances as referred to in ar ticles 

442 and 585, 541 paragraph 3, 622, §1 first paragraph, 627 

and 630, §1 first paragraph, 631, §1 first paragraph, and 632, 

§4 of the Belgian Companies Code (currently not applicable 

to the Company). In addition, voting rights may be restricted 

or suspended in case of: shares subject to usufruct, pledge 

or co-ownership; non-compliance with ar ticle 545 of the 

Belgian Companies Code (notif ications in accordance with 

the transparency rules); or suspension by a competent cour t 

or the CBFA in cer tain circumstances.

Shareholder agreements known to the Company  

that may result in restrictions on the transfer of  

shares and/or the exercise of voting rights

The Board of Directors is not aware of any agreements 

between shareholders that may result in restrictions on the 

transfer of shares and/or the exercise of voting rights, other 

than the following arrangements:

•	 Pursuant to cer tain lock-up arrangements entered into 

by the Executive Directors and cer tain members of the 

Executive Committee in favour of AE-Rotor Holding BV, 

these persons have agreed not to transfer or dispose of 

any shares until 30 September 2009, except for (i) the 

right of each of them to accept a general of fer made to all 

holders of issued shares in accordance with applicable 

takeover regulations, and (ii) cer tain other instances where 

AE-Rotor Holding BV has agreed to release these lock-up 

arrangements. 

•	 Pursuant to the Relationship Agreement entered into 

between the Company and Suzlon Energy, the latter 

under took (i) to vote to ensure the Company can operate 

and make decisions for the benefit of the shareholders 

of the Company as a whole and independently of Suzlon 

Energy, and (ii) not to vote in favour of, or propose, any 

resolution to amend the constitutional documents of the 

Company which would be contrary to the principle of 

independence of the Company for the purposes of the 

UK Listing Rules except with the approval of a majority of 

shareholders other than Suzlon Energy or its associates.

•	 Ecofin has undertaken to Suzlon Energy, subject to certain 

customary exceptions, not to dispose of the 67,010,421 

depositary interests in the Company acquired from Suzlon 

Energy (effective on 26 January 2009), until after 30 June 

2009. This lock-up is renounceable in certain circumstances.

•	 Pursuant to the Ecofin Under takings, Ecofin under took 

(i) to abstain from voting on any resolution to approve a 

transaction with a related par ty involving Ecofin or any of 

its Associates, and (ii) not to vote in favour of, or propose, 

any resolution to amend the constitutional documents 

of the Company which could be contrary to the Ecofin 

Under takings except with the approval of a majority of 

shareholders other than Ecofin. 

Rules governing the appointment  

and replacement of Board members

The Board of Directors of the Company must be composed 

of a minimum of six and a maximum of 11 members. The 

Directors are appointed for a term of no more than three years 

by ordinary shareholders’ resolution. The general shareholders’ 

meeting is entitled to dismiss them at any time. At least half 

of the members of the Board must comprise independent 

non-executive Directors, and not more than half will comprise 

non-independent Directors (whether because of them being 

members of management or associated with Suzlon Energy). 

Moreover, at least three Directors must be independent 

Directors within the meaning of ar ticle 524 of the Belgian 

Companies Code. If a directorship becomes vacant before 

the expiry of its term, the remaining Directors will have the 

right to temporarily appoint a new Director to fill the vacancy 

until the shareholders resolve at a shareholders’ meeting to 

appoint a new Director. Directors may be re-elected for a new 

term. Non-executive Directors who have been in office for 

nine consecutive years can be reappointed for one-year terms 

only. See also the section on “Holders with special rights” with 

respect to Suzlon Energy’s and Ecofin’s nomination rights.

Rules governing the amendment 

 of the articles of association

Except in respect of capital increases resolved by the Board 

of Directors within the limits of the authorized capital, only 

the general shareholders’ meeting is entitled to amend the 

ar ticles of association of the Company.
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The general shareholders’ meeting may only deliberate on 

amendments of the ar ticles of association if f if ty per cent 

(50%) of the share capital is present or represented. If that 

quorum is not attained, a new general shareholders’ meeting 

is to be convened where no quorum shall apply. In case of 

variation of class rights, a quorum of fif ty per cent (50%) in 

each class is required.

Amendments of the ar ticles of association are only adopted 

with a special majority of seventy-five per cent (75%) of the 

votes cast. In cer tain cases, a higher majority is required, 

namely for amendment of the purpose clause (80%), and a 

modification of the legal form (80%).

Powers of the Board of Directors  

relating to the issuance of shares

On 27 November 2007, the extraordinary shareholders’ 

meeting authorized the Board of Directors to increase the 

Company’s share capital, in one or more transactions, up 

to a maximum amount which must not exceed an aggregate 

amount of 5,841,228.23 euro. The authorization is valid for a 

period of f ive years from 21 December 2007 onwards. As a 

matter of law, the authorization cannot be used for a capital 

increase primarily ef fected by contribution in kind by a person 

holding, alone or with other par ties, more than 10% of the 

voting rights. 

In the case of a capital increase pursuant to the authorized 

capital, the Board of Directors may (in the interests of the 

Company) restrict or cancel the preferential subscription 

rights of the shareholders, including in favour of one or more 

specific persons other than employees. However, such 

application of the authorization is subject to an additional 

limitation in time (i.e. for a period not exceeding 15 months) 

and a limitation to 5% of the share capital (in the aggregate). 

Offers of equity securities which are open for acceptance 

(i) to existing shareholders on the basis of preference rights 

or other persons so entitled (subject to cer tain exclusions) 

or (ii) in the framework of share schemes for management 

and employees of the Company or its subsidiaries, are not 

subject to these additional limitations, however. It should 

be noted that the above-mentioned limited period may 

be renewed by resolution of the shareholders’ meeting 

adopted by a simple majority of the votes cast, each 

time for a period not exceeding 15 months. At the annual 

shareholders’ meeting held on 26 June 2008, the meeting 

resolved to renew this par ticular authorization for the period 

expiring on 26 September 2009 or, if earlier, the date of the 

annual shareholders’ meeting to be held in 2009. A fur ther 

renewal is being put on the agenda of the upcoming annual 

shareholders’ meeting.

The Board of Directors has used its authority to increase the 

share capital of the Company in the financial year ending 

31 March 2009 to issue warrants in the framework and within 

the limits of (i) the Hansen Warrants Plan 2007 as approved 

by the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting of the Company 

of 27 November 2007 and (ii) the Employee Warrants Grant 

2008, as approved by the extraordinary shareholders’ 

meeting of the Company of 27 November 2007. See also the 

section on “Capital structure, shares, depositary interests and 

warrants” with respect to the Hansen Warrants Plan 2007 and 

the Employee Warrants Grant 2008. 

Powers of the Board of Directors  

relating to buy-back of shares

On 27 November 2007, the extraordinary shareholders’ 

meeting authorized the Board of Directors, in accordance 

with ar ticle 620 and following of the Belgian Companies Code 

and within the limits set out in this provision, to acquire, on 

or outside the stock exchange, a number of the Company’s 

own shares or profit sharing cer tif icates (or depositary 

receipts relating to the same) representing a maximum of 

10% of the subscribed capital. The price applicable to such 

buy-back of shares must be within a range stipulated by the 

Company’s ar ticles of association. If the acquisition is made 

by the Company outside the stock exchange, even from a 

subsidiary, the Company shall make an of fer on the same 

terms and conditions to all the shareholders, in accordance 

with Ar ticle 620, §1, 5° of the Belgian Companies Code. 

This authorization was valid for an 18-month period as from 

27 November 2007. At the annual shareholders’ meeting 

held on 26 June 2008, the meeting resolved to renew this 

authorization for a fur ther period for the period expiring on 26 

December 2009. The annual shareholders’ meeting will be 

asked to renew this authorization for a fur ther period.

The Board of Directors has not made use of its authority to 

buy back shares of the Company in the financial year ending 

on 31 March 2009.
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No frustrating action against takeovers

Pursuant to Ar ticle 557 of the Belgian Companies Code, 

af ter notif ication of a takeover of fer to the Company, the 

Board of Directors may not (i) conclude transactions which 

may substantially modify the composition of the assets or 

liabilit ies of the Company, or (i i) accept obligations without 

an actual consideration. These transactions or decisions 

may also not be ef fected or taken conditional upon either 

the success or failure of the takeover of fer. However, if 

these transactions are suf f iciently advanced prior to the 

notif ication of the takeover of fer, the Board of Directors is 

permit ted to conclude these transactions. Subject to prior 

authorization by the shareholders, the Board of Directors of 

a Belgian company may, in cer tain circumstances, frustrate 

public takeover of fers by way of dilutive issuances of 

equity securities or share buy-backs.

•	 In principle, a board of directors’ authority to increase 

the share capital of a Belgian company through issues 

of shares in cash by cancelling or restr icting the 

preferential subscription r ights of shareholders, will be 

suspended upon the notif ication to such company by 

the CBFA of a public takeover of fer in relation to such 

company’s securities. Shareholders can, however, 

expressly authorize the board of directors of a company 

to increase the share capital by issuing shares in an 

amount of not more than 10% of the existing shares of 

the Company at the time of such a public takeover of fer. 

Such authorization has not, however, been granted to 

the Board of Directors of the Company. 

•	 Pursuant to the Belgian Companies Code, the ar ticles 

of association of a company may authorize the board 

of directors, without prior shareholder approval, to 

purchase and hold its shares in case of imminent 

serious harm to the company. The ar ticles of association 

of the Company do not provide for such authorization.

Significant agreements of the Company which take 

effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control 

of the Company following a takeover bid, and the 

effect thereof

Pursuant to the terms of the Relationship Agreement 

between the Company and Suzlon Energy dated 

5 December 2007, this agreement shall terminate 

automatically as soon as Suzlon Energy holds less than 

10% of the Company’s voting r ights or the Company 

ceases to be admit ted to the Of ficial List. In that case, the 

independence of the Company is no longer ensured by 

Suzlon Energy.

Likewise, the obligations of the Company to Ecofin and 

most of the Ecofin Under takings (cfr. the discussion of 

Holders with Special Rights here above) shall terminate 

automatically as soon as the Relationship Agreement is 

terminated.

On 8 April 2008, the Company and its subsidiary, Hansen 

Drives Ltd., entered into a buyer credit agreement and 

a tied commercial loan with Société Générale (France) 

providing for the f inancing of the price of several machines 

purchased by Hansen Drives Ltd. from equipment 

suppliers in connection with the plant under construction 

in Coimbatore, India, for an aggregate credit amount of 

approximately 90 mill ion euro. These agreements contain a 

covenant of the Company to procure that, in respect of any 

of its shareholders that own more than 30% of its issued 

share capital, a relationship agreement shall be entered 

into between such shareholder and the Company.

Agreements between the Company and 

its Directors or employees providing for 

compensation, when as a result of a takeover bid, 

the Directors resign or are made redundant without 

valid reason or if employment ceases

There are no agreements providing for this type of clauses 

specif ically in relation to change of control or take-over 

bits.

Information provided in accordance  
with the Law of 17 December 2008

The Audit Commit tee comprises 3 independent 

non-executive Directors and is chaired by Bjerres Bureau 

Aps (represented by its permanent representative Torben 

Bjerre Madsen). Its other members are Dr.-Ing. Winfr ied 

Walzer GmbH (represented by its permanent representative 

Dr. Winfr ied Walzer) and Jann Brown. Jann Brown became 
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a member of the Commit tee in June 2008, holding the 

position of Finance Director of Cairn Energy PLC (a FTSE 

100 company) which she joined af ter a career in the 

accounting profession (mainly KPMG). The members of 

the Audit Commit tee have suf f icient exper tise in f inancial, 

accounting and audit matters and are all considered to 

be independent in character and judgment, as appears 

from the section on Directors included in the Corporate 

Governance Statement.

Statutory Results of Hansen 
Transmissions International NV

This section covers the repor t by the Board of Directors on 

the statutory (unconsolidated) f inancial statements, which 

are available in condensed format on pages 124 – 126. 

These unconsolidated statements have been prepared in 

accordance with Belgian accounting laws and regulations 

which dif fer in cer tain aspects from IFRS.

The balance sheet total per 31 March 2009 amounts to 

887,202,257 euro compared with 827,678,458 euro one year 

ear lier.

Tangible fixed assets

The f ixed assets have decreased by 8.7 mill ion euro 

net in 2009. The investments amounted to 49.7 mill ion 

euro compared with depreciations of 58.3 mill ion euro. 

The major ity of these investments were related to the 

investments in the production facil i ty in Lommel, Belgium.

Formation expenses

The formation expenses decreased by 0.8 mill ion euro as a 

consequence of depreciations.

Financial fixed assets

These assets of 211.2 mill ion euro represent the acquisition 

value of the subsidiar ies of Hansen Transmissions 

International NV. The impor tant increase of the f inancial f ixed 

assets can mainly be explained by the capital increase in 

the subsidiar ies in Hong Kong and Singapore, which relate 

to the investments in China and India. 

The Company has subsidiaries in Australia, the 

United Kingdom, the United States of America, Brazil, China, 

India, Hong Kong, Singapore, Belgium, and via the United 

Kingdom in South-Africa. Apart from these subsidiaries, 

the Company has representations internationally in the 

Netherlands, France, Germany, Japan, Italy and Canada.

Stocks

Stocks increased by 36.1 million euro, mainly explained by the 

fur ther growth of the Company.

Amounts receivable within one year

On 31 March 2009 the trade debtors amounted to 212.5 million 

euro compared with 94.4 million euro on 31 March 2008. The 

other amounts receivable amounted to 27.6 million euro (27.4 

million euro in 2008). The major components of this receivable 

concern 16 million euro receivable from subsidiaries, 4.9 million 

euro recoverable VAT and grants receivable for 2.9 million euro.

Current investments

The current investments amount to 61.5 million euro and relate 

mainly to short-term investments earning interest and are 

dependent on the cash requirements of the Group.

Cash at bank and in hand

These increased from 0.6 million euro to 12.6 million euro.

Deferred charges and accrued income

These decreased from 1.1 million euro to 0.9 million euro.

Equity

Equity increased from 486.9 million euro to 514.1 million euro 

due to the appropriation of the profit of the year of 28.7 million 

euro to the profit carried forward.

Provisions and deferred taxes

On 31 March 2009 these amounted to 6.2 million euro, which 

represents a decrease of 0.07 million euro. This is mainly due 

to the decrease in the deferred taxes.
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Amounts payable

The total amounts payable increased by 32.3 mil l ion 

euro. The main reason concerns the increase of the 

trade debts which have increased by 12.7 mil l ion euro 

and the other amounts payable with 14.5 mil l ion euro 

as a consequence of the expansion of the activ i t ies.

Income statement

The turnover amounted to 598.6 mil l ion euro. This 

represented an increase of 49.7%. The gain on 

ordinar y activ i t ies amounted to 28.5 mil l ion euro. The 

prof i t to be appropr iated amounted to 28.7 mil l ion euro 

which was al located integral ly to the accumulated 

prof i ts which amounted to 51.2 mil l ion euro as per 31 

March 2009.

Financial instruments

The Company uses dif ferent f inancial instruments 

to hedge i ts r isk relat ing to exchange rate, interest 

f luctuations or credit r isk; al l t rade receivables are 

insured. I f no insurance could be obtained, suf f icient 

reserves were elaborated or the necessar y procedures 

were applied such as cash payment at del iver y for 

cover ing the cl ient r isk. Interest f luctuations are 

capped by interest l imit ing hedges and r isk relat ing to 

exchange transactions is covered by exchange rate 

term contracts.

Environment

We make continuous ef for ts in respecting the 

environment legislat ion applicable and also for the 

consciousness-raising of more environmental focused 

work ing within the Company.

Allocation of the statutory result

We ask the shareholders to appropr iate the prof i t of 

the f inancial year, amounting to 28.7 mil l ion euro, as 

fol lows: the amount of 28.7 mil l ion euro, af ter al location 

of an amount of 487 thousand euro to the legal 

reserve, to be carr ied forward to the fol lowing f inancial 

year and no div idend to be distr ibuted.

Board of Directors’ Report

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities 
in Respect of Financial Statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for preparing the 

annual Directors’ Repor t and the statutory and consolidated 

annual accounts in accordance with applicable law and 

regulations. Belgian company law requires the Board of 

Directors to prepare statutory and consolidated annual 

accounts for each financial year. Under that law, the 

Company is required to prepare the financial statements 

of the Group in accordance with International Financial 

Repor ting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the IASB and 

IFRS as adopted by the EU and the Company’s financial 

statements in accordance with Belgian generally accepted 

accounting practice (Belgian GAAP).

On behalf and for the account of the Company, Mr. Ivan 

Brems and Mr. Alex De Ryck state that, to the best of their 

knowledge:

(i) the financial statements prepared in accordance with 

Belgian GAAP (as regards the statutory annual accounts) 

and IAS/IFRS (as regards the consolidated annual accounts) 

give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, f inancial 

position and profit or loss of Hansen Transmissions 

International NV and the under takings included in the 

consolidation taken as a whole; and

(ii) this annual Directors’ Repor t includes a fair review of 

the development and per formance of the business and 

the position of Hansen Transmissions International NV and 

the under takings included in the consolidation taken as a 

whole, together with a description of the principal r isks and 

uncer tainties that they face.

The names and functions of the Directors of the Company 

are listed in the Corporate Governance Statement contained 

in this repor t.

Ivan Brems		

Director		

Alex De Ryck

Director
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Shareholders and Director’s Interests

According to the transparency notifications received by the 

Company as at 7 May 2009, the shareholder structure looks as 

follows:

Shareholder n° of shares % of share capital

AE-Rotor Holding B.V. 1 410,632,079 61.28%

Ecofin Limited 2 68,888,973 10.28%

Wellington Management 
Company LLP.

32,524,079 4.85%

4 physical persons 3 8,884,375 1.33%

Others 149,174,702 22.26%

Total 670,104,208 100.00%
1	 AE-Rotor Holding B.V. is directly controlled by Suzion Energy Ltd.

2	 Acting in concert with AE-Rotor Holding B.V.

3	 Acting in concert with AE-Rotor Holding B.V.

Depositary Interests

Capital IRG Trustees (Nominees) Ltd acts as nominee for Capita 

IRG Trustees Ltd (the “Depositary”) in respect of the voting shares. 

The Depositary issued, in respect of these voting shares and 

in co-operation with the Company, depositary interests (“DIs”) 

(“Aandelencertificaten”) each representing one ordinary share in 

Hansen in order for Hansen’s securities to be settled through the 

CREST system and traded on the London Stock Exchange.

The Depositary holds the voting shares on trust for the benefit 

of the DI holders. The DI holder has all rights attaching to the 

underlying voting shares as if the DI holder were named on 

Hansen’s share register itself, except for the voting rights in 

respect of which the DI holders are entitled to give instructions 

to Capita. Capita will only exercise the voting rights in respect of 

the underlying voting shares on the express instructions of the DI 

holders. Subject to certain formalities under the Trust Deed Poll 

by Capita IRG Trustees Ltd, the DI holder is entitled to cancel at 

all times its DIs and to convert these DIs in the underlying voting 

shares at the DI holder’s discretion and expense. 

The Directors of the Company have the following interests in the 

Company:

Director n° of shares % of share capital

Ivan Brems 2,665,312.5 0.40%

Alex De Ryck 1,776,875 0.27%

Torben Bjerre-Madsen� 13,500 0.002%

Total 4,455,687.5 0.67%
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Details of Contracts of Significance 
between the Company (or its Subsidiaries) 
and a Controlling Shareholder

Relationship Agreement with Suzlon Energy

On 5 December 2007, the Company and Suzlon Energy 

entered into the Relationship Agreement regulating the ongoing 

relationship between the Company and Suzlon Energy. 

The principal purpose of the Relationship Agreement is to 

ensure that the Company and its subsidiaries are capable of 

carrying on their business independently of Suzlon Energy 

and its associates, that transactions and relationships with 

Suzlon Energy and its associates are at arm’s length and on 

normal commercial terms, and that the Company is governed 

in accordance with principles of good governance. The 

Relationship Agreement also contains undertakings of Suzlon 

Energy as controlling shareholder on transactions between the 

Company and Suzlon Energy which may give rise to conflicts of 

interest or fall under the provisions of the Listing Rules in respect 

of related party transactions and on competing interests.

Wind Turbine Gearbox Supply Arrangements

On 31 August 2006, Hansen and Suzlon Energy entered into 

a long-term supply agreement for the supply of wind turbine 

gearboxes for a minimum term of five years. The agreement 

provides for minimum purchase commitments, sets out 

maximum order amounts which Hansen commits to using 

its best endeavours to meet, contains an after sales service 

provision, and provides for a warranty in line with the warranty 

given to Hansen’s other wind turbine manufacturing customers. 

The price for Hansen’s gearboxes is now subject to half-annual 

review by reference to certain labour and raw material indices. 

A first amendment to this agreement was entered into on 

18 April 2008.

In addition, Hansen is currently developing a customized 

wind turbine gearbox for REpower (an associate company of 

Suzlon Energy) and is negotiating the terms of a general supply 

agreement with REpower.

Other Arrangements

Suzlon Infrastructure Limited (formerly known as Aspen 

Infrastructure Limited), a company controlled by Hansen’s 

Chairman, Mr. Tulsi R. Tanti and his family, and therefore an 

associate of Suzlon Energy which is also controlled by Mr. 

Tulsi R. Tanti, has entered into two agreements with Hansen 

Drives Limited, Hansen’s Indian subsidiary, pursuant to which 

Suzlon Infrastructure Limited has been appointed by Hansen 

Drives Limited in connection with the Group’s leasing of land in 

Coimbatore, India.

Apart from the above, neither Suzlon Energy nor any of its 

associate companies provides any services to the Company, 

or its subsidiaries.

Glossary

“Admission” means the admission of the Company’s ordinary 

shares to the Official List and to trading on the main market of 

the London Stock Exchange.

“CBFA” – Commissie voor het Bank-, Financie- en 

Assurantiewezen, the Belgian financial markets regulator.

“Company” or “Hansen” means Hansen Transmissions 

International NV.

“Depositary” means Capita IRG Trustees Limited of The 

Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU.

“Global Co-ordinators” means Goldman Sachs International 

and Merrill Lynch International, who acted as joint global 

co-ordinators of the initial public offering of the Company.

“Group” means Hansen Transmissions International NV and 

its subsidiaries.

“Listing Rules” means the rules on listings made in 

accordance with section 73A of the UK Financial Services and 

Markets Act 2000 (as amended).

“OEM” means Original Equipment Manufacturer.

“Official List” means the Official List of the Financial 

Services Authority.

“Relationship Agreement” means the relationship 

agreement entered into between Hansen Transmissions 

International NV and Suzlon Energy Limited, dated 5 December 

2007.

“Suzlon Energy” means Suzlon Energy Limited.

“Underwriting Agreement” means the agreement between 

the Company, Suzlon Energy Limited, the Directors of the 

Company, the underwriters (the Global Co-ordinators and KBC 

Securities NV) pursuant to which the underwriters agreed to 

procure subscribers for a number of shares in the framework of 

the initial public offering.
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The Board of Directors recognizes that good corporate 

governance is in the best interest of the Company’s 

shareholders. The Directors are committed to high standards 

of corporate governance and have made it Company policy to 

achieve best practice in its standards of business integrity in 

all its activities around the world. This includes a commitment 

to follow the highest standards of corporate governance 

throughout the Group. This section of the annual f inancial 

repor t describes the Company’s corporate governance 

arrangements. 

Code on Corporate Governance 

The Board of Directors has resolved to apply section 1 of the 

Combined Code on Corporate Governance annexed to the 

Listing Rules (the “Combined Code”) as this was deemed 

appropriate in view of the admission of the shares to the 

Official List and to trading on the London Stock Exchange 

on 11 December 2007 (“Admission”). For this reason, the 

Board of Directors has also resolved not to apply the Belgian 

Corporate Governance Code, which applies to Belgian 

companies admitted to trading on a regulated market, such 

as the Company, and is built on the ‘comply or explain’ 

principle. 

The Company has applied the main principles set out in 

section 1 of the Combined Code since Admission. The Board 

of Directors has determined that there are no matters of 

non-compliance to be repor ted. 

Board of Directors 

Composition of the Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors consists of the non-executive 

Chairman, representing Suzlon Energy, four independent 

non-executive Directors and two executive Directors. 

The Board of Directors considers all of the non-executive 

Directors, with the exception of the Chairman, to be 

independent in character and judgment for the purposes of 

the Combined Code and the Belgian Companies Code. 

•	 As regards Dr.-Ing. Winfried Walzer GmbH, it is to be 

noted that the Company and Dr.-Ing. Winfried Walzer 

GmbH had entered into a consultancy contract on 5 July 

2007 (the “Consultancy Contract”), but that this contract 

was terminated with effect on 30 September 2007. The 

Board of Directors acknowledged that the existence of the 

Consultancy Contract did not constitute a circumstance 

affecting the judgment of Dr.-Ing. Winfried Walzer GmbH 

as an independent Director (having regard to, among other 

things, the short period of performance, the type of services 

rendered during such brief period, the lack of exclusivity in 

the relationship and the fact that the Consultancy Contract 

represented only a limited percentage of the total turnover of 

Dr.-Ing. Winfried Walzer GmbH). 

•	 As regards Marc Desaedeleer, it is to be noted that he 

holds the position of Chief Investment Officer of CVCI 

(CitiGroup Venture Capital International), a shareholder of 

the Company. For purposes of the independent Director 

status under the Belgian Companies Code, a Director 

should (among other restrictions) not hold more than 10% of 

the equity of the Company (or “control” companies holding 

such stake) or maintain a relationship with a company 

which could jeopardise his independent judgement. The 

Board of Directors notes that the level of shareholding of 

funds managed by CVCI amounts to 1,0% of the capital of 

the Company and therefore lower than 10% i.e., a relevant 

threshold under the Combined Code as well as the Belgian 

Corporate Governance Code), and that the shareholding 

only represents a small par t of the por t folio managed by 

CVCI. In addition, Marc Desaedeleer has confirmed to the 

Board of Directors that he does not exercise his function as 

Director on the Board as a representative of CVCI and that, 

accordingly, his relationship with the latter will not af fect his 

Corporate Governance 
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independent judgment. Having regard to the criteria under 

the Belgian Companies Code and the Combined Code, the 

Board of Directors is of the opinion that Marc Desaedeleer 

is independent in character and judgment, and that his 

relationship with CVCI, as it currently stands, is not likely to 

af fect, or appear to af fect, his judgment as an independent 

Director. 

Induction process 

On appointment, an induction process is organized in which 

Directors participate depending on their familiarity with the 

Group’s business. Such induction process is designed to 

develop the Directors’ knowledge and understanding of the 

Group’s business through visits to various operating sites, 

presentations on relevant technology, product demonstrations, 

briefings from management and a familiarization with investor 

perceptions of the Group. During the course of the financial 

year, additional briefing sessions and site visits have been 

organized, including the site visit to the new production facility 

in Coimbatore, India, in January 2009. 

Directors 

The Board of Directors currently consists of the following 

persons: 

•	 Tulsi R. Tanti, Chairman. Tulsi R. Tanti joined the Group 

in 2006. 

•	 Ivan Brems, Chief Executive Officer.  

Ivan Brems joined the Group in 1984, and became a 

member of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive 

Officer in 2006. 

•	 Alex De Ryck, Chief Financial Officer.  

Alex De Ryck joined the Group in 2004 as Chief Financial 

Officer. He became a member of the Board of Directors in 

2004. 

•	 Torben Bjerre-Madsen, permanent representative of 

Bjerres Bureau Aps., non-executive Director. 

Torben Bjerre-Madsen joined the Group in 2005 as a 

non-executive member of the Board of Directors. 

•	 Marc Desaedeleer, non-executive Director.  

Marc Desaedeleer joined the Group in 2006. 

•	 Dr. Winfried Walzer, permanent representative 

of Dr.-Ing. Winfried Walzer GmbH, non-executive 

Director. Dr. Winfried Walzer joined the Group in 2007 as a 

non-executive Director. 

•	 Jann Brown, non-executive Director and senior 

independent Director. Jann Brown joined the group 

at the 2008 annual shareholders’ meeting as (senior) 

non-executive independent Director of the Company. 

Operation of the Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors is the ultimate decision-making body 

of the Company, with the exception of the matters reserved 

for the shareholders’ meeting as provided by law or the 

Ar ticles of Association. The responsibility of the Board of 

Directors includes amongst others: strategy, r isk management 

policy, composition and responsibility of committees. 

There is a division of responsibility between the Chairman, 

Tulsi R. Tanti, and the Chief Executive Officer, Ivan Brems. 

The Chairman is responsible for keeping the strategic 

direction of the Group under review and for ensuring that the 

Board of Directors functions ef fectively. His commitments 

other than to the Group are set out in the section 

“Commitments of the Chairman”. The Chief Executive Officer 

is responsible for the operation and development of the 

Group’s business. 

The Board of Directors has delegated cer tain responsibilities 

to the Executive Committee, but by vir tue of the Belgian 

Companies Code, the responsibilities of the Board of 

Directors in any event include (i) the general policy of the 

Company, (ii) the powers which are exclusively conferred on 

the Board of Directors by law or by the Ar ticles of Association, 

and (iii) the supervision of the Executive Committee. 

In addition, the Board of Directors has reserved competence 

on a number of matters including: approval of the Group’s 

long-term objectives; approval of the business plan and 

annual operating and capital expenditure budgets and any 

material changes or deviations to them; approval of new debt 

agreements and the purchase and sale of land and buildings 

of the Group; extension of the Group’s activities into new 

business or geographic areas either by internal expansion or 

by acquisitions, to the extent such extension is considered 

strategic; changes relating to the Group’s capital structure, 

including share issues and capital increase, share buybacks 

including the use of treasury shares, subject to the Articles 

of Association and shareholder approval as appropriate; any 

changes to the Company’s listing or its status as a public NV/
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SA subject to the Articles of Association and shareholders’ 

approval as appropriate; major changes to the Group’s 

corporate structure and purpose, including creating a new legal 

entity or establishing a joint venture subject to the Articles of 

Association and shareholder approval, as appropriate; changes 

to the Group’s management and control structure; approval of 

preliminary announcements of interim and final results; matters 

in respect of Board membership and appointments, subject to 

the powers of the general shareholders’ meeting; determining 

the remuneration policy for the executive Directors, and other 

senior executives; the introduction of new share incentive plans 

or major changes to existing plans, to be put to shareholders 

for approval as appropriate; approval of the terms of reference 

of Board Committees and the Executive Committee (and 

any changes thereto), appointment of their members and 

supervision; and approval of policies required by law or which 

the Board of Directors deems appropriate, including the share 

dealing code. 

Before each meeting of the Board of Directors, the Directors 

receive a file covering in detail the agenda of the upcoming 

meeting. All decisions of the Board of Directors are taken in 

accordance with quorum and majority requirements set for th 

in the Ar ticles of Association. 

Frequency and attendance 

During the financial year ended on 31 March 2009, the Board 

of Directors convened 9 times. In addition, on one occasion, 

the Board took a decision by unanimous writ ten consent. 

The attendance by individual Directors at meetings of 

the Board of Directors during the financial year ended on 

31 March 2009 was as follows: 

Director	

Tulsi R. Tanti	 9 on (9)

Ivan Brems	 9 on (9)

Alex De Ryck	 9 on (9)

Torben Bjerre-Madsen1	 9 on (9)

Marc Desaedeleer	 9 on (9)

Dr. Winfried Walzer2	 9 on (9)

Jann Brown	 5 on (5) 

Figures in brackets denote the maximum number of meetings that could have been

at tended. 

1	 as permanent representative of Bjerres Bureau Aps.

2	 as permanent representative of Dr.-Ing. Winfr ied Walzer GmbH.

No meetings were held without the Chairman. 

Commitments of the Chairman 

Tulsi R. Tanti founded Suzlon Energy Limited in 1995 and has 

been acting as Chairman and Managing Director since then. 

Tulsi R. Tanti currently holds the following Directorships 

or par tnerships: BR Patel & Co.;1 Colossus Holdings 

Pte. Limited; Optimus Investments Pte. Limited; Primoris 

Investments BV; Sagarkanya Shipping Lines Pte. Limited; 

Repower Systems AG; SE Drive Technik GmbH; SE Forge 

Limited; Senergy Global Limited (formerly known as Senergy 

Global Private Limited); SE Shipping Lines Pte Limited; 

SE Steel Limited; Sugati Holdings Private Limited; Suruchi 

Holdings Private Limited; Suzlon Energy A/S; Suzlon Energy 

GmbH; Suzlon Energy Limited; Suzlon Energy (Tianjin); 

Suzlon Generators Private Limited; Suzlon Green Power 

Limited; Suzlon Gujarat Wind Park Limited; Suzlon Electricals 

International Limited (formerly known as Suzlon Rotor 

International Limited); Suzlon Structures Private Limited; 

SE Composites Limited (formerly known as Suzlon Towers 

International Limited); Suzlon Wind Energy Limited; and 

Suzlon Wind International Limited. 

There have been no changes to Mr Tanti’s commitments 

during the financial year ended 31 March 2009. 

1 	 Par tner in the capacity as Kar ta of Hindu Undivided Family (HUF). 

Performance evaluation 

At its meeting of 25 March 2009 the Board of Directors 

launched the process of evaluation of its own per formance 

and that of its Commit tees and of the individual Directors, as 

required under the Combined Code. The Board of Directors 

concluded that the process should be conducted by means 

of questionnaires, to be f i l led out by each of the Directors, 

followed by one on one discussions. The questionnaires 

used in the process per tain to (1) the evaluation of the 

Board and Board Commit tees, (2) the evaluation of the 

non-executive Directors, (3) the evaluation of the executive 

Directors, and (4) the evaluation of the Chairman. The 

results of questionnaires (1) to (3) form the basis of one on 

one discussions of each Director with the Chairman. The 

results of questionnaire (4) form the basis for the one on 

one discussion of the Chairman with Jann Brown, as senior 
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non-executive independent Director. The results of the 

per formance evaluation are then submit ted to the Board of 

Directors, for purposes of the recognition of the strengths 

and the identif ication of the weaknesses of the Board and 

the determination of the required actions. The Board’s 

statement on the independence in character and judgment 

of the non-executive Directors (other than the Chairman), 

as set for th here above, results from the discussion within 

the Board of Directors on the basis of an overview of the 

relevant cr iter ia. 

Executive Committee 

Composition 

In accordance with ar ticle 524bis of the Belgian Companies 

Code and the Company’s ar ticles of association, the Board 

of Directors has appointed an Executive Commit tee. The 

Executive Directors must be members of the Executive 

Commit tee. The members of the Executive Commit tee are 

appointed by the Board of Directors upon recommendation 

of the Nomination Commit tee. 

The Executive Commit tee is chaired by Ivan Brems. As at 

31 March 2009, its other members are ADR Consulting 

BVBA, (represented by its permanent representative Alex 

De Ryck), Peter Flamang, Georges Roobaer t, Luc De 

Proost, Stefan Lammens, Torsten Schultz, Associatie 

D’Helf t BVBA (represented by its permanent representative 

Koenraad D’Helf t), B. Moerman BVBA (represented by its 

permanent representative Bernard Moerman) and Clif f 

Dawson Consulting BVBA (represented by its permanent 

representative Clif f Dawson). 

During the f inancial year ended on 31 March 2009, the 

following changes took place in relation to the composition 

of the Executive Commit tee: 

(i)	 at its meeting of 16 May 2008, the Board of Directors 

has formally appointed to the Executive Commit tee 

ADR Consulting BVBA as Chief Financial Of f icer (in 

replacement of Alex De Ryck) and B. Moerman BVBA as 

Chief Legal Of f icer and Company Secretary;

( i i)	 at its meeting of 22 July 2008, the Board of Directors 

has formally acknowledged the resignation of Peter van 

Peborgh from the Executive Commit tee with ef fect from 

31 May 2008;

(iii)	 at its meeting of 25 October 2008, the Board of Directors 

has formally appointed to the Executive Committee 

of Clif f Dawson Consulting BVBA as Chief Operations 

Officer;

(iv)	 at its meeting of 25 October 2008, the Board of Directors 

recognized Peter Flamang and Georges Roobaer t in their 

role as Special Counsel. 

Operation of the Executive Committee 

The Executive Committee has responsibility for the operation 

of the Company and may exercise the authorities granted to it 

by the Board of Directors. Without prejudice to the day-to-day 

management powers conferred to the Chief Executive Officer, 

the Executive Committee has among others the following 

tasks: operating the Company on a daily basis; implementing 

the decisions and recommendations made by the Board of 

Directors; putting in place internal controls (without prejudice 

to the Boards’ and the Audit Committee’s monitoring 

roles); representing the Company vis-a-vis the Belgian 

State, the communities and the Regions, the provinces 

and municipalities, the enterprise of fices, customs and tax 

administrations, the postal services and all other public 

services and authorities; negotiating, signing and accepting 

all price of fers, supply and customer contracts, sale and 

purchase orders of all materials; presenting the Board of 

Directors with a balanced and understandable assessment 

of the Company’s financial situation; providing the Board 

of Directors in due time with all information necessary for 

the Board of Directors to carry out its duties; registering 

the Company with all professional bodies and maintaining 

good working relationships with these professional bodies; 

representing the Company with employers’ organizations 

and trade unions; and the exercise of other powers and 

duties delegated to the Executive Committee by the Board of 

Directors in specific cases. As to the responsibilities that are 

reserved for the Board of Directors, see the section above on 

“Operation of the Board of Directors”.

Chief Executive Officer 

The Chief Executive Officer is appointed, and can be 

removed, by the Board of Directors on the basis of a 

recommendation from the Nomination Committee. Ivan Brems 

was appointed by the Board of Directors as Chief Executive 

Officer in 2006. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible 
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for the proper functioning of the Executive Committee and 

leads and chairs the Executive Committee, save in his 

absence, in which case the Chief Financial Officer chairs the 

Executive Committee. The Board of Directors has delegated 

the day-to-day management of the Company to the Chief 

Executive Officer. The day-to-day management includes 

all matters which are related to the daily operation of the 

Company or which because of their limited impor tance or the 

need for swif t action do not warrant the intervention of the 

Executive Committee or the Board of Directors. 

Internal Control and Risk Management 

Internal control 

The Board of Directors acknowledges its responsibility for the 

system of internal control and for reviewing its ef fectiveness. 

The responsibility for reviewing in detail the ef fectiveness of 

the Group’s system of internal controls (including financial, 

operational and compliance controls) has been delegated to 

the Audit Committee.

The system of internal control plays a critical role in managing 

the risks towards the achievement of corporate vision and 

objectives, and it is also aiming at safeguarding shareholders’ 

interests and the Group’s assets. This system of internal 

control has been designed in accordance with the Turnbull 

Guidance, with a view to managing rather than eliminating 

the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can 

only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against 

material misstatements or loss. 

The implementation plan to formalize the system for 

Internal Control has been def ined and star ted in the 

course of the f inancial year ending 31 March 2009. In 

the f i rst phase, this plan focuses on documenting the 

exist ing processes and controls, result ing in an overview 

and f lowchar ts of al l cr i t ical processes and a r isk control 

matr ix. Key controls are highl ighted and documented 

on their ef fectiveness. The processes of corporate 

headquar ters and the manufactur ing faci l i t y at Lommel 

have thus been reviewed and the implementation wil l be 

continued dur ing the f inancial year ending 31 March 2010 

for the manufactur ing faci l i t ies at Edegem, Coimbatore 

( India) and Tianj in (China). Subsequent action plans aimed 

at improving controls are being worked out. 

Internal audit function 

A Group Internal Auditor has been appointed by the Audit 

Committee in the third quar ter of the financial year ending 

on 31 March 2009 to execute, co-ordinate and supervise 

the internal audit function of the Company. Working on a 

day-to-day basis under the supervision of the CFO, the 

Internal Auditor repor ts to the Audit Committee and has a 

Group-wide mandate. Internal audit operates a risk-based 

methodology to focus internal audit activities on high risk 

areas and the internal audit plan is presented annually to the 

Audit Committee. The internal audit plan is developed, in 

consultation with Company’s Executive Committee, based 

on a review of the outcome of the previous year’s internal 

audits, the significant r isks identif ied in the risk management 

evaluation and the identif ied risk mitigation measures. The 

Internal Auditor attends risk management related meetings 

and cer tain of the meetings of the Executive Committee to 

maintain an understanding of the business activities and 

associated risks. The Audit Committee approves the internal 

audit work plan and receives updates on it on an ongoing 

basis. The Internal Auditor attends all meetings of the Audit 

Committee. The Internal Auditor coordinates his work with 

the External Auditor in order to ensure the consistency and 

mutual ef fectiveness of their actions.

Risk management 

The Board of Directors defines the objectives and strategies 

with regard to risk management. By delegation from the 

Board, the Audit Committee is in charge of reviewing the 

ef fectiveness of the Group’s risk management systems. 

The risk management policy is based on a philosophy 

of establishing an integrated, Group-wide and proactive 

approach reconciling risks and the risk control measures with 

the main corporate goals. To that ef fect, the Company has 

implemented a comprehensive and integrated Enterprise Risk 

Management (“ERM”) approach into its organization since 

July 2005. With the appointment of a risk manager in the 

f irst quar ter of the financial year, the Company underlined its 

commitment to ensure that ERM remains an integral par t of 

planning and executing its business strategies. 

The ERM process serves to systematically identify, evaluate 

and respond to those risks that could af fect the achievement 
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of the Company’s objectives. The process includes quar terly 

review and assessment of the evolution of principal r isks and 

uncer tainties and of the risk mitigation measures. 

During the financial year ending 31 March 2009, an ERM 

action plan has been launched for purposes of updating 

and improving the ERM-process. The plan included the 

re-establishing of the context of ERM, resulting in an updated 

ERM Policy. The next phase of the ERM action plan, star ted in 

February 2009, aims at increasing the knowledge of the risks 

and the ERM process throughout the organization. 

Board Committees 

The Board of Directors has established an Audit Committee, 

a Remuneration Committee and a Nomination Committee (the 

“Committees”), each having an advisory role to the Board 

of Directors. The membership of these Committees and a 

summary of their main duties under their terms of reference 

are set out below. The full terms of reference may be viewed 

on the Company’s website: www.hansentransmissions.com. 

The Committees are provided with the resources required to 

under take their duties and they are able to take independent 

advice at the expense of the Company. The Company 

Secretary acts as secretary to each of these Committees. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

Composition, responsibilities and operation 

The Audit Committee comprises three independent 

non-executive Directors and is chaired by Torben Bjerre-

Madsen (as permanent representative of Bjerres Bureau Aps.) 

and its other members are Jann Brown (appointed on 26 June 

2008 in replacement of Marc Desaedeleer) and Dr. Winfried 

Walzer (as permanent representative of Dr.-Ing. Winfried 

Walzer GmbH). 

The Audit Committee has the responsibility for, among 

other things, monitoring the integrity of the Group’s financial 

statements and reviewing its summary financial statements. 

It oversees the Group’s relationship with its external auditors 

(including advising on their appointment), reviews the 

ef fectiveness of the external audit process and considers the 

extent of the non-audit work under taken by external auditors. 

The Committee must give due consideration to laws and 

regulations, the provisions of the Combined Code and the 

requirements of the Listing Rules. It also has responsibility 

for reviewing the ef fectiveness of the Group’s system of 

internal controls and risk management systems. The ultimate 

responsibility for reviewing and approving the interim and 

annual f inancial statements remains with the Board of 

Directors, however. 

In principle, the Audit Committee meets at least four times per 

year. 

Report 

The Audit Committee met on 16 May 2008, 16 October 2008, 

25 October 2008 and 27 January 2009. The attendance of 

each of the Directors at the meetings held in the financial year 

ending 31 March 2009 while a Committee member was: 

Director	

Torben Bjerre-Madsen1	 4 on (4)

Dr. Winfried Walzer2	 4 on (4)

Jann Brown3	 3 on (3)

Marc Desaedeleer4	 1 on (1)

Figures in brackets denote the maximum number of meetings that could have been

at tended. 

1	 as permanent representative of Bjerres Bureau Aps.

2	 as permanent representative of Dr.-Ing. Winfr ied Walzer GmbH, who joined the 

Board on 3 October 2007.

3	 Jann Brown was not a member at the time the f irst meeting was held. 

4	 Marc Desaedeleer was replaced by Jann Brown on 26 June 2008. 

At its meetings of 16 May and 16 October 2008 and 27 

January 2009, the Audit Committee reviewed the progress 

and results of the actions of the internal control, r isk 

management and internal audit functions of the Group. 

Ernst & Young has been appointed to advise the Group in 

connection with the formalisation of the internal controls and 

risk management systems and has regularly repor ted on its 

findings in this respect. 

On the basis of the Audit Committee’s ongoing review 

(including (i) the repor ting on internal controls by the 

Company’s corporate internal controller, (ii) the confirmation 

by the Company’s executive directors that the Company’s 

systems of internal controls are ef fective; and (iii) the 

confirmation by the external auditor to the Audit Committee 

that no material weaknesses in design or operation of 

accounting and internal control systems had been identif ied), 
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as well as additional review conducted at the meeting of the 

Audit Committee held on 5 May 2009, the Audit Committee 

concluded that the Group’s systems of internal controls, 

internal audit and risk management were ef fective for the type 

and size of operations of the Group.

At its meetings of 16 October 2008 and 5 May 2009, the 

Audit Committee reviewed the nature and volume of non-audit 

services rendered by other firms of the Ernst & Young 

organisation, in addition to the exercise of the audit mandate 

and the issuing of statutory audit opinions under Belgian 

GAAP and opinions on the consolidated financial statements 

prepared in accordance with IFRS. The Audit Committee 

concluded that such non-audit services did not impair the 

independence and objectivity of the external auditor for the 

period. 

On 25 October 2008, the Audit Committee reviewed in 

par ticular the half-yearly financial repor t for the period ended 

30 September 2008. The financial statements for the full 

f inancial year 2009 and the related repor ts from the Board 

were reviewed and approved at the meetings of the Audit 

Committee on 5 and 13 May 2009. The external auditor 

par ticipated in these meetings, repor ting on its audit activities 

and other matters to be repor ted to those in charge of 

Corporate Governance, and delivering its opinions. 

The Audit Committee also reviewed and approved the interim 

management statements published at the end of the first and 

third quar ter of the financial year ended 31 March 2009. 

NOMINATION COMMITTEE 

Composition, responsibilities and operation 

The Nomination Committee is chaired by Tulsi R. Tanti and 

its other members are Torben Bjerre-Madsen (as permanent 

representative of Bjerres Bureau Aps.) and Marc Desaedeleer. 

The Committee has responsibility for making 

recommendations to the Board of Directors on the 

composition of the Board of Directors and its Committees, 

identifying potential candidates to be appointed as Directors 

and making recommendations to the Board of Directors on 

retirements and appointments of additional and replacement 

Directors (including succession planning) and ensuring 

compliance with the Combined Code. 

In principle, the Nomination Committee meets at least twice 

per year. 

Report 

The Nomination Committee met on 16 May 2008 in 

connection with the appointment of Jann Brown as senior 

non-executive independent Director, which was approved by 

the 2008 shareholders meeting. The attendance of each of 

the Directors at the meetings held in the financial year ending 

31 March 2009 while a Committee member was: 

Director	

Tulsi R. Tanti	 1 on (1)

Torben Bjerre-Madsen1	 1 on (1)

Marc Desaedeleer 	 1 on (1) 

Figures in brackets denote the maximum number of meetings that could have been

at tended. 

1	 as permanent representative of Bjerres Bureau Aps. 

An additional meeting was held on 13 May 2009, in 

connection with the proposed re-appointment of Tulsi R. Tanti 

as Non-executive Director, Ivan Brems as Executive Director, 

and Marc Desaedeleer as Non-executive Independent 

Director, each for a new term of three years. The Nomination 

Committee confirmed, taking into account the results of the 

formal per formance evaluation that had been conducted 

with respect to all members of the Board, that each of the 

abovementioned Directors continued to be ef fective and 

demonstrate commitment to the role. 

Of the two candidates proposed by Suzlon Energy, the 

Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment 

of Tulsi R. Tanti, Chairman of the Company. At the same 

meeting, the Nomination Committee also reviewed the 

proposal to nominate either John Deutch or Mar tin Nègre 

as Non-executive Director. This proposal followed from 

the decision of Suzlon Energy to permit Ecofin Limited to 

nominate a Nominee Director as envisaged in Ar ticle 16 of 

the Ar ticles of Association of the Company. The Nomination 

Committee recommended the appointment of John Deutch, 

having regard to his experience, skills and exper tise. Since 

this nomination was taking place in the framework of the 

procedures foreseen in the Ar ticles of Association and in the 

Relationship Agreement between the Company and Suzlon 

Energy, the Nomination Committee conducted its review 

without involvement of consultants.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 

Composition, responsibilities and operation 

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent 

non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee is 

chaired by Marc Desaedeleer and its other members are 

Torben Bjerre-Madsen (as permanent representative of 

Bjerres Bureau Aps.) and Dr. Winfried Walzer (as permanent 

representative of Dr.-Ing. Winfried Walzer GmbH). 

The Remuneration Committee has responsibility for making 

recommendations to the Board of Directors (i) on the Group’s 

policy on executive remuneration of senior management, (ii) 

for the determination, within agreed terms of reference, of the 

remuneration of the Chairman and of specific remuneration 

packages for each of the executive Directors and the 

members of senior management, including pension rights and 

any compensation payments and (iii) for the implementation 

of employee share plans. The Remuneration Committee 

also ensures compliance with the Combined Code in this 

respect and monitors the remuneration of members of senior 

management. 

In principle, the Remuneration Committee meets at least 

twice per year. 

Report 

The Remuneration Committee met on 16, 19 and 21 May 

2008, determining the senior executives to be considered 

in the review by the Remuneration Committee, establishing 

a framework for the compensation package for the senior 

executives, establishing a hir ing committee for new 

appointments at senior management level, and approving 

the Directors’ Remuneration Repor t that was included in 

 
Interior view of Hansen’s wind turbine gearbox plant in Tianjin – China. First gearbox delivered in March 2009.
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the Annual Repor t for the financial year ending on 31 March 

2008. The Committee met on 26 June 2008 and 22 July 

2008, determining the compensation and executive bonus 

plan for the senior executives. The Committee met on 25 

October 2008, deciding to launch a review of the senior 

management contracts and select consultants to advise on 

the executive remuneration policy. 

The attendance of each of the Directors at the meetings held 

in the financial year ending 31 March 2009 while a Committee 

member was: 

Director	

Marc Desaedeleer	 6 on (6)

Torben Bjerre-Madsen(1)	 6 on (6)

Dr. Winfried Walzer(2)	 6 on (6)

Figures in brackets denote the maximum number of meetings that could have been 

at tended. 

(1) as permanent representative of Bjerres Bureau Aps.

(2) as permanent representative of Dr.-Ing. Winfr ied Walzer GmbH, who joined the 

Board on 3 October 2007. 

Reference is also made to the Directors’ Remuneration 

Repor t, as approved by the Board of Directors on 13 May 

2009, which is included in this Annual Repor t. 

Relations with Shareholders 

The Group utilizes its website, www.hansentransmissions.com, 

to communicate a wide range of information about the 

Group. As regards Suzlon Energy, the relations between the 

Group and this shareholder are governed by the Relationship 

Agreement (see the discussion of this agreement in the 

section “Information provided in accordance with ar ticle 34 of 

the Royal Decree of 14 November 2007”). Moreover, Tulsi R. 

Tanti has been designated as nominee Director for Suzlon on 

the Board of Directors of the Company. 

In addition, the Group has a policy of maintaining an active 

dialogue with institutional shareholders through individual 

meetings with senior management and par ticipation in 

conference calls. The views of shareholders expressed 

during these meetings and calls are repor ted to the Board 

of Directors so that an understanding of the views of major 

shareholders can be developed. 

The Board of Directors recognizes that one of the main 

oppor tunities for non-institutional shareholders to question 

the Board of Directors is at the annual shareholders’ meeting 

and for this reason it is expected that a substantial number 

of the Directors attend the meeting whenever possible. 

Directors’ Responsibility Statement 

The following statement, which should be read in conjunction 

with the auditor’s statement of their responsibilities set out 

in the section “Auditor’s Repor t”, is made with a view to 

distinguishing for shareholders the respective responsibilities 

of the Directors and of the auditor in relation to the financial 

statements. 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual 

Repor t and the Group and parent company financial 

statements in accordance with applicable law and 

regulations. Belgian company law requires the Directors to 

prepare Group and parent company financial statements for 

each financial year. 

Under that law they are required to prepare the Group 

financial statements in accordance with International 

Financial Repor ting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU 

and applicable law and have elected to prepare the parent 

company financial statements in accordance with Belgian 

GAAP. 

The Group financial statements are required by law and IFRS 

adopted by the EU to present fair ly the financial position and 

the per formance of the Group. The parent company financial 

statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of 

the state of af fairs of the parent company. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting 

records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 

the financial position of the parent company and enable 

them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the 

Belgian Companies Code. They have general responsibility 

for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to 

safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect 

fraud and other irregularities. 

Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also 

responsible for preparing a Directors’ Repor t, Directors’ 

remuneration repor t and corporate governance statement 

that comply with that law and those regulations.

Corporate Governance Statement
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Directors’ Remuneration 
Report
The Directors’ Remuneration Repor t (the “Repor t”) sets out 

the remuneration policy of Hansen Transmissions International 

NV (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries ( jointly referred to as 

the “Group”). The Repor t also sets out for each Director the 

remuneration earned in the financial year ending on 31 March 

2009, their interests in share options and other long-term 

incentive plans and their contractual relationship with the 

Company.

The Report, which has been approved and adopted by the 

Board of Directors, will be put to shareholders at the Annual 

Shareholders’ Meeting of 25 June 2009 for approval. The 

Report sets out how the principles in Section 1.B of the 

Combined Code on Corporate Governance have been applied.

Remuneration Committee

Reference is made to the “Corporate Governance Statement” 

included in this Annual Report, where there is a summary 

of the composition, key responsibilities, and activities of 

the Remuneration Committee (the “Committee”). The key 

responsibilities of the Committee are as per its Terms of 

Reference, which are available on the Company’s website and 

conform to the Combined Code. There were six meetings of 

the Committee in the course of the financial year ending 31 

March 2009. The Chairman of the Board of Directors attended a 

number of meetings on invitation of the Committee. 

As and when the Committee deems appropriate, it takes 

external advice on executive compensation from a number 

of sources. The Committee thus called on Egon Zehnder 

International and on Hay Group, as set forth here below. 

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Corporate Human 

Resources Officer have attended a number of meetings on 

invitation from the Committee, for purposes of consultation 

on the Committee’s proposals. The Company Secretary also 

attended the meetings of the Committee, as secretary to the 

Committee. However, these executives are neither consulted nor 

involved in discussions in respect of their own remuneration. 

Remuneration Policy

Non-executive  Directors

The general shareholders’ meeting determines the 

remuneration of the non-executive  Directors in their capacity 

of Directors, which can be fixed or variable depending on 

their board attendance. The shareholders meeting may set 

the aggregate amount of the remuneration allocated to the 

non-executive Directors, leaving it to the Board of Directors 

to allocate this amount among the non-executive Directors. 

The fees are designed to attract experienced individuals 

and reflect the responsibilities of the role. A proposal in 

line with the above is put to the shareholders for approval 

regarding the period commencing on the date of the Annual 

Shareholders’ Meeting and ending on the date of the next 

Annual Shareholders’ Meeting.

Executive Directors

The Company’s remuneration policy is designed to provide 

a level of remuneration which attracts, retains and motivates 

Executive Directors of a suitable caliber to execute the 

Company’s business strategy and maximize long term 

shareholders value. It is intended that, as far as possible, 

remuneration policies and practices will conform to best 

practice in the markets in which the Group operates and will 

be aligned with shareholders interests.

The Group’s policy is to place a significant emphasis on the 

per formance-related elements of the total remuneration for 

Executive Directors, in order to align their interests with those 

of shareholders. 

The basic remuneration element reflects an executive’s 

experience, commitment, responsibility and market value.

Executive Directors qualify for a target per formance-based 

bonus to be awarded on an annual basis depending upon 

achieving mutually agreed objectives. The bonus can be up 
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to 96 per cent of the basic remuneration of each Executive 

Director. The bonus oppor tunity and percentage targets are 

agreed on an annual basis and set by the Board of Directors 

at the latest by the end of the first quar ter of the relevant 

financial year. 

The policies relating to each of the components of total 

remuneration are subject to regular review in order to ensure 

that they remain competitive, stimulating and challenging. The 

package is geared towards driving exceptional ef for t through 

the variable elements of the total package. The ability to have 

an impact on shareholder value will influence the mix of the 

total reward package.

Benchmarking methodology

In determining the appropriate structure and quantum of 

remuneration, the Committee reviews remuneration practices 

in comparable companies. The aim of the Committee is to 

ensure that remuneration packages are competitive and to 

avoid generating excessive reward for Executive Directors, 

whilst ensuring that the Group’s total remuneration structures 

are capable of reaching levels warranted by per formance.

The Committee thus called on Egon Zehnder International 

to benchmark its Executive Committee compensation and 

to provide a recommendation for an aligned compensation 

structure for the Executive Committee. The Committee 

also obtained advice from Hay Group with respect to a job 

evaluation and classif ication of the members of the Executive 

Committee, in order to review the Company’s executive 

compensation policy relying on an objective key for market 

benchmarking. 

Performance Graphs

Both the FTSE 250 Index and the ISE Global Wind Energy 

Index were selected as appropriate comparator indices for 

the two per formance graphs shown below. The FTSE 250 

is one of the major indices for London Stock Exchange 

quoted companies. The ISE Global Wind Energy Index 

provides a benchmark for investors interested in tracking 

public companies active in the global wind energy industry. 

The number of companies in the index is 55 and the top 5 

(May 2009) consisted of EDP Renovaveis, Vestas, Iberdrola 

Renovables, Hansen and Nordex. 

The graphs compare the Company’s Total Shareholder 

Return with that of the chosen indices for two periods. 

The first period runs from 11 December 2007 – the date of 

the first listing of the Hansen shares on the London Stock 

Exchange – to 31 March 2008, and is referred to below as 

FY 2008. The IPO price on 11 December 2007 was 175 

GBX. The second period runs from 1 April 2008 to 31 March 

2009, and is referred to below as FY 2009. 

Directors’ Remuneration Report

Performance graph – comparison of cumulative 
total shareholder return on an investment of £100

120 £

100 £

80 £

60 £

40 £

20 £

0 £

20%

10%

0%

-10%

-20%

-30%

-40%

-50%

-60%

-70%

ISE GWE Index

since 11 December  2007

Performance graph – comparison of year on year 
change in the value of an investment 
since 11 December 2007 

Hansen FTSE 250

ISE GWE IndexHansen FTSE 250

11 Dec 2007 FY 2008 FY 2009

FY 2008 FY 2009



Corporate Governance

70  |  Annual Report 2009

The market value of one Hansen share on 31 March 2009 

was GBX 99. During the f inancial year 2009, the range of 

high and low market value of one Hansen share was GBX 

325 to GBX 75.

Elements of Executive Directors’ Remuneration

Make up of Executive Director’s remuneration

The total remuneration package for Executive Directors 

comprises the following principal elements: the annual basic 

remuneration; the bonus fee; non-cash remuneration; and 

par ticipation in long term incentives.

The annual basic remuneration 

The annual basic remuneration is subject to annual review by 

the Commit tee. The Commit tee has used the benchmarking 

studies referred to here above and considered cost of 

l iv ing indexation mechanisms to ensure that the levels of 

remuneration remain competitive and appropriate in the 

light of the Company’s remuneration policy. The Commit tee 

is also responsible for ensuring that the positioning of the 

Company’s remuneration is in l ine with per formance and the 

market. It considers that the Company needs to of fer f ixed 

remuneration at the levels actually applied to at tract and 

retain suitable Executive Directors.

Bonuses

In addition to the annual basic remuneration, the Executive 

Directors are entit led to a per formance linked bonus fee 

which provides the oppor tunity to earn an annual cash 

bonus determined by assessing corporate per formance 

against a range of annually determined objectives. The 

Commit tee considers that eligibil i ty bonuses enhance the 

focus of par ticipants on business cr it ical outcomes. Specif ic 

objectives have been agreed with each par ticipant while the 

at tainment levels are evaluated by the Commit tee, with a 

view to determining the amount of the bonus to be granted 

in any year, which are assigned a weighting.

The bonuses paid in relation to the f inancial year ending 

31 March 2009 are based on the achievement of cer tain 

business milestones and common targets recommended 

by the Commit tee and approved by the Board of Directors. 

As a rule, a minimum per formance level of 80% against the 

objectives is required for such bonuses to be payable. 

For the Executive Directors, a per formance level of 80% 

gives r ise to a bonus potential of 10% of the annual basic 

remuneration. The maximum bonus payable is capped at 

96% of the annual basic remuneration. For the per formance 

during the f inancial year ending 31 March 2009, a bonus 

percentage of 35 % was determined by the Commit tee in 

May 2009.

Pensions and non-cash remuneration

The Company operates a pension scheme open for 

par ticipation by the Executive Directors. This plan is a 

defined contr ibution plan. The total cost for the pension 

plan and other non-cash remuneration is determined as a 

percentage of the annual on target remuneration (annual 

basic remuneration + target bonus).

Executive Directors and some senior executives are 

provided with a car service or company car.

The Company has a “Travel Policy” and “International 

Mobili ty Policy”, which applies to the Executive Directors.

Executive Directors’ Remuneration Paid during  

the Financial Year ending 31 March 2009

Ivan Brems and Alex De Ryck do not receive Directors’ 

fees. The remuneration received by Ivan Brems and 

ADR Consulting BVBA (represented by its permanent 

representative Alex De Ryck) for the exercise of the functions 

of, respectively, CEO and CFO, is paid in accordance with 

service contracts governed by Belgian law. 

The service contract between ADR Consulting BVBA and the 

Company is for an indefinite period. In case of termination 

by the Company without valid reason, the contract provides 

for compensation due by the Company, amounting to 

the annual basic fee of one year. The service contract 

between Ivan Brems and the Company is for an indefinite 

period. This contract does not contain a specif ic clause on 

compensation due by the Company in case of termination 

without valid reason. In such case, provisions of general 

contract law may apply. 
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Table containing audited information

 

 

Name Position

Annual Basic 

Remuneration 

FY 2009

Other  

Benefits  

FY 2009 

Bonus 

FY 2008 paid 

in FY 20093

IPO  

related bonus  

FY 2008 paid 

in FY 20094

Total 

Remuneration 

FY 2009 

Total 

Remuneration 

FY 2008

Ivan Brems1 Chief 

Executive 

Officer

318,827 € 160,458 €5 455,513 € 390,000 € 934,798 € 

(including 

IPO bonus 

1,324,798 €)

862,615 €

ADR 

Consulting 

BVBA2

Chief 

Financial 

Officer

335,037 € 26,307 €6 295,648 € 390,000 € 656,992 € 

(including 

IPO bonus 

1,046,992 €)

413,109 €

1	 Ivan Brems joined the Group on 1 June 1984. He is self-employed, providing services under the terms of a service agreement with Hansen dated 21 November 2006. 

2	 Alex De Ryck joined the Group on 12 July 2004. As from 1 April 2009, the function of CFO has been exercised by ADR Consulting BVBA, represented by its permanent 

representative Alex De Ryck. ADR Consulting BVBA provides services under the terms of a service agreement with Hansen. 

3	 Target per formance-based bonus in relation to the per formance during the f inancial year ending 31 March 2008 (FY 2008). 

4	 The Executive Directors received payment of a bonus amount relating to the successful achievement of the IPO in December 2007 (FY2008). 

5	 Includes entit lement to a car service provided by the Company, pension, death, invalidity and hospitalization plan. 

6	 Includes company car and hospitalization insurance. 

Table containing audited information

Name Position

Fee on Annual 

Basis FY 2009 

Bonus 

FY 2009

Other 

Benefits 

FY 2009

Actual 

Remuneration 

FY 2009

Actual 

Remuneration 

FY 20084 

Date of 

Joining 

Group

Bjerres Bureau 

Aps1,2

Non-executive 

Director

100,000 € Nil Nil 100,000 € 75,000 € 2006

Marc Desaedeleer1 Non-executive 

Director

50,000 € Nil Nil 50,000 € Nil 2006

Tulsi R. Tanti1 Non-executive 

Director

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 2006

Dr.-Ing. Winfr ied 

Walzer GmbH1,3

Non-executive 

Director

120,000 € Nil Nil 120,000 € 73,750 € 2007 

Jann Brown1 Non-executive 

Director

60,000 € Nil Nil 60,000 € Nil 2008

1	 The non-executive Directors are appointed for no more than three years at the general shareholders’ meeting, which is entit led to dismiss them at any time.

2	 Torben Bjerre-Madsen is the permanent representative of Bjerres Bureau Aps. 

3	 Dr. Winfr ied Walzer is the permanent representative of Dr.-Ing. Winfr ied Walzer GmbH.

4	 Amount ef fectively paid taking into account the commencement date of each appointment.

Directors’ Remuneration Report

Non-executive  Directors’ Remuneration for the Financial Year ending 31 March 2009

Each of the non-executive Directors has received a letter of appointment, the terms of which are governed by Belgian law. 

Remuneration is as set for th below:
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Executive Share Option Schemes

Hansen Warrants Plan 2007

On 27 November 2007, the Company approved a warrant 

plan under which warrants may be granted for free to those 

Executive Directors and members of Senior Management, 

the Extended Management and the level below the Extended 

Management selected by the Board of Directors upon 

recommendation of the Committee (the “Hansen Warrants 

Plan 2007”). The purpose of the Hansen Warrants Plan 2007 

is to attract and retain higher management level employees 

and executive of ficers and provide a common focus for the 

value creation ef for ts to which they can par ticipate.

To be eligible for a warrant, the Executive Director or 

manager must in principle, and unless otherwise determined 

by the Committee, be with the Company on the date of 

grant and must in principle have worked with the Company 

uninterruptedly for 6 months at the end of the financial year 

preceding the date of the grant.

The exercise of a warrant will give the right to subscribe to 

one share at a subscription price corresponding to the fair 

market value of the share at the date of the grant. The first 

grant of warrants was made in June 2008, as approved by 

the general shareholders’ meeting of 27 November 2007 

and the general shareholders’ meeting of 26 June 2008. 

Subsequent grants will be decided each year in June, subject 

to shareholder approval.

Whether in a given year warrants are granted and the number 

of warrants granted will among other things depend on the 

achievement by the Company of the target percentage of its 

budgeted Profit After Tax (‘‘PAT’’) and individual performance. 

The percentage of the Company’s shares in respect of which 

any warrants may be granted under the Hansen Warrants Plan 

2007 is limited to a maximum of 0.5 per cent. per annum and 

cumulatively to a maximum of 2 per cent. in a block of five years.

The market value (as at the date of the grant) of the shares to 

be subscribed to following the exercise of the warrants which 

may be granted to any participant in respect of any year will 

not exceed 100 per cent. of his or her base salary at the time 

of grant. However, for the business years ending on 31 March 

2009, 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2011, additional warrants 

may be granted up to an absolute maximum entitlement per 

participant of 75 per cent. of the participant’s basic salary at 

the time of grant, depending on the contribution made or to be 

made in relation to the new facilities in India and China or other 

contributions to be determined by the Board of Directors.

The warrants will vest by annual increments of 25 per cent. 

starting on the grant date, unless a participant leaves the Group 

prior to the vesting date. The exercise period of the warrants 

starts on the first day of the fourth calendar year following the 

calendar year in which the grant is made and ends on the last 

day of a period of five years from the grant date.

Grants made in 2008 under the  

Hansen Warrants Plan 2007

Having regard to the full year results for the financial year 

ending 31 March 2008, including year-to-year net profit growth 

of +29% to 31 million euro, representing 7.4% of revenues, as 

well as the fundamental objectives of the plan, an allocation 

budget of 1,500,000 warrants was decided by the Board 

of Directors upon recommendation of the Committee. This 

allocation budget was approved by resolution of the general 

shareholders meeting of 26 June 2008. 

These warrants were on 26 June 2008 allocated among 18 

par ticipants (belonging to the Executive Committee and the 

extended senior management group) in accordance with 

the recommendation of the Committee. The grant was for 

free. A total of 1,315,000 warrants was accepted. In case all 

1,315,000 warrants are ef fectively exercised 1,315,000 new 

shares will be issued. The exercise of all 1,315,000 warrants 

would thus result in a dilution of the share of the existing 

shares in the Company in the profits of the Company of 

(rounded-of f ) 0.20% (which is below the maximum of 0.50% 

per financial year as allowed under the Plan rules).

The total number of warrants granted to the Directors was 

220,000, of which 120,000 warrants were granted to the CEO 

and 100,000 warrants were granted to the CFO. The exercise 

of a warrant will give the right to subscribe to one share of 

the Company at a subscription price of 295 GBX, which is 

the average closing price of the share over the 30 calendar 

days period preceding 26 June 2008. The shares acquired 

following the exercise of the warrants shall have the same 

rights as the other shares in the Company (amongst others 
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these shares shall be freely transferable). The warrants are 

not pensionable. 

The exercise period runs from 1 January 2012 to 26 June 

2013. During this exercise period and as a rule, warrants can 

be exercised during exercise windows defined in the plan 

rules. The share price at the end of the financial year 2009 

was 99 GBX. The highest and lowest prices in the financial 

year 2009 were 325 and 75 GBX. 

The non-executive Directors receive no warrants.

Grants to be made in 2009 under  

the Hansen Warrants Plan 2007

Considering the full year results for the financial year ending 

31 March 2009, including the realization of net profit of 45 

million euro compared to 31.3 million euro last year (+44%), 

and in line with the fundamental objectives of the plan, a 

new grant of warrants will be made in June 2009, subject 

to shareholder approval. Upon recommendation of the 

Committee, the Board of Directors approved an allocation 

budget corresponding to 0.25% (which is below the maximum 

of 0.50% per financial year as allowed under the Hansen 

Warrants Plan 2007 rules). In accordance with the plan rules, 

the warrants will be allocated to par ticipants belonging to the 

Executive Committee and the extended senior management 

group. The exercise of a warrant will give the right to 

subscribe to one share of the Company at a subscription 

price corresponding to the average closing price of the share 

over the 30 calendar days period preceding the actual grant 

date. The exercise period will run from 1 January 2013 to the 

f if th anniversary date of the grant date. 

Other Long-term Incentive Schemes

Other than the Hansen Warrants Plan 2007, there are no 

long-term incentive schemes in place.

Employees’ Share Schemes

The shareholders’ meeting of 26 June 2008 approved the 

adoption of an employee warrants plan under which warrants 

were granted for free to all qualifying employees of the Group 

other than the par ticipants under the Hansen Warrants Plan 

2007. The purpose of the Employee Warrants Grant 2008 

was to recognize the Group’s employees in their ef for ts to 

par ticipate in the realization of a greener tomorrow. 

Warrants were granted under this plan on a single grant date, 

26 June 2008. No fur ther grants will be made under the 

Employee Warrants Grant 2008. The exercise of a warrant will 

give the right to subscribe to one share of the Company at a 

subscription price of 295 GBX, i.e. the average closing price 

of the share over the 30 calendar days period preceding 26 

June 2008.

Each eligible employee was entitled to 1,200 warrants. 

The maximum number of warrants to be thus granted 

under the Employee Warrants Grant 2008 was 2,160,000 

(corresponding to a maximum dilution of up to 0.32 per cent).

Warrants which have been accepted will vest on 26 June 

2011, provided the employee is still with a relevant company 

of the Group on the vesting date. In case of permanent 

disability or death of an employee, the employee or his/

her estate can exercise the unvested warrants only within 3 

months from the first day of the four th calendar year following 

the calendar year in which the grant is made. 

The exercise period of the warrants star ts on 1 January 

2012 and ends on 26 June 2013. During this exercise period 

and as a rule, warrants can be exercised during exercise 

windows defined in the Employee Warrants Grant 2008. Upon 

expiration of the exercise period, the right to exercise the 

warrants will lapse. In case of depar ture of an employee from 

the relevant company of the Group af ter the warrants have 

vested but before he/she has exercised the warrants, the 

employee can exercise the vested warrants only during the 

next exercise window after such depar ture. 

The warrants are not pensionable. 

Upon recommendation of the Committee, the Board of 

Directors decided to extend the exercise period of the 

warrants with 5 years. If approved by the shareholders’ 

meeting of 25 June 2009, this extension - which is restricted 

to the warrants issued under the Employee Warrants Grant 

2008 - will be implemented subject to the limits and in 

accordance with the provisions of the Belgian law which was 

adopted in March 2009 in the framework of the economic 

relief plan of the Belgian Government. 

Directors’ Remuneration Report
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 Notes
For the year ended 

31 March 2009
For the year ended 

31 March 2008
(€000) (€000)

Sale of goods    609,175  421,482

Revenue    609,175  421,482

     

Cost of sales 3.4, 3.5 (465,275) (318,600)

       

Gross profit    143,900  102,882

     

Other operating income 3.1  8,377  2,973

Sales and distr ibution costs 3.4 (37,994) (32,868)

Administrative expenses 3.4 (37,094) (20,697)

Research and development 3.7 (13,320) (9,983)

       

Operating profit    63,869  42,307

     

Finance revenue 3.3  10,368  6,813

Finance costs 3.2 (12,102) (14,605)

       

Profit before tax    62,135  34,515

     

Income tax expense 4 (17,095) (3,218)

       

Profit from continuing operations1    45,040  31,297

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR    45,040  31,297

     

Earnings per share – adjusted for share split 5    

Basic, for profit for the year attr ibutable to ordinary  
equity holders of the parent    0.067  0.058

Diluted, for profit for the year attr ibutable to ordinary  
equity holders of the parent    0.067  0.058

     

Total shares (in thousands) – weighted average    670,104  543,500

Diluted Shares (in thousands) – weighted average    670,104  543,500

1	 Since there is no discontinued operation, prof it for the year is equal to prof it for the year from continuing operations.

Consolidated Income Statement
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 Notes As at 31 March 2009 As at 31 March 2008
(€000) (€000)

ASSETS      

Non-current assets      

Proper ty, plant and equipment (net) 6  529,131  343,147

Goodwill and Intangible assets (net) 7  11,269  8,963

Trade receivables    -  331

Deferred tax assets 4  1,562  1,354

   541,962  353,795

Current assets      

Inventories (net) 9  209,001  136,176

Trade receivables (net) 10  182,016  88,452

Other receivables 10  21,544  22,142

Cash and shor t-term deposits 11  126,396  325,512

Deferred charges    12,545  12,318

     551,502  584,600

TOTAL ASSETS    1,093,464  938,395

     

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES      

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent      

Issued capital 13  17,966  17,966

Share premium 13  419,563  419,563

Retained earnings 13  162,792  117,752

Income and expense recognized directly in equity 13 (16,498) (8,163)

Total equity    583,823  547,118

     

Non-current liabilities      

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 14  246,984  192,777

Derivative financial instruments 23  4,730  -

Provisions 15  1,171  1,005

Employee benefit liability 17  2,570  2,158

Deferred income (grant) 18  6,298  5,466

Deferred tax liability 4  41,481  27,725

   303,234  229,131

Current liabilities     

Trade and other payables 19  160,762  122,445

Advanced payments    2,115  4,110

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 14  3,518  4

Derivative financial instruments 23  -  544

Taxes payable    1,066  1,192

Wages and salaries payable    23,924  20,915

Provisions 15  4,570  4,674

Other current liabilities    3,454  2,385

Accrued charges    6,272  2,584

Deferred income (grant) 18  726  3,293

     206,407  162,146

Total liabilities    509,641  391,277

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    1,093,464  938,395

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Annual Financial Report
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For the year ended 
31 March 2009

For the year ended 
31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Profit for the period  45,040  31,297

Foreign currency translation (gains/(losses)) (5,242) (6,936)

Cash-flow hedges (net of tax) (3,272)  -

Shares to issue  529  -

Actuarial gains recognized directly in equity (350)  660

Net results recognized directly in equity (8,335) (6,276)

Total recognized gains and losses  36,705  25,021

Consolidated Statement of Recognized Gains and Losses
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 Notes
For the year ended 

31 March 2009
For the year ended 

31 March 2008

Operating activities   (€000) (€000)

Profit before tax from continuing operations    62,135  34,515

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows    

Non cash      

Depreciation and impairment of proper ty, plant and equipment� 6  28,309  17,392

Amortization and impairment of intangible assets 7  1,529  1,413

(Gain)/Loss on disposal of proper ty, plant and equipment� 3.1  (50) (169)

Finance revenue 3.3 (10,368) (6,813)

Finance costs 3.2  12,102  14,605

Movements in provisions, pensions and government grants  (1,261) (2,775)

Employee benefit expense 16  529  -

Receipt of government grants,  
not included in movement government grants   (5,603)  -

Working capital adjustments      

(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables   (93,233) (16,450)

(Increase)/decrease in other receivables    598  44,042

(Increase)/decrease in deferred charges   (227) (11,094)

(Increase)/decrease in inventories   (72,825) (67,755)

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables    38,317  44,009

Increase/(decrease) in advanced payments, taxes, wages and 
salaries payable, other current liabilities and accrued charges   5,645  3,616

Current tax    -  -

Income tax paid   (1,929) (780)

Net cash flows from operating activities   (36,332)  53,756

Investing activities      

Proceeds from sale of proper ty, plant and equipment    135  183

Purchase of proper ty, plant and equipment   (221,588) (169,454)

Purchase of intangible assets   (3,920) (1,555)

Interest received 3.3  9,597  6,813

Receipt of government grants 18  6,271  2,719

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired    - (1,452)

Net cash flows used in investing activities   (209,505) (162,746)

Financing activities      

Interest paid 3.2 (10,677) (14,787)

Proceeds from the issue of share capital 12, 13  -  440,000

Transaction costs of issue of share capital 12, 13  - (19,937)

Repayment of share capital 12, 13  - (60,000)

Repayment of borrowings    - (7,000)

Proceeds from borrowings    57,350  59,000

Net cash flows from financing activities    46,673  397,276

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   (199,164)  288,286

Net foreign exchange dif ference   48 (1,566)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April    325,512  38,792

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 11  126,396  325,512

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Annual Financial Report
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1	 Corporate information

The consolidated financial statements of Hansen Transmissions International NV (the “Company”) for the year ended 

31 March 2009 were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 13 May 2009. Hansen 

Transmissions International NV is a limited company incorporated and domiciled in Belgium whose shares are par tly publicly 

traded and par tly held by Suzlon Energy Limited.

The principal activities of the Group consist of designing and manufacturing gearboxes and drive trains. The Company is a 

leading global manufacturer and supplier of these gearboxes and drive trains, as a result of its research and development 

capabilities and market-leading production facilities and is currently one of the largest manufacturers of wind turbine gearboxes 

for the wind energy market. The Company has built up a leading position in the industrial gearbox markets. The Company has 

in recent periods focused on the fast-growing wind energy generation sector and the production of gearboxes for wind turbine 

generators, where it has built up a customer base of wind turbine OEMs around the world.

In December 2007, the Company became publicly quoted on the main market of the London Stock Exchange.

The Company has production facilities in Edegem and Lommel, Belgium, and assembly and/or sales of fices in the subsidiaries 

around the world. Since 2004, the Company has invested significantly in the growth and profitability of its business. In 

par ticular, greater focus had been placed on international expansion and the growing wind energy markets. The Company is in 

the process of increasing its production capacity through the building of new production plants in India and China.

2	 Basis of preparation, accounting policies and consolidation group

2.1.	Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for derivative financial instruments 

that have been measured at fair value. The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of euro and all values 

are rounded to the nearest thousand (€000) except when otherwise indicated.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of Hansen Transmissions International NV and all its subsidiaries (the “Group”) have been 

prepared in accordance with International Financial Repor ting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.

Basis for consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Hansen Transmissions International NV and its 

subsidiaries as at 31 March of each year. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same repor ting year 

as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions that 

are recognized in assets, are eliminated in full.

Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 
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The subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and 

continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

2.2.	Changes in accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. 

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

a) Change in accounting policies – cash-flow hedge accounting

The accounting treatment of the hedging instruments has been changed. Specifically, the hedging instruments were in 

previous periods not designated as a hedge and no cash flow hedge accounting was applied, and these instruments were 

recognized at fair value with the fair value variation through profit and loss. As from 1 October 2008 onwards, the hedging 

instruments have been designated as a hedge and cash-flow hedge accounting has been applied, with fair value variation of 

the ef fective par t through equity. The change in accounting policy has been applied to provide the reader of these financial 

statements with more relevant information on the Group’s financial position.

The change is accounting policy has been applied prospectively as from October 1st, 2008. We refer to note 23 of these 

financial statements for more information on financial instruments.

b) The Company has early adopted the following standard which becomes effective in 2009

IAS 23 (Amendment), ‘Borrowing costs’ (ef fective from 1 January 2009). The amendment requires an entity to capitalize 

borrowing costs directly attr ibutable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset (one that takes a 

substantial period of time to get ready for use or sale) as par t of the cost of that asset. The option of immediately expensing 

those borrowing costs will be removed. The Group applied IAS 23 (Amendment) prospectively for the qualifying assets as 

from the current period. The amount of interest capitalized during the twelve months ended as per 31 March 2009 amounts to 

k€ 2,321.

c) Interpretations effective in 2008 without impact on or not relevant to the financial statements of the Group

IFRIC 11, ‘IFRS 2 – Group and treasury share transactions’, provides guidance on whether share-based transactions involving 

treasury shares or involving Group entities (for example, options over a parent’s shares) should be accounted for as equity-

settled or cash-settled share-based payment transactions in the stand-alone accounts of the parent and group companies. 

This interpretation does not have an impact on the Group’s financial statements.

IFRIC 12, ‘Service concession arrangements’ (ef fective from 1 January 2008) - the interpretation is not relevant for the 

company’s financial statements.

IFRIC 14, ‘IAS 19 – The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and their interaction’, (ef fective from 

1 January 2008) provides guidance on assessing the limit in IAS 19 on the amount of the surplus that can be recognized as 

an asset. It also explains how the pension asset or liability may be af fected by a statutory or contractual minimum funding 

requirement. This interpretation does not have any impact on the Group’s financial statements, as the Group has a pension 

deficit and is not subject to any minimum funding requirements.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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2.3.	Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apar t from those 

involving estimations, which have the most significant ef fect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements:

Employee benefits (early retirement)

The Company has an early retirement plan for its employees in accordance with Belgian governmental legislation and has 

entered into a collective bargaining agreement. Hansen management determined that the early retirement plan is not a 

right granted to its employees. Consequently, the early retirement obligation is recorded as a termination benefit and not a 

post-employment benefit.

Goodwill (entities under common control)

The Company purchased cer tain sales of fices in June 2004 and, in the absence of specific guidance in IFRS for the 

accounting of transactions involving entities under common control, management made the following judgements in developing 

and applying an accounting policy that is relevant and reliable:

•	 the assets and liabilities of the acquired entities are reflected in the consolidated accounts of the Company at their carrying 

amounts, meaning that no adjustments were made to reflect their fair values, or to recognize any new assets or liabilities, as 

would otherwise be done under the purchase method; and 

•	 the dif ference between the consideration paid and the net assets acquired is carried in the balance sheet as par t of 

goodwill.

Share based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity 

instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value for share-based payments requires determining the 

most appropriate valuation model for a grant of equity instruments, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the 

grant. This also requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the 

option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. The assumptions and models used for estimating fair 

value for share-based payments are disclosed in Note 16.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of uncer tainty at the balance sheet date, that have a 

significant r isk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, 

are discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the “value in 

use” of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating a value in use amount requires management to 

make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate 

in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2009 was k€6,057 

(2008: k€6,057). Fur ther details are given in Note 7.
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Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 

against which the losses can be utilized. Management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets 

that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning 

strategies. The carrying value of deferred taxes on recognized tax losses is k€1,562 at 31 March 2009 and k€1,354 at 

31 March 2008 for foreign subsidiaries. Fur ther details are contained in Note 4.

Pension – defined benefit plans

The cost of defined benefit pension plans is determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves making 

assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary increases, mor tality rates and future 

pension increases. Due to the long-term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject to uncer tainty. The net employee 

liability at year end 31 March 2009 is k€2,570 (2008: k€2,158). Fur ther details are given in Note 17.

2.4.	Summary of significant accounting policies

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. 

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each 

entity are measured using that functional currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional 

currency rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 

retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All dif ferences are taken to profit or 

loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 

rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign 

operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated 

as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

The functional currency of the foreign operations is the local currency where the subsidiary operates. As at the repor ting 

date, the assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated into the presentation currency of Hansen Transmissions 

International NV (euro) at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and their income statements are translated at 

the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The exchange dif ferences arising on the translation are taken directly to a 

separate component of equity. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognized in equity relating to 

that par ticular foreign operation is recognized in the income statement.

Property, plant and equipment

Proper ty, plant and equipment is stated at cost, excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, less accumulated depreciation 

and accumulated impairment in value. Such cost includes the cost of replacing par t of the plant and equipment and borrowing 

costs for long-term construction projects if the recognition criteria are met.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the assets.

When each major inspection is per formed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a 

replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. 

An item of proper ty, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 

from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the dif ference between the 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the income statement in the year the asset is 

derecognized.

The asset’s residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each 

financial year end.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attr ibutable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a 

substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as par t of the cost of the respective assets. 

All other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense when incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs 

that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition accounting method. This involves recognizing identif iable 

assets (including previously unrecognized intangible assets) and liabilities (including contingent liabilities and excluding future 

restructuring) of the acquired business at fair value.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business 

combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquirer’s identif iable assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose 

of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the 

Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 

combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units. Each 

unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated:

•	 represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes; and

•	 is not larger than a segment based on either the Group’s primary or the Group’s secondary repor ting format determined in 

accordance with IAS 14 “Segment Repor ting”.

Where goodwill forms par t of a cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units), and par t of the operation within that unit 

is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 

determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the 

relative values of the operation disposed of and the por tion of the cash-generating unit retained.

When subsidiaries are sold, the dif ference between the selling price and the net assets plus cumulative translation dif ferences 

and unamortized goodwill is recognized in the income statement.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a 

business combination is fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at 

cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is 

an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible 

asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least at each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected 

pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortization 
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period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense on intangible 

assets with finite lives is recognized in the income statement in the expense category consistent with the function of the 

intangible asset.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for impairment annually either individually or at 

the cash generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life 

continues to be suppor table. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the dif ference between the net disposal 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the income statement when the asset is derecognized.

Research and development costs

Research costs are recognized as an expense when incurred. The Company did not enter into any development project 

meeting the recognition criteria as a separate asset in accordance with IAS 38 “Intangible Assets”.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each repor ting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication 

exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable 

amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit ’s fair value less costs to sell and 

its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 

independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 

amount, the asset is considered impaired and is writ ten down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the 

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an 

appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for 

publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognized in the income statement in those expense categories consistent 

with the function of the impaired asset.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each repor ting date as to whether there is any indication that 

previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the Group 

makes an estimate of the recoverable amount. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a 

change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. 

If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized 

for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the income statement.

Impairment losses recognized in relation to goodwill are not reversed for subsequent increases in its recoverable amount.

The following criteria are also applied in assessing impairment of specific assets:

Goodwill

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently, if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying value may be impaired.
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Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of 

cash-generating units), to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of 

cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which 

goodwill has been allocated, an impairment loss is recognized. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in 

future periods. The Group per forms its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March in each year.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually as at 31 March either individually or at the cash 

generating unit level, as appropriate and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

Receivables

Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 

Receivables are initially measured at fair value. Af ter initial measurement receivables are subsequently carried at amortized 

cost using the ef fective interest method less any allowance for impairment. Amortized cost is calculated taking into account 

any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral par t of the ef fective interest rate and transaction 

costs. Gains and losses are recognized in the income statement when the receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well 

as through the amortization process.

At each balance sheet date, the Company assesses whether receivables are impaired. If there is objective evidence that 

an impairment loss on receivables carried at amortized cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as 

the dif ference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future 

expected credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original ef fective interest rate (i.e. 

the ef fective rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through use of an allowance 

account. The amount of the loss is recognized in profit or loss.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for f inancial assets that are individually 

signif icant, and individually or collectively for f inancial assets that are not individually signif icant. If it is determined that no 

objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is 

included in a group of f inancial assets with similar credit r isk characteristics and that group of f inancial assets is collectively 

assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues 

to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 

event occurring af ter the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent 

reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed 

its amortized cost at the reversal date.

In relation to trade receivables, a provision for impairment is made when there is objective evidence (such as the probability of 

insolvency or significant financial dif f iculties of the debtor) that the Company will not be able to collect all of the amounts due 

under the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of the receivable is reduced through use of an allowance account. 

Impaired debts are derecognized when they are assessed as uncollectible.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
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Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition are accounted for as follows:

•	 Raw materials	 -	 purchase cost on a first in, f irst out basis

•	 Components	 -	 cost of direct materials and labour and a propor tion of manufacturing overheads 

based on normal operating capacity but excluding borrowing costs

•	 Finished goods and work in progress	 -	 cost of direct materials and labour and a propor tion of manufacturing overheads 

based on normal operating capacity but excluding borrowing costs

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and 

the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and shor t-term deposits in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and at hand and shor t-term deposits with an 

original maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as 

defined above, net of outstanding bank overdraf ts.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognized at the fair value of the consideration received less directly attr ibutable 

transaction costs.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the ef fective 

interest rate method.

Gains and losses are recognized in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the 

amortization process.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognized when:

•	 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

•	 the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without 

material delay to a third par ty under a “pass through” arrangement; or

•	 the Group has transferred its r ights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all the 

r isks and rewards of the asset; or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 

but has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its r ights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained 

substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of 

the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred 

asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the 

Group could be required to repay.

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a writ ten and/or purchased option (including a cash-settled option or similar 

provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that 

the Group may repurchase, except that in the case of a writ ten put option (including a cash-settled option or similar provision) 
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on an asset measured at fair value, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of 

the transferred asset and the option exercise price.

Financial l iabilities

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially dif ferent terms, or the terms 

of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original 

liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the dif ference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the income 

statement.

Provisions

General

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 

it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 

reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be 

reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when 

the reimbursement is vir tually cer tain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the income statement net of any 

reimbursement. If the ef fect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that 

reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 

passage of time is recognized as a finance cost.

Warranty provisions

The Company sets a warranty provision up for the warranty commitment for gear units delivered based on detailed and 

technical analysis on a product level. The assessment includes both an analysis of individual cases of repor ted malfunctions 

as well as management estimates of expected malfunctions and repair requirements in cer tain product lines where defects 

were repor ted.

Pensions

The Group operates three defined benefit pension plans. The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is 

determined separately for each plan using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method. All actuarial gains and losses 

are recognized directly in equity.

The past-service cost is recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become 

vested. If the benefits are already vested immediately following the introduction of, or changes to, a pension plan, past-service 

cost is recognized immediately.

The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present value of the defined benefit obligation less past-service cost not yet 

recognized and less the fair value of plan assets out of which the obligations are to be settled directly. The value of any asset 

is restricted to the sum of any past-service cost not yet recognized and the present value of any economic benefits available in 

the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in the future contributions to the plan.
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The Company also has several contributions plans for employees of the foreign subsidiaries (the United States of America, 

Australia and the United Kingdom). Cer tain employees and individuals in Belgium are also entitled to benefits under defined 

contribution plans. The cost of these pension contribution plans is recognized immediately when incurred.

Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at inception 

date or whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement 

conveys a right to use the asset. A reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies:

(a)	 there is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement;

(b)	 a renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless the term of the renewal or extension was initially included in the 

lease term;

(c)	 there is a change in the determination of whether fulf ilment is dependent on a specified asset; or

(d)	 there is a substantial change to the asset.

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the change in circumstances 

gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d) and at the date of renewal or of the extension period for scenario (b).

For arrangements entered into prior to 1 January 2005, the date of inception is deemed to be 1 January 2005 in accordance 

with the transitional requirements of IFRIC 4.

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the income statement when incurred. There are no financial leases 

where the Company is the lessee.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will f low to the Group and the revenue can 

be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates, and 

other sales taxes or duty. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized:

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the significant r isks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed 

to the buyer, usually on dispatch of the goods.

Interest income

Revenue is recognized as interest accrues (using the ef fective interest method that is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset).

Government grants

Government grants are recognized where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all at taching 

conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognized as income over the period 

necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates 

to an asset, it is set up as deferred income. Where the Group receives non-monetary grants, the asset and that grant are 

recorded at nominal amounts and are released to the income statement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by 

equal annual instalments.
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Taxes

Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 

recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are 

enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in the income statement.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary dif ferences at the balance sheet date between the tax 

bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for f inancial repor ting purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary dif ferences, except:

•	 where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction 

that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, af fects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit 

or loss; and

•	 in respect of taxable temporary dif ferences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates and interests in 

joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary dif ferences can be controlled and it is probable that the 

temporary dif ferences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary dif ferences, carry forward of unused tax credits and 

unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 

dif ferences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized except:

•	 where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary dif ference arises from the initial recognition of an 

asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, af fects neither the 

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•	 in respect of deductible temporary dif ferences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates and interests in 

joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary dif ferences 

will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary dif ferences can be 

utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it 

is no longer probable that suf ficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or par t of the deferred income tax asset to be 

utilized. Unrecognized deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognized to the extent 

that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset 

is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 

balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in the income statement.

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are of fset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set of f current 

tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 

taxation authority.
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Sales tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of sales tax except:

•	 where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which 

case the sales tax is recognized as par t of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as par t of the expense item as applicable; 

and

•	 receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as par t of receivables or 

payables in the balance sheet.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The Group uses or may use derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange, interest rate and 

commodity price risks arising from operational, f inancing and investment activities. The Company does not hold any derivative 

financial instruments for trading purposes or engage in speculative transactions.

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 

remeasured at their fair value. The method of recognizing the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is 

designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The Group designates cer tain derivatives 

as either:

(a)	 hedges of the fair value of recognized assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge);

(b)	 hedges of a par ticular r isk associated with a recognized asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction (cash 

flow hedge); or

(c)	 hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedge).

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as 

well as its r isk management objectives and strategy for under taking various hedging transactions. The Group also documents 

its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging 

transactions are highly ef fective in of fsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in note 23. Movements on the 

hedging reserve in shareholders’ equity are shown in note 12. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classif ied as a 

non-current asset or liability when the remaining hedged item is more than 12 months and as a current asset or liability when 

the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months. Trading derivatives are classif ied as a current asset or 

liability.

(a) Fair value hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income 

statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attr ibutable to the hedged risk. 

The Group may apply fair value hedge accounting for hedging fixed interest r isk on borrowings. The gain or loss relating to the 

ef fective por tion of interest rate swaps hedging fixed rate borrowings is recognized in the income statement within ‘f inance 

costs’. The gain or loss relating to the inef fective por tion is recognized in the income statement within ‘other gains/(losses) – 

net’. Changes in the fair value of the hedge fixed rate borrowings attr ibutable to interest rate risk are recognized in the income 

statement within ‘f inance costs’.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for 

which the ef fective interest method is used is amortized to profit or loss over the period to maturity.
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(b) Cash f low hedge

The ef fective por tion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualif y as cash f low hedges is 

recognized in equity. The gain or loss relating to the inef fective por tion is recognized immediately in the income statement 

within ‘other gains/ (losses) – net ’.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement in the periods when the hedged item af fects profit or 

loss (for example, when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place). The gain or loss relating to the ef fective por tion of 

interest rate swaps hedging var iable rate borrowings is recognized in the income statement within ‘ f inance costs’. The gain 

or loss relating to the inef fective por tion is recognized in the income statement within ‘other gains/(losses) – net ’. However, 

when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-f inancial asset (for example, inventory 

or f ixed assets), the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included in the init ial 

measurement of the cost of the asset. The deferred amounts are ultimately recognized in cost of goods sold in the case of 

inventory or in depreciation in the case of f ixed assets.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the cr iter ia for hedge accounting, any 

cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognized when the forecast transaction is 

ultimately recognized in the income statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative 

gain or loss that was repor ted in equity is immediately transferred to the income statement within ‘other gains/(losses) – net ’.

(c) Net investment hedge

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similar ly to cash f low hedges.

Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the ef fective por tion of the hedge is recognized in equity. The gain or 

loss relating to the inef fective por tion is recognized immediately in the income statement within ‘other gains/(losses) – net ’.

Gains and losses accumulated in equity are included in the income statement when the foreign operation is par tially 

disposed of or sold.

(d) Derivatives at fair value through profit or loss and accounted for at fair value through profit or loss

Cer tain derivative instruments may not qualif y for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of any these derivative 

instruments are recognized immediately in the income statement within ‘other gains/(losses) – net ’.

Share-based payment transactions

Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, 

whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (‘equity-set tled transactions’). 

In situations where equity instruments are issued and some or all of the goods or services received by the entity as 

consideration cannot be specif ically identif ied, the unidentif ied goods or services received (or to be received) are measured 

as the dif ference between the fair value of the share-based payment and the fair value of any identif iable goods or services 

received at the grant date. This is then capitalized or expensed as appropriate.

Equity-set tled transactions

The cost of equity-set tled transactions is measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which they are granted. The 

fair value is determined by using an appropriate pr icing model, fur ther details of which are given in Note 16.
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The cost of equity-set tled transactions is recognized, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period 

in which the per formance and/or service conditions are fulf i l led, ending on the date on which the relevant employees 

become fully entit led to the award (‘ the vesting date’). The cumulative expense recognized for equity-set tled transactions 

at each repor ting date until the vesting date ref lects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s 

best estimate of the number of equity instruments that wil l ult imately vest. The income statement expense or credit for 

a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognized as at the beginning and end of that period. No 

expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market 

condition, which are treated as vesting ir respective of whether or not the market condition is satisf ied, provided that all other 

per formance and/or service conditions are satisf ied.

Where the terms of an equity-set tled award are modif ied, the minimum expense recognized is the expense as if the terms 

had not been modif ied. An additional expense is recognized for any modif ication, which increases the total fair value of the 

share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modif ication.

Where an equity-set tled award is cancelled, it is treated as if i t had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not 

yet recognized for the award is recognized immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the 

control of either the entity or the counterpar ty are not met. However, i f a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, 

and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they 

were a modif ication of the or iginal award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive ef fect of outstanding options is ref lected as additional share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per 

share (fur ther details are given in Note 5).

2.5.	Future changes in accounting policies

The Group did not ear ly apply the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations which were issued at the date of 

authorization of these f inancial statements but not yet ef fective for the accounting year ended 31 March 2009. The Group 

anticipates that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no mater ial impact on the 

f inancial statements of the Group in the period of init ial application:

•	 IAS 1 (Revised), ‘Presentation of f inancial statements’ (ef fective from 1 January 2009). The revised standard will prohibit 

the presentation of items of income and expenses (that is, ‘non-owner changes in equity’) in the statement of changes in 

equity, requir ing ‘non-owner changes in equity’ to be presented separately from owner changes in equity. All non-owner 

changes in equity wil l be required to be shown in a per formance statement, but entit ies can choose whether to present 

one per formance statement (the statement of comprehensive income) or two statements (the income statement and 

statement of comprehensive income). Where entit ies restate or reclassify comparative information, they will be required 

to present a restated balance sheet as at the beginning comparative period in addition to the current requirement to 

present balance sheets at the end of the current period and comparative period. The Group will apply IAS 1 (Revised) 

from 1 April 2009. It is l ikely that both the income statement and statement of comprehensive income will be presented as 

per formance statements.

•	 IAS 27 (Revised), ‘Consolidated and separate f inancial statements’, (ef fective from 1 July 2009). The revised standard 

requires the ef fects of all transactions with non-controll ing interests to be recorded in equity if there is no change in 

control and these transactions will no longer result in goodwill or gains and losses. The standard also specif ies the 

accounting when control is lost. Any remaining interest in the entity is re-measured to fair value, and a gain or loss is 

recognized in profit or loss. The Group will apply IAS 27 (Revised) prospectively to transactions with non-controll ing 

interests from 1 April 2010. It is not expected to have an impact on the Group’s f inancial statements.

•	 IAS 32 (Amendment), ‘Financial instruments: Presentation’, and IAS 1 (Amendment), ‘Presentation of f inancial statements’ 

– ‘Put table f inancial instruments and obligations ar ising on liquidation’ (ef fective from 1 January 2009). The amended 
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standards require entit ies to classify put table f inancial instruments and instruments, or components of instruments that 

impose on the entity an obligation to deliver to another par ty a pro rata share of the net assets of the entity only on 

liquidation as equity, provided the f inancial instruments have par ticular features and meet specif ic conditions. The Group 

will apply the IAS 32 and IAS 1(Amendment) from 1 April 2009. It is not expected to have any impact on the Group’s 

f inancial statements.

•	 IAS 39 (Amendment), Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items (ef fective 1 July 

2009) addresses the designation of a one sided r isk in a hedged item, and the designation of inf lation as a hedged r isk or 

por tion in par ticular situations. The Group will apply the amendment from 1 January 2010. It is not expected to have any 

impact on the Group f inancial statements.

•	  IFRS 1 (Amendment) ‘First time adoption of IFRS’, and IAS 27 ‘Consolidated and separate f inancial statements’ (ef fective 

from 1 January 2009). The amended standard allows f irst-time adopters to use a deemed cost of either fair value or the 

carrying amount under previous accounting practice to measure the init ial cost of investments in subsidiar ies, jointly 

controlled entit ies and associates in the separate f inancial statements. The amendment also removes the definit ion of 

the cost method from IAS 27 and replaces it with a requirement to present dividends as income in the separate f inancial 

statements of the investor. The Group will apply IFRS 1 (Amendment) from 1 April 2009. The amendment wil l not have any 

impact on the Group’s f inancial statements.

•	 IFRS 2 (Amendment), ‘Share-based payment’ (ef fective from 1 January 2009). The amended standard deals with vesting 

conditions and cancellations. It clar if ies that vesting conditions are service conditions and per formance conditions only. 

Other features of a share-based payment are not vesting conditions. These features would need to be included in the 

grant date fair value for transactions with employees and others providing similar services; they would not impact the 

number of awards expected to vest or valuation thereof subsequent to grant date. All cancellations, whether by the entity 

or by other par ties, should receive the same accounting treatment. The Group will apply IFRS 2 (Amendment) from 1 April 

2009. It is not expected to have a mater ial impact on the Group’s f inancial statements.

•	 IFRS 3 (Revised), ‘Business combinations’ (ef fective from 1 July 2009). The revised standard continues to apply the 

acquisition method to business combinations, with some signif icant changes. For example, all payments to purchase a 

business are to be recorded at fair value at the acquisition date, with contingent payments classif ied as debt subsequently 

re-measured through the income statement. There is a choice on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis to measure the 

non-controll ing interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controll ing interest ’s propor tionate share of 

the acquiree’s net assets. All acquisition-related costs should be expensed. The Group will apply IFRS 3 (Revised) 

prospectively to all business combinations from 1 April 2010.

•	 Improvements to IFRS’s (ef fective from 1 January 2009) was issued by the IASB in May 2008 and covers minor 

amendments to IFRS’s that the Board considers to be non-urgent but necessary. The amendments will not have any 

impact on the Group operations.

•	 IFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’ replaces IAS 14, ‘Segment repor ting’, and aligns segment repor ting with the requirements 

of the US standard SFAS 131, ‘Disclosures about segments of an enterpr ise and related information’. The new standard 

requires a ‘management approach’, under which segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for 

internal repor ting purposes.

•	 IFRIC 16, ‘Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation’ (ef fective from 1 October 2008). IFRIC 16 clar if ies the 

accounting treatment in respect of net investment hedging. This includes the fact that net investment hedging relates 

to dif ferences in functional currency not presentation currency, and hedging instruments may be held anywhere in the 

Group. The requirements of IAS 21, ‘The ef fects of changes in foreign exchange rates’, do apply to the hedged item. 

The Group will apply IFRIC 16 from 1 April 2009. It is not expected to have a mater ial impact on the Group’s f inancial 

statements.
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The following interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for accounting 

periods beginning on or af ter 1 January 2009 or later periods but are not relevant for the Group’s operations:

•	 IAS 20 (Amendment), ‘Accounting for government grants and disclosure of government assistance’ (ef fective from 1 

January 2009). The benefit of a below market rate government loan is measured as the dif ference between the carrying 

amount in accordance with IAS 39, ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement’, and the proceeds received 

with the benefit accounted for in accordance with IAS 20. The amendment wil l not have an impact on the Group’s 

operations as there are no loans received from the government.

•	 IFRIC 13, ‘Customer loyalty programmes’ (ef fective from 1 July 2008). IFRIC 13 clar if ies that where goods or services are 

sold together with a customer loyalty incentive (for example, loyalty points or free products), the arrangement is a multiple 

element arrangement, and the consideration receivable from the customer is allocated between the components of the 

arrangement using fair values. IFRIC 13 is not relevant to the Group’s operations because none of the Group’s companies 

operate any loyalty programmes.

•	 IFRIC 15, ‘Agreements for construction of real estates’ (ef fective from 1 January 2009). The interpretation clar if ies whether 

IAS 18, ‘Revenue’, or IAS 11, ‘Construction contracts’, should be applied to par ticular transactions. It is l ikely to result in 

IAS 18 being applied to a wider range of transactions. IFRIC 15 is not relevant to the Group’s operations as all revenue 

transactions are accounted for under IAS 18 and not IAS 11.

•	 IFRIC 17, Distr ibution of non-cash assets to owners (ef fective from 1 July 2009). The Interpretation clar if ies that: a 

dividend payable should be recognized when the dividend is appropriately authorized and is no longer at the discretion 

of the entity; an entity should measure the dividend payable at the fair value of the net assets to be distr ibuted; and an 

entity should recognize the dif ference between the dividend paid and the carrying amount of the net assets distr ibuted in 

profit or loss. The Group will apply IFRIC 17 from 1 April 2010. It is not expected to have any impact on the Group f inancial 

statements.

•	 IFRIC 18 clar if ies the requirements for agreements in which an entity receives from a customer an item of proper ty, plant, 

and equipment that the entity must then use either to connect the customer to a network or to provide the customer with 

ongoing access to a supply of goods or services (such as a supply of electr icity, gas or water). The Group will apply IFRIC 

17 from 1 April 2010. It is not expected to have any impact on the Group f inancial statements.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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3	 Other revenues and expenses

3.1.	Other operating income

For the year ended 
31 March 2009

For the year ended 
31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Government grants (note 18)  8,006  2,304

Payroll refunds  111  70

Rebates  87  371

Net gains on disposal of proper ty, plant and equipment  50  169

Other  123  59

Other operating income  8,377  2,973

3.2.	Finance costs

For the year ended 
31 March 2009

For the year ended 
31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Interest on bank loans and overdraf ts  11,053  12,603

Foreign exchange dif ferences  1,049  1,170

Interest on late payments  -  278

Change in fair value derivatives  -  550

Other  -  4

Total finance costs  12,102  14,605

3.3.	Finance revenue

For the year ended 
31 March 2009

For the year ended 
31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Interest  9,597  6,813

Change in fair value derivatives  771  -

Other  -  -

Total finance revenue  10,368  6,813

For fur ther information on financial instruments we refer to Note 23.
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3.4.	Depreciation, amortization, foreign exchange differences and  

costs of inventories included in the consolidated income statement

For the year ended 
31 March 2009

For the year ended 
31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Included in cost of sales:    

Depreciation and amortization  22,703  14,253

Warranty provision (Note 15)  236  64

Minimum lease payments recognized as an operating lease expense  498  401

Costs of inventories recognized as an expense  441,838  303,882

   

Included in selling and distribution costs:    

Depreciation and amortization  4,417  2,479

Minimum lease payments recognized as an operating lease expense  1,309  1,036

   

Included in administrative expenses:    

Depreciation and amortization  2,718  2,073

Minimum lease payments recognized as an operating lease expense  665  386

3.5.	Sale of goods and cost of goods sold

For the year ended 
31 March 2009

For the year ended 
31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Sale of goods  609,175  421,482

Cost of sales:    

Materials  322,980  223,265

Direct labour  34,776  25,545

Variable works overheads  49,634  35,165

Change in overheads in inventory (7,233) (8,122)

Fixed works overheads  65,119  42,747

   465,275  318,600

Gross profit  143,900  102,882

3.6.	Employee benefits expense

For the year ended 
31 March 2009

For the year ended 
31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Wages and salaries  89,733  71,268

Social security costs  23,262  19,002

Pension and Post-employment benefits  2,958  2,299

Other  1,090  971

 117,043  93,540

3.7.	Research and development

Research and development costs consist of k€13,320 (2008: k€9,983) charged directly to the income statement.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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4	 Income tax

The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 March 2009 and 2008 are:

For the year ended 
31 March 2009

For the year ended 
31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Consolidated income statement    

Current income tax:    

Current income tax charge  1,311  943

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous year (111) (163)

Deferred income tax:    

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary dif ferences  15,895  2,438

Income tax expense reported in the income statement  17,095  3,218

   

Consolidated statement of recognized gains and losses    

Deferred income tax impact on actuarial gains and losses on defined 
benefit pension plans  304  123

Income tax expense reported in equity  304  123

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by domestic tax rate for the years ended 

31 March 2009 and 2008 is as follows:

For the year ended 
31 March 2009

For the year ended 
31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Accounting profit / (loss) before tax  62,135  34,515

Accounting profit before income tax  62,135  34,515

   

At aggregate weighted nominal tax rate of 34% (2008: 35%)  21,413  12,054

Adjustments in respect to current income tax of previous years (111) (163)

Government grants exempt from tax (493) (550)

Tax disallowed expenses  1,070  695

Notional interest deduction1 (4,784) (2,109)

Initial Public Offering expenses2  - (6,709)

At the effective income tax rate of 27.5% (2008: 9%)  17,095  3,218

   

Income tax expense repor ted in the consolidated income statement  17,095  3,218

 17,095  3,218
1	 Notional interest deduction: Since 2006, Belgian companies can deduct from their taxable income an amount that corresponds to a deemed interest calculated on the basis 

of their shareholders equity.

2	 For tax purposes, the expenses related to the Init ial Public Of fer ing have been expensed during the f inancial year 31 March 2008 whereas for IFRS these expenses have been 

deducted from the capital increase as shown in the equity reconcil iation (see also Note 12) .

The Company has accounted for existing tax liabilities and known tax exposures in accordance with IFRS. While it has used its 

best estimates and current knowledge of the taxable events and transactions in all jurisdictions in which it operates, it cannot 

be guaranteed that any of the tax administrations in which it operates would not attempt to adjust the corporate tax declared.
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Deferred income tax

Consolidated balance sheet Consolidated income statement

As at 
31 March 2009

As at 
31 March 2008

For the 
year ended 

31 March 2009

For the 
year ended 

31 March 2008
(€000) (€000) (€000) (€000)

Deferred tax liability2        

Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes (44,403) (34,385)  10,294  8,292

Effective interest rate amortization borrowings� (628) (756) (128) (107)

Dif ference inventory tooling (1,806) (1,211)  595  267

Untaxed reserves (7) (7)  -  3

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  -  2

(46,844) (36,359)    

       

Deferred income tax assets2        

Government grants  1,149  1,195  46 (91)

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans1�  304  123  -  -

Inventory valuation  1,844  297 (1,547)  7

Tax losses – Belgium  411  6,112  5,701 (6,112)

Tax losses – subsidiaries  1,562  1,354 (1)  401

Derivative financial instruments (hedge)  1,608  187  262 (187)

Ef fective interest rate amortization borrowings�  -  300  300  287

Formation expenses recognized directly in equity�  28  52  24  24

Taxed reserves  19  31  12 (11)

Revenue recognition  -  337  337 (337)

   6,925  9,988    

Deferred income tax (income)/expense      15,895  2,438

Deferred tax liabilities net (39,919) (26,371)

   

Reflected in the balance sheet as follows   

Deferred tax assets  1,562  1,354

Deferred tax liabilities (41,481) (27,725)

Deferred tax liabilities (net) (39,919) (26,371)

1	 Changes in the defined benefit plan obligation have been recognized directly in the statement of recognized income and expenses for k€304 and k€123 as per 31 March 

2009 and 31 March 2008 respectively.

2	 Before impact of net ting the deferred tax assets and liabil i t ies per taxable entity.

The Group has tax losses mainly related to Hansen Transmissions Inc. which arose in the period between 1 April 2003 and 

31 March 2006 and which are available for of fset against future taxable profits and which can be carried forward for a period 

of 20 years as from the period of incurring the tax losses. Deferred tax assets have been recognized in respect of these losses 

for foreign subsidiaries amounting to k€1,562 for March 2009 and k€1,354 for March 2008.

Also for Hansen Transmissions International NV, deferred tax assets were recognized for tax losses incurred in the period 

between 1 April 2007 and 31 March 2008. As per 31 March 2008 tax losses of k€17,990 were incurred, during the financial 

year 2009 k€ 16,781 was of fset against taxable profits. As at 31 March 2009 k€ 1,209 remains available for of fsetting against 

future profits. Deferred tax assets have been recognized in respect of these losses for Hansen Transmissions International NV 

amounting to k€411 (2008: k€6,112). 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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At 31 March 2009, there was no recognized deferred tax liability (2008: nil) for taxes that would be payable on the unremitted 

earnings of cer tain of the Group’s subsidiaries, as the Group had determined that undistributed profits of its subsidiaries would 

not be distr ibuted in the foreseeable future.

5	 Earnings per share

As the Company has no discontinued operations, profit for the year from continuing operations corresponds to the profit for the 

year.

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attr ibutable to ordinary equity holders of the 

parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit attr ibutable to ordinary equity holders of the parent 

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary 

shares that would be issued on the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The following reflects the income and share data used in the earnings per share computations:

For the year ended 
31 March 2009

For the year ended 
31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Net profit attr ibutable to ordinary equity holders of the parent  45,040 31,297

     

Net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent 
Adjusted for the effect of convertible preference shares  45,040 31,297

 
in thousands in thousands

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share�  670,104 543,500

 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for 
effect of dilution  670,104 543,500

In accordance with IAS 33 §47 the issued warrants have not been taken into account for the calculation of the total number 

of diluted shares since the average market price of the shares during the period did not exceed the exercise price of the 

warrants. There is also no ef fect of discontinued operations.

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the repor ting date and 

the date of completion of these financial statements.
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6	 Property, plant and equipment (net)

Freehold land 
and buildings

Plant & 
machinery, 

vehicles and 
equipment

Office & 
computer 

equipment 
and others

Construction 
in progress Totals

(€000) (€000) (€000) (€000) (€000)

Cost:          

At 1 April 2008  92,667  253,800  32,916  54,629  434,011

Additions  52,023  65,894  3,668  100,003  221,588

Transfer from one category to another  59,735  -  14,162 (73,897)  -

Disposals  - (136) (62)  - (198)

Exchange adjustment (1,183) (940)  24 (5,306) (7,405)

           

At 31 March 2009  203,242  318,618  50,708  75,429  647,996

         

Depreciation and impairment:          

At 1 April 2008  5,588  63,244  22,032  -  90,864

Depreciation charge for the year  2,386  11,755  14,168    28,309

Disposals  - (52) (61)  - (113)

Exchange adjustment (20) (162) (13)  - (195)

           

At 31 March 2009  7,954  74,785  36,126  -  118,865

         

Net book value:          

At 31 March 2009  195,288  243,833  14,582  75,429  529,131

At 31 March 2008  87,079  190,556  10,884  54,629  343,147

Useful lives

The useful lives of the assets are estimated as follows:

•	 freehold land and buildings: 40 to 50 years

•	 plant and machinery: 2 to 15 years

•	 moulds: 3 years

•	 cars: 5 years

•	 office equipment: 3 to 10 years

No impairment of proper ty, plant and equipment took place between 1 April 2007 and 31 March 2009. Fixed assets with a 

carrying amount of k€333,790 are subject to a first charge to secure the Group’s bank loans (Note 14).

Included in proper ty, plant and equipment at 31 March 2009 was an amount of k€75,429 (2008: k€54,629) relating to 

expenditures for a plant in the course of construction.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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7	 Goodwill and intangible assets (net)

Goodwill Intangibles Total

(€000) (€000) (€000)

Cost:      

At 1 April 2008  6,057  7,705  13,762

Additions  -  3,920  3,920

Currency translation adjustment  - (85) (85)

       

At 31 March 2009  6,057  11,540  17,597

     

Depreciation and impairment:      

At 1 April 2008  -  4,799  4,799

Amortization  -  1,529  1,529

       

At 31 March 2009  -  6,328  6,328

     

Net book value:      

At 31 March 2009  6,057  5,212  11,269

At 31 March 2008  6,057  2,906  8,963

Useful lives of intangibles

The useful lives of the assets are estimated as follows:

•	 computer software: 4 to 10 years

No impairment of intangibles took place between 1 April 2007 and 31 March 2009.

8	 Impairment testing of goodwill

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations

The Group tests goodwill for impairment annually or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired. 

The ‘recoverable amount’ of a CGU is determined based on ‘value in use’ calculations. These calculations are based on cash 

flow projections as derived from financial budgets approved by management. Cash flows beyond the projected forecast period 

are extrapolated using estimated growth rates stated below.

Goodwill is allocated to the Group cash-generating units (CGU’s) that are expected to benefit from that business combination. 

The discount rate (refer below) is derived from market consensus analyst repor ts on post-tax WACC for the Group grossed-up 

with the local applicable company tax rate for discounting pre-tax cash flows.
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The Company determined that no impairments exist based upon the following key assumptions for the calculation of value in 

use:

•	 Gross margins – Gross margins are based on average values achieved in the three years preceding the star t of the budget 

period.

•	 Growth rate estimates – Rates are based on internal estimated growth rates.

Discount rate – post tax 9.26 %

Inflation 2.20 %

Growth rate 0.00 %

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

Management recognizes that the speed of technological change and the possibility of new entrants can have a significant 

impact on growth rate assumptions. The ef fect of new entrants is not expected to impact adversely on forecasts included in 

the budget, but could yield a reasonably possible alternative to the estimated long-term growth rate.

9	 Inventories (net)

As at 

31 March 2009
As at 

31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Raw materials  40,177  28,807

Components  105,877  68,742

Other work in progress  60,276  34,360

Finished goods  2,671  4,267

Total inventories  209,001  136,176

During the financial year ended 31 March 2009, an expense of k€ 777 was recognized in cost of sales as a result of a reversal 

of write-down of inventories while at 31 March 2008 an income of k€528 was recognized.

For terms and conditions relating to related par ty receivables, refer to Note 21.

10	Trade and other receivables (net) (current)

As at 
31 March 2009

As at 
31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Trade receivables  182,061  88,488

Allowance for bad debtors (45) (36)

Other receivables  21,544  22,142

 203,560  110,594

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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At 31 March 2009, doubtful trade receivables at nominal value of k€45 (2008: k€36) were fully provided for. Movements in the 

provision for impairment of receivables were as follows:

As at 
31 March 2009

As at 
31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

At 1 April  36 24

Charge for the year  15 12

Amounts written off (6)  -

Unused amounts reversed  -  -

At 31 March  45  36

Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and are generally on 30 to 90-days terms.

As at 31 March, the analysis of trade receivables that were past due but not impaired is as follows:

Total

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired

Past due but not impaired

< 30  
days

30 – 60 
days

60 – 90 
days

90 – 120 
days

>120  
days

(€000) (€000) (€000) (€000) (€000) (€000) (€000)

March 2008  88,488  74,575  11,435  635  1,255  287  301

March 2009  182,061  93,270  22,446  26,009  15,645  176  24,515

11	Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank earns interest at f loating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Cash equivalents include shor t-term deposits 

which are made for varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements 

of the Group, and earn interest at the respective shor t-term deposit rates. The fair value of cash and shor t-term deposits at 

31 March 2009 is k€126,396 (2008: k€325,512).

At 31 March 2009, the Group had € 93.3 million available (2008: € 69.1 million) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities in 

respect of which all conditions precedent had been met.

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

As at  
31 March 2009

As at 
 31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Cash at bank and in hand  18,016  4,556

Short term deposits  88,380  320,956

Short term deposits with maturity between 3 months and 6 months  20,000  -

 126,396  325,512
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12	Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the period ended 31 March 2009

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

Issued 
capital

Share 
premium

Retained 
earnings

Net results 
recognized 

directly 
in equity Total equity

(€000) (€000) (€000) (€000) (€000)

At 1 April 2008  17,966  419,563  117,752 (8,163)  547,118

         

Foreign currency translation  -  -  - (5,242) (5,242)

Shares to issue (IFRS 2)        529  529

Actuarial gains/ (losses) recognized in the statement 
of recognized income and expense  -  -  - (350) (350)

Cash-flow hedges (net of tax)  -  -  - (3,272) (3,272)

Total income and expense for the year recognized 
directly in equity  -  -  - (8,335) (8,335)

         

Profit for the period  -  -  45,040  -  45,040

Total income and expense for the period  -  -  45,040 (8,335)  36,705

At 31 March 2009  17,966  419,563  162,792 (16,498)  583,823

For the period ended 31 March 2008

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

Issued 
capital

Share 
premium

Retained 
earnings

Net results 
recognized 

directly 
in equity Total equity

(€000) (€000) (€000) (€000) (€000)

At 1 April 2007  13,092  64,374  86,455 (1,887)  162,034

         

Foreign currency translation  -  -  - (6,936) (6,936)

Actuarial gains/ (losses) recognized in the statement 
of recognized income and expense  -  -  -  660  660

Total income and expense for the year recognized 
directly in equity  -  -  - (6,276) (6,276)

         

Profit for the period  -  -  31,297  -  31,297

Total income and expense for the period  -  -  31,297 (6,276)  25,021

         

Repayment of share premium  - (60,000)  -  - (60,000)

Issue of share capital on 11 December 2007  4,431  395,569  -  -  400,000

Issue of share capital on 13 December 2007  443  39,557  -  -  40,000

Transaction costs for issue of shares  - (19,937)  -  - (19,937)

At 31 March 2008  17,966  419,563  117,752 (8,163)  547,118

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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On the extra-ordinary shareholders meeting of 27 November 2007 it was decided that the existing ordinary shares of the 

Company would be split on the basis of a ratio of 1 existing ordinary share for 1,250 new ordinary shares. As a result, the 

outstanding ordinary shares of the company were 488,303,750 at that date.

On 11 December 2007 the shareholders agreed to increase the capital by EUR 400 million through a Global Offering 

with admission to the of ficial list of the London Stock Exchange plc through the emission of 165,273,143 ordinary shares. 

Additionally, on 13 December 2007 the shareholders agreed to increase the capital again by EUR 40 million through the 

emission of an additional 16,527,315 ordinary shares.

13	Issued capital and reserves

Share capital and share premium

The issued capital of the Company amounts to k€17,966 at 31 March 2009 (2008: k€17,966), represented by 670,104,208 

shares, fully paid-up, without nominal value, each representing an equal par t of the capital. All shares are in registered form 

and admitted to the Official List of the Financial Services Authority and to trading on the main market of the London Stock 

Exchange. In the section on “Shareholders and Director’s interests” included in this Repor t, it is explained that depositary 

interests have been issued in respect of the shares (each depositary interest representing one share).

At 31 March 2009, the share premium reserves amounted to k€419,653 (2008: k€419,653).

On 27 November 2007, the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting authorized the Board of Directors to increase the Company’s 

share capital, in one or more transactions, up to a maximum amount which must not exceed an aggregate amount of 

k€5,841.23. The authorization is valid for a period of f ive years from 21 December 2007 onwards. As a matter of law, the 

authorization cannot be used for a capital increase primarily ef fected by contribution in kind by a person holding, alone or with 

other par ties, more than 10% of the voting rights.

In the case of a capital increase pursuant to the authorized capital, the Board of Directors may (in the interests of the 

Company) restrict or cancel the preferential subscription rights of the shareholders, including in favour of one or more specific 

persons other than employees. However, such application of the authorization is subject to an additional limitation in time (i.e. 

for a period not exceeding 15 months) and a limitation to 5% of the share capital (in the aggregate). Offers of equity securities 

which are open for acceptance (i) to existing shareholders on the basis of preference rights or other persons so entitled 

(subject to cer tain exclusions) or (ii) in the framework of share schemes for management and employees of the Company or its 

subsidiaries are not subject to these additional limitations, however. It should be noted that the above-mentioned limited period 

may be renewed by resolution of the shareholders’ meeting adopted by a simple majority of the votes cast, each time for a 

period not exceeding 15 months. At the annual shareholders’ meeting held on 26 June 2008, the meeting resolved to renew 

this par ticular authorization for the period expiring on 26 September 2009 or, if earlier, the date of the annual shareholders’ 

meeting to be held in 2009. A fur ther renewal is being put on the agenda of the upcoming annual shareholders’ meeting.

The Board of Directors has used its authority to increase the share capital of the Company in the financial year ending 

31 March 2009 to issue warrants in the framework and within the limits of (i) the Hansen Warrants Plan 2007 as approved by 

the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting of the Company of 27 November 2007 and (ii) the Employee Warrants Grant 2008, as 

approved by the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting of the Company of 27 November 2007. See also the section on “Capital 

structure, shares, depositary interests and warrants” with respect to the Hansen Warrants Plan 2007 and the “Employee 

Warrants Grant 2008.



|   107

Other reserves

Other reserves includes the actuarial gains and losses on the defined benefit pension plans and the hedging reserve. 

Cumulative actuarial gains and losses recognized in other reserves amount to (k€589) (2008: (k€239)). The movements year on 

year of the actuarial gains and losses recognized in other reserves are respectively (k€350) and k€660 for the periods ended 

31 March 2009 and 31 March 2008.

The hedging reserve amounts to (k€3,272) as at 31 March 2009 (2008: nil).

Cumulative translation adjustments

The cumulative translation adjustments reserve represents the cumulative currency translation dif ferences relating to the 

consolidation of Group companies that use functional currencies other than the euro. The cumulative foreign currency 

translation reserve amounts to respectively (k€13,166) and (k€7,924) as at 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2008. The year on 

year movements of the foreign currency translation reserve are respectively (k€5,242) and (k€6,936) for the periods ended 

31 March 2009 and 31 March 2008.

14	Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

As at  
31 March 2009

As at  
31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Current    

Current portion of bank borrowings  2  4

Debentures and other short-term loans  3,516  -

 3,518  4

Non-current    

Bank borrowings  246,984  192,777

 246,984  192,777

In 2007 a ‘Multi-Currency Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility’ agreement has been signed by Hansen Transmissions 

International. The total facility of this agreement amounts to € 260 million (2007: € 260 million).

At year-end, the total amount drawn down was € 195 million (2008: € 195 million). The Borrowings linked to the Facilities 

Agreement bear interest using a Euribor floating interest rate plus a margin depending on Hansen leverage ratio on the 

covenants of the agreement. The floating interest rate payments are subject to a designated cash flow hedge using cap and 

floor contracts with a nominal amount of € 105 million, thereby fixing the interest rate for the Group between 3.86% and 4.75%. 

See Note 23 for fur ther details on these hedges.

The fees paid for the arrangement of the Facilities Agreement are amortized over the estimated term of the Facility.

On 8 April 2008 Hansen Drives Ltd, India together with the parent Hansen company entered into three new loan agreements 

with Societé Generale for a total amount of € 89.8 million in order to finance the purchasing of production machines and 

equipment for the new Indian production plant. As at 31 March 2009 € 61.7 million of this facility has been used and 

€ 28.3 million is outstanding as unused borrowing facility. The borrowings linked to the Facilities Agreement bear interest using 

a Euribor floating interest rate plus a margin depending on the covenants of the agreement.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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On 31 March 2009, the floating weighted average interest rate for the Group amounted to 4.96% (2008: 6.15%).

Since the bank borrowings are at a floating interest rate that is reset at maximum every six months, the carrying amount of the 

bank borrowings equates to its fair value. With respect to the current borrowings, the carrying amounts approximate their fair 

values as the ef fect of discounting is considered to be insignificant.

Please refer to Note 22 for the maturity analysis of the Group borrowings (excluding other financial liabilities).

15	Provisions

 Provision early retirement Provision warranty Total

(€000) (€000) (€000)

     

At 1 April 2008  1,464  4,215  5,679

Arising during the year  398  7,292  7,690

Utilized (346) (7,282) (7,628)

At 31 March 2009  1,516  4,225  5,741

     

Current 2009  345  4,225  4,570

Non-current 2009  1,171  -  1,171

 1,516  4,225  5,741

     

Current 2008  459  4,215  4,674

Non-current 2008  1,005  -  1,005

 1,464  4,215  5,679

Warranties

A provision is recognized for expected warranty claims on products. The provision set up for warranties is based on 

detailed and technical analysis on a product level. The assessment includes both an analysis of individual cases of repor ted 

malfunctions as well as management estimates of expected malfunctions and repair requirements in cer tain product lines 

where defects were repor ted. It is expected that most of these costs will be incurred in the next financial year. 

Early retirement

Once a formal agreement on early retirement exists between the Company and the employee, a provision is set up. 

Assumptions used to calculate the provision for early retirement are expected salary increase as well as actualisation to 

present obligation.
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16	Share-based payments

On 26 June 2008, the Company granted in total 1,315 thousand warrants to senior executives under the “Hansen Warrants 

Plan 2007” (“Executive Warrants”) and 757.3 thousand warrants to employees under the “Employee Warrants Grant 2008” 

(“Employee Warrants”). The warrants issued confer to the right to subscribe to one ordinary share. The exercise price of the 

warrants of €3.73 (GBP 295 pence) was equal to the average of the closing share price of the Company at the London Stock 

Exchange during the 30 calendar days prior to the issuance date of the warrants. The warrants may be exercised during the 

exercise windows occurring as from the first day of the four th calendar year following the calendar year during which the grant 

date occurred and until the expiry of the warrant period. The warrant period means the period star ting on the grant date of the 

warrants and ending at the end of the day before the fif th anniversary of the grant date. The Executive Warrants will vest as 

follows:

•	 25% of the number of warrants granted vest upon the grant date;

•	 An additional 25% of the number of warrants vests upon the first, second and third anniversary of the grant date.

The Employee Warrants vest upon the third anniversary of the grant date.

The Group operates only equity-settled share-based compensation plans, IFRS2 (Share-based Payment) has been applied to 

all equity instruments.

It follows from the above that, if all the rights attached to these warrants were exercised, Hansen’s capital would be k€445,256 

and the number of shares issued by Hansen would be 672,175,908.

The services rendered by the employees as consideration for warrants are recognized as an expense. The expense 

corresponds to the fair value of the warrant plans and is charged to income on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of 

the plan.

The fair value of the warrant plan is measured at the grant date using the Black and Scholes valuation model taking into 

account the fair value (market price) of one company’s share, the current best estimate of the number of warrants that will 

vest, the expected life and cancellation rate of the warrants. At each balance sheet date, the entity revises its estimates of 

the number of warrants that are expected to become exercisable. The proceeds received net of any directly attr ibutable 

transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium when the warrants are exercised.

Expenses for equity compensation plans

The expense recognized as at 31 March 2009 for the warrant plans amounts to k€529 and is included in the relevant functional 

lines of the income statement:

For the year ended 
31 March 2009

For the year ended 
31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Cost of sales  111  -

Administrative expenses  418  -

Total operating expense  529  -

Of which equity settled:    

Warrant plans  529  -

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 



Corporate GovernanceFinancials

110  |  Annual Report 2009

Warrant plans

The movements in the number of warrants outstanding and their related weighted average exercise prices as at 31 March are:

2009 2008

Fair value
Exercise 

price
Number of 

warrants Fair value
Exercise 

price
Number of 

warrants

Outstanding at 1 April  -  -  -  -  -  -

+ New warrants granted  0.74  3.73  3,014,400  -  -  -

(-) warrants forfeited  0.74  3.73 - 943,300  -  -  -

(-) warrants exercised  -  -  -  -  -  -

(-) warrants expired  -  -  -  -  -  -

Outstanding at 31 March  0.74  3.73  2,071,100  -  -  -

Number of warrants fully vested:            

At 1 April  -  -  -  -  -  -

At 31 March  -  -  328,750  -  -  -

Number of rights exercisable:            

At 1 April  -  -  -  -  -  -

At 31 March  -  -  -  -  -  -

Expected remaining life (years):            

At 1 April  -  -  -  -  -  -

At 31 March  -  -  3.5  -  -  -

The weighted average fair value of warrants granted in June 2008, determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model, was 

€0.74. The volatility measured at the standard deviation of expected share price returns is based on a statistical analysis of 

daily share prices over the period since the listing of the share on the stock market and sector averages since the listed period 

only comprises six months. The expected for feiture rate is based on actual turnover of employees for categories eligible for 

stock based compensation. The significant assumptions used in the measurement of warrants granted in June 2008 are:

Exercise price 295 GBP - pence

Share price 278 GBP - pence

Expected volatility 20 %

Expected life of the warrant 4.25 years

Expected dividend yield 0 %

Risk free interest rate 4.5 %

Expected annual forfeiture rate 7 %

17	Pensions

The Group has three defined benefit pension plans for the employees of Hansen Transmissions International NV. The three 

defined benefit plans cover in total all employees. There exists one plan for members of the Board of Directors, one for higher 

management and one for other employees. In all three cases, the employer makes 100% of the contributions to these plans. 

The plan for members of higher management assumes a retirement age of 62 while the other plans assume an age of 65. The 

Company has also several contribution plans for employees of the foreign subsidiaries (the United States of America, Australia 

and the United Kingdom). Cer tain employees in Belgium are also entitled to benefits under defined contribution plans. The cost 

of these pension contribution plans is recognized immediately when incurred.
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The Group operates a defined benefits plan for its employees in India (“Gratuity plan”) for which the contributions are 100% 

employer contributions. The cost of the plan is recognized immediately when incurred.

Net benefit expense

The following tables summarise the components of net benefit expense recognized in the income statement and the fund 

status and amounts recognized in the balance sheet for the respective plans:

Net benefit expense

For the year ended 
31 March 2009

For the year ended 
31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Current service cost (705) (699)

Interest cost on benefit obligation (401) (360)

Expected return on plan assets  222  224

Net actuarial gain/(loss) recognized in the year  - (21)

Past service cost  -  -

Net benefit expense (884) (856)

   

Actuarial (losses)/gains recognized in the statement  
of recognized gains and losses (350)  660

   

Actual return on plan assets  57  90

At 31 March 2009, the cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognized in the statement of recognized income and 

expense is (k€589) (2008: (k€239)). These relate to the period between 1 April 2004 and 31 March 2009.

Benefit asset/(liability)

For the year ended 
31 March 2009

For the year ended 
31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Defined benefit obligation (8,504) (7,445)

Fair value of plan assets  5,934  5,287

(2,570) (2,158)

     

Benefit liability (2,570) (2,158)

The Company elected to recognize immediately all actuarial gains and losses on the defined benefit plans. The liability in the 

balance sheet corresponds to the dif ference between the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at the end 

of the period.
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Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

For the year ended 
31 March 2009

For the year ended 
31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Defined benefit obligation at 1 April  7,445  7,958

Interest cost  401  359

Current service cost  705  699

Benefits paid (413) (477)

Actuarial (gains)/losses on obligation  366 (1,094)

Defined benefit obligation at 31 March  8,504  7,445

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

For the year ended 
31 March 2009

For the year ended 
31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Fair value of plan assets at 1 April  5,287  4,878

Expected return  222  223

Contributions by employer  1,003  796

Benefits paid (413) (477)

Actuarial gains/(losses) (165) (133)

Fair value of plan assets at 31 March  5,934  5,287

The Group expects to contribute k€1,104 to its defined benefit pension plans between 1 April 2009 and 31 March 2010.

The defined benefit plans are all f inanced through a group insurance product at For tis. For tis Insurance Belgium guarantees 

a cer tain interest return on the contributions made. The guaranteed interest return is 4.75% for the reserves built up until 1 

January 1999 and on the contributions made af ter this date until the contribution level of 1 January 1999 is reached. On all 

other contributions a guaranteed interest rate of 3.25% is applicable. Additionally, a profit share is received annually which is 

dependent upon the results of For tis Insurance Belgium. The underlying plan assets are managed by For tis Insurance Belgium 

in such a way as to meet the guaranteed interest rate mentioned above. Consequently, the Company is not aware of the 

propor tion of total plan assets made up from each of the major categories of plan assets.

The principal assumptions used in determining pension benefit obligations for the Group’s plan are shown below:

2009 2008
% %

Discount rate  5.85  5.5

Expected rate of return on assets  4.0  4.0

Future salary increases  3.0  3.0

Inflation  2.2  1.8

Future pension increases  2.2  1.8

The Company has no post-employment benefit plans which cover future healthcare costs for the employees.
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Amounts for the current and previous three periods are as follows:

As at  
31 March 2009

As at 
31 March 2008

As at 
31 March 2007 

As at 
31 March 2006 

(€000) (€000) (€000) (€000)

Defined benefit obligation (8,504) (7,445) (7,958) (6,918)

Plan assets  5,934  5,287  4,878  3,453

(Deficit)/surplus (2,570) (2,158) (3,080) (3,465)

Experience adjustments on plan 
liabilities (680)  183 (281) (219)

Experience adjustments on plan assets (165) (134)  65 (47)

The Company also has several contribution plans for cer tain foreign subsidiaries (the United Kingdom, Australia, South-Africa 

and the United States of America). Total contributions paid for the contribution plans amount to k€442 during the financial year 

ended 31 March 2009 (2008: k€396).

18	Deferred income (grant)

As at 31 March 2009 As at 31 March 2008
(€000) (€000)

At 1 April  8,759  10,522

Granted during the year  6,271  540

Released to the income statement (8,006) (2,303)

At 31 March  7,024  8,759

Non-current  6,298  5,466

Current  726  3,293

 7,024  8,759

The Company received a grant in accounting year 2006-2007 for an amount of k€7,261 related to the additional investment in 

the Lommel (Belgium) plant for an increase in capacity. The realisation period for this investment is between 1 May 2006 and 

31 December 2009 and the total investment subject to government grants amounts to k€108,831. The new grant was subject 

to cer tain criteria of which some were already met (such as, the location having been opened, solvency criteria, a business 

plan being in place) and others still needed to be attained.

The Company still needs to provide cer tain documentation to the authorities. From the total grant of k€7,261 an amount of 

k€4,357 (2008: k€4,357) had already been received in cash from the authorities as at 31 March 2009, an additional k€1,452 

has been received on 2 April 2009. Also k€5,809 of the grant had already been released in profit and loss as at 31 March 

2009 (2008: k€4,357) and related to the employment criterion of the grant, business plans, solvency, ISO 14001 and the 

cer tif icate for SA8000, as these were already attained by the Company as at 31 March 2009.

The Company received a grant during the year relating to the investment in China amounting to k€5,603 and released it to the 

income statement. 
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19	Trade and other payables (current)
As at 31 March 2009 As at 31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Trade payables  128,213  122,455

Other payables  32,549  -

 160,762  122,455

Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities:

•	 Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 60-day terms.

•	 Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 75-day terms.

20	Commitments

Operating lease commitments – Group as lessee

The Group has entered into commercial leases on cer tain motor vehicles, items of machinery and buildings. These leases have 

an average life of between one and 10 years. No renewal options are included in the contracts for motor vehicles and items of 

machinery. There are renewal clauses included in the lease agreements for the buildings. There are no restrictions placed upon 

the lessee by entering into these leases.

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 March are as follows:

As at 31 March 2009 As at 31 March 2008
(€000) (€000)

Within one year  4,201  2,205

After one year but not more than five years  10,787  4,953

More than five years  3,300  391

 18,288  7,549

Capital commitments

At 31 March 2009, the Group had commitments of € 124.39 million (2008: € 183.83 million) for the completion of the operating 

facilities in Lommel, Belgium, India and China.

Environmental commitments

When the Company was sold from Invensys plc to Allianz Capital Par tners (through the wholly-owned subsidiary of AE-Rotor 

Holding BV, Eve Holding NV) in June 2004, Invensys plc indemnified Eve Holding NV from most environmental liabilities but 

subject to cer tain limits and conditions. This environmental indemnity by Invensys plc expires for any liabilities which have not 

been validly notif ied to Invensys plc before 30 June 2011.

At the plant site in Edegem (Belgium) soil contamination was identif ied before the closure of the Sale and Purchase Agreement 

of 19 May 2004 between Invensys plc and Eve Holding NV. This soil pollution is covered through the indemnification by 

Invensys plc, as explained above.
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The soil contamination present at the site of the Edegem facility in June 2004 was cleaned up and is being monitored at the 

expense of Invensys plc. To the best of its knowledge, Hansen is not aware of any additional soil contamination which would 

not have been cleaned up by Invensys plc or which would have been caused at the site af ter June 2004, and which would 

require fur ther remediation.

The ongoing liquidation of Eve Holding NV was closed by an extraordinary shareholders’ meeting of 11 September 2008. It was 

determined that all remaining debts and claims of Eve Holding were to transfer to its shareholder, AE-Rotor Holding BV, upon 

the closing of such liquidation.

21	Related party disclosures

The financial statements include the financial statements of Hansen Transmissions International NV and the subsidiaries listed 

in the following table:

% equity interest

Name Country of incorporation
As at 

31 March 2009 
As at 

31 March 2008 

Hansen Drives Ltd India  100  100

Hansen Transmissions Tianjin 
Industrial Gearbox Co., Ltd China  99.9  99.9

Hansen Wind Energy Drives (China) Co., Ltd China  99.0  -

Hansen Transmissions Inc United States of America  100  100

Hansen Transmissions Pty Australia  100  100

Hansen Transmissions Pty Ltd South Africa  100  100

Hansen Transmissions Ltd United Kingdom  100  100

Hansen Transmissões Mecânicas Ltda Brazil  99.9  99.9

Lommelpark NV Belgium  100  100

Hansen Drives Pte. Ltd. Singapore  100  -

Hansen Drives Limited Hong Kong  100  -

Sunrise Wind Project Private Limited India  100  -

The following table provides the total amount of transactions, which have been entered into with related par ties for the relevant 

financial year:

Sales to  
related parties

Amounts owed by 
related parties

Interest paid to 
related parties

(€000) (€000) (€000)

Entity having significant control over the Group:      

As at 31 March 2008      

Suzlon Energy Ltd.  33,482  17,019  -

As at 31 March 2009      

Suzlon Energy Ltd.  138,811  98,247  6

Hansen Transmissions International NV has been par t of the Suzlon Energy Group since March 2006.

Transactions between Hansen Transmissions International NV and all of its subsidiaries, which are related par ties, have been 

eliminated in consolidation and are not disclosed in this Note.
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Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

The sales to and purchases from related par ties are made at normal market prices. Outstanding balances at the year end 

are unsecured, interest-bearing and settlement occurs in cash. There have been no guarantees provided or received for 

any related par ty receivables or payables. For the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group has not recorded any impairment 

of receivables relating to amounts owed by related par ties (2008: nil). This assessment is under taken each financial year by 

examining the financial position of the related par ty and the market in which the related par ty operates.

Compensation of Board members and key management of the Group

For the year ended 
31 March 2009

For the year ended 
31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Short-term employee benefits  4,784  3,491

Post-employment pension  271  1,172

Termination Benefits  357  -

Share based payments  418  -

Reimbursements of expense notes  98  102

Total compensation paid to key management personnel  5,928  4,765

The following persons are key management personnel1:

• Ivan Brems

• Alex De Ryck2

• Peter Flamang

• Koenraad D’Helf t3

• Stefan Lammens

• Torsten Schultz

• Luc De Proost

• Georges Roobaer t

• Bernard Moerman4

• Clif f Dawson5

• Peter Van Peborgh6

The following persons are Board members:

• Tulsi R. Tanti7

• Dr Winfried Walzer8

• Janice Margeret Brown

• Torben Bjerre-Madsen9

• Marc Desaedeleer

• Ivan Brems10

• Alex De Ryck10

1	 Matts Lundgren and Bo Hedenström are included as key management personnel unti l April 2007 and September 2007 respectively

2	 As permanent representative of ADR Consulting BVBA 

3	 Since May 2007 and as permanent representative of Associatie D’Helf t BVBA

4	 Since March 2008 and as permanent representative of B.Moerman BVBA

5	 Since August 2008 and as permanent representative of Clif f Dawson BVBA

6	 Until May 2008

7	 Non-remunerated Director – Chairman of the Board

8	 As permanent representative of Dr.-Ing. Winfr ied Walzer GmbH

9	 As permanent representative of Bjerres Bureau Aps

10	 Non-remunerated Executive Directors
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22	Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group is exposed to various financial r isks arising from its underlying operational and financing activities. These financial 

r isks comprise market r isks (interest r isk, currency risk and price risk), credit r isk and liquidity r isk. The Board of Directors 

reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are summarised below. Financial r isk management within 

the Group aims at reducing the impact of these market r isks through ongoing operational and financing activities.

It is Hansen’s policy and practice to use derivatives exclusively as hedging instruments and not for trading or other speculative 

purposes. The Group does therefore not hold or issue any such instruments for such purposes. Derivative financial instruments 

that are economic hedges but that do not qualify for hedge accounting under the strict “IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement” hedge accounting rules, however, are accounted for as financial assets or liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss.

The principal f inancial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise bank loans and overdraf ts and loans given. The main 

purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various financial assets 

such as trade receivables and cash and shor t-term deposits, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group also enters into derivatives, caps and floors. The purpose is to manage the interest rate risks arising from the 

Group’s operations and its sources of f inance, as listed in the table below.

Interest rate risk

Changes in market interest rates may cause variations in interest income and expenses resulting from interest bearing assets 

and liabilities of the Group. As described in note 14 the Group’s major debt obligations are floating rate instruments.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost by entering into interest rate derivatives (interest caps and floors). These 

derivatives are designated to hedge underlying interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, and the Group 

does not designate derivative financial instruments (interest rate swaps) as hedging instruments under a fair value hedge 

accounting model. Therefore a change in interest rates at the repor ting date would not af fect the income statement.

Effect of interest rate fluctuations

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held 

constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings). There is no impact on the Group’s 

equity.

2009 2008

Increase/decrease 
in basis points

Effect on profit and 
loss before tax

Increase/decrease 
in basis points

Effect on profit and 
loss before tax

    (€000)     (€000)

EUR +15 (26) EUR +15  +292

EUR -10  +17 EUR -10 (194)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from sales or purchases by an operating unit in 

currencies other than the unit ’s functional currency. Approximately 8.56% (2008: 9.7%) of the Group’s sales are denominated in 

currencies other than the functional currency of the Company.
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The Group has cer tain investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. 

The ef fect of translation exposure arising from the consolidation of the foreign currency denominated financial statements of 

the Group foreign subsidiaries is shown as a translation adjustment in the Group consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the US dollar, British pound, Australian 

dollar, South African rand, Chinese yen, Brazilian real and Indian rupee exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of 

the Group’s equity and profit af ter tax:

2009 2008

 

Increase/
decrease in  

exchange rate

Impact on 
equity:  

gain/(loss)

Effect on 
profit and loss 

before tax: 
gain/(loss)  

Increase/
decrease in  

exchange rate

Impact on 
equity:  

gain/(loss)

Effect on 
profit and loss 

before tax: 
gain/(loss)

    (€000) (€000)     (€000) (€000)

USD +5%  +215  +56 USD +5%  +133  +77

GBP +5%  +132 (5) GBP +5%  +161  +9

AUD +5%  +110  +45 AUD +5%  +75  +29

ZAR +5%  +143  +43 ZAR +5%  +100  +69

CNY +5%  +1,777 (11) CNY +5%  +64  +28

BRL +5% (4) (15) BRL +5%  +14  +4

INR +5%  +4,978 (450) INR +5%  +2,481 (19)

               

USD -5% (195) (51) USD -5% (120) (70)

GBP -5% (118)  +5 GBP -5% (144) (8)

AUD -5% (101) (40) AUD -5% (67) (26)

ZAR -5% (128) (39) ZAR -5% (90) (63)

CNY -5% (1,607)  +10 CNY -5% (56) (25)

BRL -5%  +3  +14 BRL -5% (11) (4)

INR -5% (4,504)  +407 INR -5% (2,245)  +17

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognized, creditwor thy third par ties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade 

on credit terms are subject to credit verif ication procedures. In addition, receivables balances are monitored on an ongoing 

basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions that do not occur in the country 

of the relevant operating unit, the Group does not of fer credit terms without the approval of the head of credit control.

With respect to credit r isk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents and 

cer tain derivative instruments, the Group’s exposure to credit r isk arises from default of the counterpar ty, with a maximum 

exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its r isk to a shor tage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of 

both its financial investments and financial assets (e.g. accounts receivables and other financial assets) and projected cash 

flows from operations.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2008 based 

on contractual undiscounted payments.
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Year ended 31 March 2009
On 

demand
Less than 
3 months

3 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
years

> 5  
years Total

(€000) (€000) (€000) (€000) (€000) (€000)

Interest bearing loans and borrowings  -  3,518  -  226,319  20,665  250,502

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  4,730  -  4,730

Trade and other payables  160,762  -  -  -  -  160,762

 160,762  3,518  -  231,049  20,665  415,994

Year ended 31 March 2008
On 

demand
Less than 
3 months

3 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
years

> 5  
years Total

(€000) (€000) (€000) (€000) (€000) (€000)

Interest bearing loans and borrowings  -  4  3  133,437  59,337  192,781

Derivative financial instruments  544  -  -  -  -  544

Trade and other payables  122,445  -  -  -  -  122,445

 122,989  4  3  133,437  59,337  315,770

Raw materials price risk

The Group’s operations and its ability to manufacture, market and sell its products are af fected by the prices of raw materials 

(such as steel and cast iron) and intermediate components (bearings and couplings) used in production.

The Company does not hold any hedges for the risk of raw materials price fluctuations. 

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains strong and healthy capital ratios in order 

to suppor t its business and maximise shareholder value while keeping the desired flexibility to execute the strategic projects.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in the light of changes in economic conditions. 

To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to 

shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 

31 March 2009 and 31 March 2008.

For the year ended 
31 March 2009

For the year ended 
31 March 2008

(€000) (€000)

Interest bearing loans and borrowings  250,502  192,781

Trade and other payables  160,762  122,445

Less cash and short-term deposits (126,396) (325,512)

Net debt  284,868 (10,286)

   

Equity  583,823  547,118

Total capital  583,823  547,118

     

Capital and debt  868,691  536,832

Gearing ratio 33% (2%)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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23	Financial instruments

Financial instruments

Since the bank borrowings are at a floating interest rate that is reset at maximum every six months, the carrying amount of the 

bank borrowings equates to its fair value. With respect to the current borrowings, the carrying amounts approximate their fair 

values as the ef fect of discounting is considered to be insignificant.

Interest rate risk

The following table sets out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the Group’s financial instruments that are exposed to interest 

rate risk (including those classif ied under discontinued operations):

Year ended 31 March 2009
On 

demand
Less than 
3 months

3 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
years

> 5  
years Total

(€000) (€000) (€000) (€000) (€000) (€000)

Floating rate            

Cash assets  126,396  -  -  -  -  126,396

Interest bearing loans and 
borrowings  - (3,518)  - (226,319) (20,665) (250,502)

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  (4,730)  - (4,730)

      

 126,396 (3,518)  - (231,049) (20,665) (128,836)

Year ended 31 March 2008
On 

demand
Less than 
3 months

3 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
years

> 5  
years Total

(€000) (€000) (€000) (€000) (€000) (€000)

Floating rate            

Cash assets  325,512  -  -  -  -  325,512

Interest bearing loans and 
borrowings  - (4) (3) (133,437) (59,337) (192,781)

Derivative financial instruments (544)  -  -  -  - (544)

           

 324,968 (4) (3) (133,437) (59,337)  132,187

Interest on financial instruments classif ied as floating rate is reprised at intervals of less than one year. The other financial 

instruments of the Group that are not included in the above tables are non-interest-bearing and are therefore not subject to 

interest rate risk.

Derivative financial instruments

The Company uses derivative financial instruments such as interest rate derivatives to hedge its r isks associated with interest 

rate fluctuations. The Company does not hold any derivative financial instruments for trading purposes, hedges are only 

economic hedges. For the derivatives that qualify as a hedge under the strict “IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement” hedge accounting rules, hedge accounting is applied. Derivative financial instruments that are economic 

hedges but that do not qualify for hedge accounting under the strict “IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement” hedge accounting rules, however, are accounted for as financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit 

or loss. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives during the year that do not qualify for hedge 

accounting are taken directly to the income statement.
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It is Hansen’s policy and practice to use derivatives exclusively as hedging instruments and not for trading or other speculative 

purposes. The Group does therefore not hold or issue any such instruments for such purposes.

Assets Liabilities

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2009

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2008

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2009

For the year 
ended  

31 March 2008
(€000) (€000) (€000) (€000)

Interest rate derivatives – cash flow hedges  -  - (4,730)  -

Interest rate derivatives – fair value 
through the profit and loss  -  -  - (544)

Total  -  - (4,730) (544)

Non-current  -  - (4,730)  -

Current  -  -  - (544)

The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classif ied as a non-current asset or liability if the remaining maturity of the hedged 

item is more than 12 months and, as a current liability, if the maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months. As from 1 

October 2008 Hansen has completed the hedge documentation for the interest rate derivative which qualif ied under “IAS 39 

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” for cash-flow hedge accounting. As at 1 October 2008 the fair value of 

the hedging items amounted to k€252.

Credit risk

There are no significant concentrations of credit r isk within the Group.

24	Events after the balance sheet date

There are no specific events af ter balance sheet date which have to be disclosed in these financials per 31 March 2009.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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Auditor’s Report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements, 

included in the Annual Financial Repor t of Hansen 

Transmissions International NV and its subsidiaries (‘the 

Group’) for the year ended 31 March 2009 which comprise 

the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2009 and 

the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement 

of recognized gains and losses and consolidated cash 

flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of 

signif icant accounting policies and the related notes 1 to 24. 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared 

under International Financial Repor ting Standards (IFRSs) as 

adopted by the European Union.

This repor t is made solely to the company’s shareholders, as 

a body. Our audit work has been under taken so that we might 

state to the company’s shareholders those matters we are 

required under International Standards on auditing to state to 

them in an auditor’s repor t and for no other purpose. To the 

fullest extent permit ted by law, we do not accept or assume 

responsibility to anyone other than the company and the 

company’s shareholders as a body, for our audit work, for this 

repor t, or for the opinions we have formed.	

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Repor t 

and the consolidated financial statements in accordance 

with the Belgian Company Code and with International 

Financial Repor ting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 

European Union are set out in the Statement of Directors’ 

Responsibilities as included in the Corporate Governance 

Statement. This responsibility includes: designing, 

implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the 

preparation and fair presentation of f inancial statements that 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; 

and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 

circumstances. The Directors are also responsible for the 

preparation of the Remuneration Repor t which they have 

chosen to prepare in accordance with the Companies Act 

1985.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

consolidated financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 

Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we 

comply with ethical requirements and plan and per form 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 

financial statements are free from material misstatement. The 

Company has also instructed us to audit the section of the 

Remuneration Repor t of the company that is being described 

as audited.

We have also reviewed whether the Corporate Governance 

Statement reflects the company’s compliance with the nine 

provisions of the 2006 Combined Code specified for our 

review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, 

and we repor t if it does not. We are not required to consider 

whether the board’s statements on internal control cover all 

r isks and controls, or form an opinion on the ef fectiveness of 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders 
of Hansen Transmissions International NV
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the group’s corporate governance procedures or its r isk and 

control procedures.

Basis of audit opinion

An audit involves per forming procedures to obtain audit 

evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements and the par t of the 

Remuneration Repor t of the company that has been 

described as audited. The procedures selected depend 

on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the 

risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 

statements and the par t of the Remuneration Repor t of 

the company to be audited, whether due to fraud or error. 

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 

internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 

presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 

order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the ef fectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 

of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements and the par t of the Remuneration Repor t 

of the company that has been described as audited.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

suf ficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a 

true and fair view of the financial position of the group as of 

31 March 2009, and of its financial per formance and its cash 

flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 

Financial Repor ting Standards as adopted by the European 

Union. In our opinion, the par t of the Remuneration Repor t 

of the company to be audited, included in the Corporate 

Governance section of the annual repor t, has been properly 

prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Antwerp, 14 May 2009

Ernst & Young Bedrijfsrevisoren BCVBA

Independent auditor

represented by 

Rudi Braes

Par tner



Corporate GovernanceFinancials

124  |  Annual Report 2009

Abbreviated Statutory Accounts

Introduction

In accordance with the Belgian company law, i t has been decided to present an abbreviated version of the statutor y

f inancial statements of Hansen Transmissions International NV. The statutor y f inancial statements of Hansen 

Transmissions International NV are prepared in accordance with Belgian General ly Accepted Accounting Pr inciples. I t 

should be noted that only the consolidated f inancial statements, on the fol lowing pages, present a true and fair v iew of 

the f inancial posit ion and per formance of the Hansen Transmissions International Group.

The Statutor y Auditor has issued an unquali f ied audit opinion and cer t i f ies that the non-consolidated f inancial statements

of Hansen Transmissions International NV for the f inancial year ending 31 March 2009 give a true and fair v iew of the 

f inancial posit ion and results of Hansen Transmissions International NV in accordance with al l legal and regulator y 

disposit ions. 

 

In accordance with the applicable regulat ions, these separate f inancial statements, together with the management repor t 

of the Board of Directors to the general assembly of shareholders, as well as the auditors’ repor t, wil l be f i led at the 

National Bank of Belgium within the statutor y per iods.

These documents are avai lable on our website www.hansentransmissions.com or can be obtained free of charge upon 

simple request, addressed to:

Hansen Transmissions International NV

Bernard Moerman

Company Secretar y

Leonardo da Vinci laan 1

2650 Edegem, Belgium
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Income Statement in euro 2009 2008

Operating income 643,785,636 450,594,238

Turnover 598,593,922 399,780,182

Increase (decrease) in stocks of finished goods,  
work and contracts in progress (+)/(-)

33,112,110 44,032,041

Own construction capitalized 3,379,619 2,919,230

Other operating income 8,699,985 3,862,785

Operating charges -614,648,883 -439,335,747

Raw materials, consumables -370,487,196 -256,728,862

Services and other goods -76,169,901 -50,282,832

Remuneration, social security costs and pensions (+)/(-) -108,529,063 -87,238,822

Depreciation of and amounts written off formation expenses,  
intangible and tangible fixed assets

-59,069,435 -44,585,559

Amounts written down stocks, contracts in progress and  
trade debtors – Appropriations (write-backs)

143,870 -174,792

Provisions for risks and charges - Appropriations (uses and write-backs) (+)/(-) -17,547 84,714

Other operating charges -519,611 -409,594

Operating profit (loss) 29,136,753 11,258,491

Financial income 10,498,998 9,882,379

Financial charges -11,127,407 -13,993,196

Gain (loss) on ordinary activities before taxes (+)/(-) 28,508,344 7,147,674

Extraordinary income 106,471 171,311

Extraordinary charges -268 -19,736,656

Profit (loss) for the period before taxes (+)/(-) 28,614,547 -12,417,670

Transfer from postponed taxes 88,535 227,133

Income taxes -14,309 148,699

Profit (loss) for the period (+)/(-) 28,688,773 -12,041,839

Transfer from untaxed reserves -3,846 -3,847

Profit (loss) for the period available for appropriation(+)/(-) 28,692,619 -12,037,992

Abbreviated Statutory Accounts
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Balance sheet in euro 2009 2008

FIXED ASSETS 414,508,147 279,024,222

Formation expenses 210,597 1,052,937

Intangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets 203,125,937 211,861,787

Financial fixed assets 211,171,613 66,109,498

CURRENT ASSETS 472,694,110 548,654,236

Amounts receivable after more than one year

Stocks and contracts in progress 157,535,374 121,479,460

Amounts receivable within one year 240,157,581 121,822,301

Current investments 61,500,000 303,660,916

Cash at bank and in hand 12,573,634 557,637

Deferred charges and accrued income 927,521 1,133,922

TOTAL ASSETS 887,202,257 827,678,458

EQUITY 514,141,066 486,899,303

Capital 17,966,815 17,966,815

Share premium account 439,807,219 439,740,046

Revaluation surpluses

Reserves 2,156,390 1,672,794

Accumulated profits (losses) 51,193,044 22,987,868

Investment grants 3,017,598 4,531,780

PROVISIONS AND DEFERRED TAXES 6,205,189 6,276,177

Provisions for liabilities and charges 5,576,441 5,558,894

Deferred taxes 628,748 717,282

AMOUNTS PAYABLE 366,856,002 334,502,979

Amounts payable after more than one year 195,000,000 195,000,000

Amounts payable within one year: 163,373,540 134,045,616

Trade debts 123,373,364 110,681,328

Advances received on contracts in progress 1,551,191 2,143,359

Taxes, remuneration and social security 23,448,985 20,757,377

Other amounts payable 15,000,000 463,553

Deferred charges and accrued income 8,482,462 5,457,362

TOTAL LIABILITIES 887,202,257 827,678,458
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Hansen Transmissions International NV has twelve subsidiaries. Hansen Transmissions International NV is the holding company 

of the Group. 

The table below shows the list of Subsidiaries. The issued share capital of each subsidiary is fully paid up and each is included 

in the consolidated accounts of the Group.

% equity interest

Name Country of incorporation As at 31 March 2009

Hansen Drives Ltd India  100

Hansen Transmissions Tianjin Industrial Gearbox Co., Ltd China  99.9

Hansen Wind Energy Drives (China) Co., Ltd China  99.0

Hansen Transmissions Inc United States of America  100

Hansen Transmissions Pty Australia  100

Hansen Transmissions Pty Ltd South Africa  100

Hansen Transmissions Ltd United Kingdom  100

Hansen Transmissões Mecânicas Ltda Brazil  99.9

Lommelpark NV Belgium  100

Hansen Drives Pte. Ltd. Singapore  100

Hansen Drives Limited Hong Kong  100

Sunrise Wind Project Private Limited India  100

Hansen Transmissions Group 
List of Subsidiaries

EBITDA

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization.

Earnings per share

Net profit divided by the weighted average number of ordinary 

shares.

Weighted average number of shares

Number of shares outstanding at the beginning of the period, 

adjusted by the number of shares cancelled, repurchased or 

issued during the period multiplied by a time-weighted factor.

Gearing ratio

Net debt divided by equity plus net debt.

Net debt

Non-current and current borrowings and bank overdraf ts less 

cash and cash equivalents.

Ordinary shares

The ordinary shares with no par value in the capital of the 

Company.

Financial Glossary

Hansen Transmissions Group - List of Subsidiaries & Financial Glossary
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Hansen Transmissions International NV was listed on 

the London Stock Exchange, under the ticker “HSN”, in 

December 2007. The Company raised 440 million euro, 

including the over-allotment option. The IPO proceeds helped 

the Company to achieve its objectives of building upon 

an already strong market position in the wind industry, in 

par ticular in the large-scale multi-MW wind turbine sector, 

and to expand its manufacturing capacity to meet global 

demand from its customer base. The new factories in 

Coimbatore, India, and Tianjin, China, are key elements of 

Hansen’s expansion plan, along with the previous extension 

of the state-of-the-ar t Lommel plant.

Share Capital

As at 31 March 2009, the share capital of Hansen amounts to 

17,966,814.57 euro. It is represented by 670,104,208 shares, 

fully paid-up, without nominal value, each representing an 

equal par t of the capital. 

Stock Market Information

Listing London Stock Exchange – International Main Market

Ticker Codes:

LSE HSN

Bloomberg HSN

Reuters HSNT.L

ISIN BE0947727377

Dividend Policy

To suppor t the Group’s current growth strategy, for the 

foreseeable future the Company does not intend to pay 

any dividends. The payment of dividends in the future will 

depend on, among other things, the Company’s future profits, 

its financial position, the working capital requirements, the 

general economic conditions and other factors that the 

Directors deem significant from time to time. 

Hansen’s Facility Agreement for the 260 million euro Multi-

Currency Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility provides 

that it cannot pay any dividend prior to 1 April 2010. After 

such date, Hansen will be entitled to pay dividends under the 

terms of the Facility Agreement, but only up to 50 per cent 

of its consolidated net recurrent profit and provided cer tain 

conditions are met. Hansen may revise its dividend policy 

from time to time.

Share price (in GBX)

IPO price – 11 December 2007: 175 GBX

FY 2009

High	 (28 July 2008) 325.00

Low	(21 November 2008) 75.00

Close	(31 March 2009) 99.25

Average daily volume 729,273

 

31 March 2008 31 March 2009

Market Cap (in £) 1,313,404,248 665,078,426 

Market Cap (in €) 1,649,964,086 714,520,356 

Hansen on the Stockmarket
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Contact: 

Hans Ooms

Director Investor Relations

Investor.relations@hansentransmissions.com

De Villermontstraat 9

B-2550 Kontich – Belgium

http://www.hansentransmissions.com/en/investorrelations.html

A copy of this annual repor t can be requested at this address.

Hansen Transmissions International NV – Comparative Share Price Performance 

Star t price of this graph is 198 GBX, Price on 1 April 2008 – rebased to 100

 

•	 GWE: ISE Global Wind Energy Index

The ISE Global Wind Energy Index provides a benchmark for investors interested in tracking public companies active in wind 

energy industry. Number of companies in the index: 55. Top 5 (May 2009): EDP Renovaveis, Vestas, Iberdrola Renovables, 

Hansen, Nordex. More info available on: www.iseoptions.com 

•	 RENIXX: Renewable Energy Industrial Index

This global stock index comprises the per formance of the world´s 30 largest companies of the 

renewable energy industry whose weighting in the index is based on the free float market capitalization. Number of compo-

nents: 30 companies. Top 5 (May 2009): Vestas, First Solar, Iberdrola Renovables, Gamesa, Suntech Powers. 

More info available on: www.renixx.com

•	 FTSE 250
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Information Sheet 
as at 31 March 2009

Name Hansen Transmissions International

Form NV

Address Leonardo da Vincilaan 1-3 B-2650 Edegem

Phone +32 3 450 12 11

Fax +32 3 450 12 20

E-mail info@hansentransmissions.com

Website www.hansentransmissions.com

Enterprise no. 0403646296

Vat BE 403 646 296

Establishment date 1923

Auditor Ernst & Young Bedrijfsrevisoren BCVBA

Financial year closing 31 March

Capital €17,966,814.57

Number of shares 670,104,208

Annual shareholders’ meeting 25 June 2009

Listing London Stock Exchange: LSE: Ticker “HSN”

Language of this annual report

This is an English translation of the Annual Financial Repor t of Hansen Transmissions International NV, that was originally 

prepared and audited in Dutch. The original Dutch Annual Financial Repor t is available on the Company’s website  

www.hansentransmissions.com.

Availability of the annual report

A copy of this Annual Repor t can be requested at:

Hansen Corporate Headquar ters 

Investor Relations

De Villermontstraat 9

B-2550 Kontich – Belgium

http://www.hansentransmissions.com/nl/investorrelations.html

investor.relations@hansentransmissions.com 
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28 April 2008 Announcement: Hansen Transmissions 

is granted international environment certificate

Lommel, Belgium | 28 April 2008. – Hansen Transmissions 

International N.V., an established global gearbox designer, 

manufacturer and supplier and a leader in the wind turbine 

gearbox market, has been granted the ISO 14001 cer ti f icate 

for the environment management system in its plant in 

Lommel.

 7 May 2008 Announcement: Hansen Transmissions 

to announce Full Year Results on 19 May 2008

Edegem, Belgium | 7 May 2008. – Hansen Transmissions 

International N.V. (t icker ‘HSN’), an established global 

gearbox designer, manufacturer and supplier and a leader 

in the wind turbine gearbox market, wil l be releasing its Full 

Year Results for the year ended March 31, 2008 on Monday, 

19 May 2008.

19 May 2008 Announcement: Hansen Transmissions 

International Reports Q4 and Full Year 2008 results

Edegem, Belgium / London, UK | 19 May 2008. – Hansen 

Transmissions International NV (“Hansen”, “ the Group” 

or “the Company”) today announces its results for the 3 

months period ended 31 March 2008 and for the 12 months 

period ended 31 March 2008. 

29 May 2008 Announcement: Hansen announces 

appointment of Mrs Jann Brown as non-executive 

Director

Edegem/Antwerp, Belgium | 29 May 2008. – Hansen 

Transmissions International N.V. (LSE ticker ‘HSN’), an 

established global gearbox designer, manufacturer and 

supplier with a leading position in the wind turbine gearbox 

market, today announced that the appointment of Mrs Jann 

Brown as non-executive Director of the Company has been 

proposed to its annual shareholders’ meeting to be held on 

26 June 2008. 

29 May 2008 Announcement: Hansen Transmissions 

International N.V. announces the publication of the 

Annual Financial Report 2008, for the Financial Year 

ending 31 March 2008, and the publication of Notice 

of the annual shareholders’ meeting FY 2008 – to be 

held 26 June 2008 in Edegem, Belgium

The documents are available on the Hansen website through 

ht tp://www.hansentransmissions.com/en/repor ts_publica-

tions.html 

12 June 2008 Announcement: Minister-President Kris 

Peeters opens expanded Hansen factory in Lommel

Lommel | 12 June 2008. – Today, Hansen Transmissions 

expanded factory in Lommel, Belgium was of f icially opened 

by Flemish Minister-President Kris Peeters. The Minister-

President also unveiled the recently obtained ISO 14001 

environmental cer ti f icate and he assisted in the f inal 

assembly of Hansen’s 20,000th wind turbine gearbox. The 

investment in the Lommel factory expansion was around 180 

mill ion euro where Hansen employs over 800 people.

27 June 2008 Announcement: Hansen Transmissions 

announces that the resolutions presented to the 

annual shareholders’ meeting have been adopted

Edegem/Antwerp, Belgium | 27 June 2008. – Hansen 

Transmissions International N.V. (LSE ticker ‘HSN’), 

announces that all the resolutions presented to the annual 

shareholders’ meeting held on 26 June 2008 in Belgium 

have been adopted.

30 June 2008 Announcement: Hansen Transmissions 

announces appointment of Mrs Jann Brown as 

non-executive Director of the Company

Edegem/Antwerp, Belgium | 30 June 2008. – At the annual 

shareholders’ meeting held on 26 June 2008, the 

resolution to appoint Jann Brown (Janice Margaret Brown) 

as non-executive independent Director was passed. Jann 

Brown is f inance Director in Cairn Energy PLC. Jann Brown 

has been Director of Cairn India Limited. 

Chronological Overview 
of Press Releases
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22 July 2008 Announcement: Hansen Transmissions 

to announce Q1 Financial Year 2009 Interim 

Management Statement on 28 July

Edegem, Belgium | 22 July 2008. – Hansen Transmissions 

International N.V. (t icker ‘HSN’), an established global 

gearbox designer, manufacturer and supplier and a leader 

in the wind turbine gearbox market, wil l release i ts Q1 FY 

2009 Inter im Management Statement on 28 July.

28 July 2008 Announcement: Interim Management 

Statement Q1 FY 2009

Edegem/Antwerp, Belgium / London, UK | 28 July 2008. – Hansen 

Transmissions International NV (“Hansen”, “ the Group” or 

“the Company”) today announces its Inter im Management 

Statement for the 3 months ended 30 June 2008.

19 August 2008 Announcement: Hansen announces 

appointment of Clif f Dawson as Chief Operating 

Officer

Edegem/Antwerp, Belgium | 19 August 2008. – Hansen 

Transmissions International N.V. (LSE t icker ‘HSN’), an 

established global gearbox designer, manufacturer and 

supplier with a leading posit ion in the wind turbine gearbox 

market, today announced the appointment of Mr. Cli f f 

Dawson as Chief Operating Of f icer. 

9 September 2008 Announcement: Groundbreaking 

ceremony China

Antwerp, Belgium / Tianjin,China | 9 September 2008. – Hansen 

Transmissions International NV, (LSE t icker ‘HSN’), an 

established global gearbox designer, manufacturer and 

supplier, and a leader in the wind turbine gearbox market, 

yesterday held a ceremony to celebrate the breaking of 

ground for i ts wind turbine plant in the Beichen Hi-tech 

Industr ia l Park, T ianj in, Hansen Wind Energy Dr ives (China) 

Co., Ltd. 

30 September 2008 Announcement: Hansen Delivers 

First Gearbox from Indian Facil ity

Coimbatore, India / Edegem, Belgium | 30 September 2008. – 

Hansen Transmissions International N.V. (LSE t icker ‘HSN’), 

an established global gearbox designer, manufacturer 

and supplier with a leading posit ion in the wind turbine 

gearbox market, today announces that i t has delivered the 

f i rst gearbox from its new faci l i t y at Karumathampat ty, near 

Coimbatore.

27 October 2008 Announcement: Hansen 

Transmissions International reports f irst half 

results for the Financial Year 2009 

Edegem, Belgium / London, UK | 27 October 2008. – Hansen 

Transmissions International NV (“Hansen”, “ the Group” 

or “ the Company”), (LSE t icker ‘HSN’), an established 

global gearbox designer, manufacturer and supplier with 

a leading posit ion in the wind turbine gearbox market, 

today announces i ts results for the six months ended 30 

September 2008.

31 October 2008 Announcement: 

Transparency statement by AE-Rotor Holding BV 

(Suzlon Energy Ltd.)

Hansen Transmissions International NV repor ts that on 

29 October 2008 it received the transparency statement, 

which shows that AE-Rotor Holding B.V. (directly control led 

by Suzlon Energy Ltd.) holds 477,642,500 shares (or 

71.28%) of the total 670,104,208 Hansen Transmissions 

International N.V. shares outstanding and that four investors 

acting in concer t with AE-Rotor Holding B.V. hold 8,884,375 

shares (or 1.33%) of the total 670,104,208 Hansen 

Transmissions International N.V. shares outstanding.

5 November 2008 Announcement: Transparency 

statement by Capita IRG Trustees (Nominees) Ltd

Hansen Transmissions International NV repor ts that on 

3 November 2008 i t received a transparency statement, 

which shows that on 1 September 2008, Capita IRG 

Trustees (Nominees) Ltd held 181,793,468 (or 27.13%) 

voting shares of the total 670,104,208 Hansen Transmission 

International NV shares outstanding.

8 December 2008 Announcement: Transparency 

statement by Wellington Management Company, 

LLP

Hansen Transmissions International NV repor ts that on 

4 December 2008 i t received a transparency statement, 

which shows that on 1 September 2008 Well ington 

Management Company, LLP held 47,076,338 (or 7.03%) 

voting r ights of the total 670,104,208 voting r ights in 

Hansen Transmissions International NV.

Chronological Overview of Press Releases
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2 January 2009 Announcement: Suzlon sells 10% 

stake in Hansen to funds managed by Ecofin

Edegem, Belgium / London, UK | 2 January 2009. – 

Hansen Transmissions International NV, (LSE ticker ‘HSN’), 

an established global gearbox designer, manufacturer and 

supplier with a leading position in the wind turbine gearbox 

market, today announces that it has received notif ication that 

its controlling shareholder, AE-Rotor Holding B.V., a wholly 

owned indirect subsidiary of Suzlon Energy Limited, the 

world’s fif th leading and India’s largest wind turbine manufac-

turer agreed on 31 December 2008 to sell 67,010,421 shares 

(10% equity) in Hansen, to funds managed by Ecofin Limited, 

a London based specialized investment firm.

27 January 2009 Announcement: Transparency 

statement by Capita IRG Trustees (Nominees) Ltd

Hansen Transmissions International NV repor ts that on 26 

January 2009 it received a transparency statement, which 

shows that on 21 January 2009, Capita IRG Trustees 

(Nominees) Ltd held 248,801,014 (or 37.13%) voting shares 

of the total 670,104,208 Hansen Transmission International 

NV shares outstanding.

28 January 2009 Announcement: Interim 

Management Statement for the third quarter of 

Financial Year 2009

Edegem/Antwerp, Belgium / London, UK | 28 January 2009. 

– Hansen Transmissions International NV (“Hansen”, “ the 

Group” or “the Company”) today announces its Inter im 

Management Statement for the 3 months ended 31 

December 2008.

2 February 2009 Announcement: Joint Transparency 

statement by AE Rotor Holding BV and Ecofin 

Limited.

London / Kontich | 2 February 2009. – Hansen Transmissions 

International NV repor ts that on 28 January 2009 it received 

a transparency statement, which shows that ef fective as 

from 26 January 2009, AE-Rotor Holding B.V. (directly 

controlled by Suzlon Energy Ltd.) transferred in aggregate 

67,010,421 depositary interests in Hansen Transmissions 

International NV to Ecofin Limited (being the discretionary 

investment manager of Ecofin Special Situations Util i t ies 

Master Fund Limited, Ecofin Global Util i t ies Master Fund 

Limited and Ecofin Water & Power Oppor tunities plc, the 

funds that acquired the interests).

2 February 2009 Announcement: Announcement of 

transparency statement by AE-Rotor Holding BV

London / Kontich | 2 February 2009. – Hansen Transmissions 

International NV repor ts that on 30 January 2009 i t 

received a transparency statement, which shows that on 

26 January 2009 AE-Rotor B.V. (directly control led by 

Suzlon Energy Ltd.) held 410,632,079 (or 61.28%) of the 

total 670,104,208 voting r ights in Hansen Transmissions 

International NV. and that 4 persons acting in concer t 

with AE-Rotor Holding, held 8,884,375 (or 1.33%) of the 

total 670,104,208 voting r ights in Hansen Transmissions 

International NV.

9 February 2009 Announcement: Agreement with 

Unions in Belgium on Labour Flexibil ity

Hansen announces today that i t has reached an agreement 

with the social par tners concerned in Belgium in respect 

of f lex ibi l i t y on direct labour planning, such as possibi l i t ies 

with regards to temporar y unemployment.

16 March 2009 Announcement: Transparency 

statement by Capita IRG Trustees (Nominees) Ltd

Hansen Transmissions International NV repor ts that on 12 

March 2009 i t received a transparency statement showing 

that, on 6 March 2009, Capita IRG Trustees (Nominees) Ltd 

held 315,810,435 (or 47.13%) voting shares of the total of 

670,104,208 Hansen Transmission International NV shares 

outstanding.

16 March 2009 Announcement: Hansen Delivers 

First Gearbox from Chinese Facil ity

Tianjin, China / Edegem, Belgium | 16 March 2009. – Hansen 

Transmissions International N.V. (LSE t icker ‘HSN’), an 

established global gearbox designer, manufacturer 

and supplier with a leading posit ion in the wind turbine 

gearbox market, today announces that i t has delivered the 

f i rst gearbox from its new faci l i t y at the Beichen Hi-tech 

Industr ia l park in Tianj in.
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Addresses

AUSTRALIA, MELBOURNE

Hansen Transmissions Pty. Ltd. Unit 2

88 Henderson Road, Rowville

Victoria 3178

Phone: +61 3 9765 4300 | Fax: +61 3 9765 4390

E-mail: sales@hansentransmissions.com.au 

BELGIUM, ANTWERP

Hansen Transmissions International NV

Leonardo da Vincilaan 1-3, B-2650 Edegem

Phone: +32 3 450 12 11 | Fax: +32 3 450 12 20

E-mail: info@hansentransmissions.com (general)

E-mail: sales@hansentransmissions.com (sales)

BELGIUM, LOMMEL

Hansen Transmissions International NV

Gerard Mercatorstraat 40, B-3920 Lommel

Phone: +32 11 34 97 11 | Fax: +32 11 34 97 08

E-mail: infolommel@hansentransmissions.com

BRAZIL, SAO PAULO

Hansen Transmissions

Rua Alfares Magalhães 92, 9 andar

Santana, CEP 02034-006 São Paulo SP

Phone: +55 11 6950 9982 | Fax: +55 11 6950 4306

E-mail: hpeeters@hansentransmissions.com

CHINA, TIANJIN	

Hansen Transmissions (Tianjin) Industrial Gearbox Co., Ltd

No. 101, Hongfa Industrial Park,

No.67, 4th Avenue, TEDA

300457 Tianjin

Phone: +86 22 5982 0280/0290 | Fax: +86 22 2532 9857

E-mail: info.cn@hansentransmissions.com

CHINA, TIANJIN

Hansen Wind Energy Drives (China) Co. Ltd

No. 78 Gaoxin Avenue, Beichen Hi-Tech Industrial Park

300402 Tianjin

Phone: +86 22 8698 6228 | Fax: +86 22 8698 6239

INDIA, COIMBATORE 

Hansen Drives Limited

Plot No. 3, Suzlon Infrastructure Limited – SEZ

Annur Road, Village Karumathampatty and Kit tampalayam

District Coimbatore – 641659

Tamil Nadu, India

Phone: +91 425 430 6000 | Fax: +91 425 430 6021

SOUTH-AFRICA, ELANDSFONTEIN 

Hansen Transmissions Pty. Ltd.

PO Box 8449, Elandsfontein 1406

Phone: +27 11 397 24 95 | Fax: +27 11 397 25 85

E-mail: general@hansen.co.za

E-mail: sales@hansen.co.za

UNITED KINGDOM, HUDDERSFIELD

Hansen Transmissions

Nile Street, Huddersfield HD1 3LW

West Yorkshire

Phone: +44 1484 431414 | Fax: +44 1484 431426

E-mail: info.uk@hansentransmissions.com

USA, VERONA

Hansen Transmissions Inc.

33 Lakeview Cour t, PO Box 320

Verona, Virginia 24482

Phone: +1 540 213 2442 | Fax: +1 540 213 2222

E-mail: info@HansenNA.com

BELGIUM, KONTICH

Hansen Transmissions Corporate Headquar ters

De Villermontstraat 9, B-2550 Kontich

Phone: +32 3 450 58 11 | Fax: +32 3 450 58 10

E-mail: infokontich@hansentransmissions.com (general)

E-mail: investor.relations@hansentransmissions.com (IR)
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Financial Calendar 2009 – 2010

DATE TOPIC

The Financial Year of Hansen Transmissions International NV ends on 31st of March.

FY 2009 Results

26 May 2009 Annual Financial Repor t Financial Year 2009 available

25 June 2009 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting Financial Year 2009

FY 2010

Q1 2010 Update

27 July 2009 (*) Interim Management Statement Q1 2010

1H 2010 Results

26 October 2009 (*) Press Release First Half 2010 Results

Q3 2010 Update

28 January 2010 (*) Interim Management Statement Q3 2010

FY 2010 Results

17 May 2010 (*) Press Release Annual Results Financial Year 2010

26 May 2010 (*) Annual Financial Repor t Financial Year 2010 available

24 June 2010 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting Financial Year 2010

(*) publication dates are subject to f inal confirmation
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www.hansentransmissions.comtel. +32 (0)3 450 12 11
fax +32 (0)3 450 12 20
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Hansen Transmissions International NV
  

Leonardo da Vincilaan 1
B-2650 Edegem (Antwerp) 
Belgium

www.hansentransmissions.com


